



# VOLUME I ISSUE IV

# ISSN 2619-9653

http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

VOLUME I ISSUE IV ISSN 2619-9653 December 2018 http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

# UNIVERSAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

# UJMA

#### Honorary Editor-in-Chief

Murat Tosun Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE tosun@sakarya.edu.tr

#### Editors

#### Editor in Chief

Emrah Evren Kara Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE eevrenkara@duzce.edu.tr

#### **Co-Editor** in Chief

Murat Kirişçi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, İstanbul University, İstanbul-TÜRKİYE murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr

#### **Managing Editor**

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr Editor in Chief Mahmut Akyiğit Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE makyigit@sakarya.edu.tr

Co-Editor in Chief Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

#### Editorial Board of Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Hari Mohan Srivastava University of Victoria, CANADA

Poom Kumam King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi, THAILAND

Necip Şimşek İstanbul Commerce University, TÜRKİYE

Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Soley Ersoy Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Selçuk Topal Bitlis Eren University, TÜRKİYE Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA

Dumitru Baleanu Çankaya University, TÜRKİYE

İshak Altun Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE

Changjin Xu Guizhou University of Finance and Economics, CHINA

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA Feng Qi Henan Polytechnic University, CHINA

> Silvestru Sever Dragomir Victoria University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

> Ljubisa D. R. Kocinac University of Nis, SERBIA

Waqas Nazeer University of Education, PAKISTAN

#### Area Editors

Mahpeyker Öztürk Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE Önder Gökmen Yıldız Bilecik Şeyh Edebali University, TÜRKİYE

Editorial Secretariat Pinar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

### Contents

1	Numerical Solution of Multi-Order Fractional Differential Equations Using Generalized Sine-Cosine Wavelets	l
	Somayeh Nemati, Anas Al-Haboobi	215 - 225
2	Sasakian Statistical Manifolds with Semi-Symmetric Metric Connection Ahmet Kazan, Sema Kazan	226-232
3	Different Computational Approach for Sumudu Integral Transform by Using Differential Transform Method <i>Murat Gübeş</i>	233-238
4	Holditch-Type Theorem for Non-Linear Points in Generalized Complex Plane $\mathbb{C}_p$ Tülay Erişir, Mehmet Ali Güngör	239-243
5	Homotopy Analysis Aboodh Transform Method for Nonlinear System of Partial Differential Equations Mountassir Hamdi Cherif, Djelloul Ziane	244-253
6	Compact Totally Real Minimal Submanifolds in a Bochner-Kaehler Manifold Zühal Küçükarslan Yüzbaşı, Mehmet Bektaş, Münevver Yıldırım Yılmaz	254-257
7	Finite Element Method for the Solution of a Time-Dependent Heat-Like Lane-Emden Equation	
	Mehmet Fatih Uçar	258-261
8	An Arbitrary Order Differential Equations on Times Scale S. Harikrishnana, Rabha İbrahim, K. Kanagarajan	262-266
9	Some New Cauchy Sequence Spaces Harun Polat	267-272
10	Multiple Soliton Solutions of Some Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations İbrahim Enam İnan	273-279

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.427381



# Numerical Solution of Multi-Order Fractional Differential Equations Using Generalized Sine-Cosine Wavelets

Somayeh Nemati<sup>a\*</sup> and Anas Al-Haboobi<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, University of Mazandaran, Babolsar, Iran <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

#### Article Info

#### Abstract

**Keywords:** Block-pulse functions, Generalized sine-cosine wavelet, Multiorder fractional differential equations, Operational matrix of fractional integration

**2010 AMS:** 26A33, 65N35, 65T60, **Received:** 26 May 2018 **Accepted:** 26 September 2018 **Available online:** 20 December 2018 In this work, we propose a numerical method based on the generalized sine-cosine wavelets for solving multi-order fractional differential equations. After introducing generalized sine-cosine wavelets, the operational matrix of Riemann-Liouville fractional integration is constructed using the properties of the block-pulse functions. The fractional derivative in the problem is considered in the Caputo sense. This method reduces the considered problem to the problem of solving a system of nonlinear algebraic equations. Finally, some examples are included to demonstrate the applicability of the new approach.

#### 1. Introduction

The notion of the fractional differential equations (FDEs) was first developed as a pure mathematical theory in the middle of the 19th century [1]. A history of the development of the fractional differential operators can be found in [2, 3]. It has been revealed that many mathematical modelings contain FDEs. To mention a few, fractional derivatives are used in viscoelastic systems [4], economics [5], continuum and statistical mechanics [6], solid mechanics [7], electrochemistry [8], biology [9] and acoustics [10]. An important issue to shed light on is the fact that most of the FDEs do not have exact analytic solutions. Consequently, emphasis of efforts is on the importance of seeking numerical solutions for these equations. As a result, several numerical methods have been given to solve problems including FDEs, such as Adomian decomposition method [11], variational iteration method [12], fractional differential transform method [13], operational matrix method [14], homotopy analysis method [15], power series method [16] and modified homotopy perturbation method [17]. Also, there can be some classical solution techniques to be fond, e.g. Laplace transform method [18].

One way to solve equations numerically is to use wavelets. The basic idea of wavelets (both: translation and dilation) goes back to the early 1960's [19]. There are developments concerning the multiresolution analysis (MRA) algorithm based on wavelets [20] and the construction of compactly supported orthonormal wavelet bases [21]. Wavelets constitute unconditional (Riesz) bases for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , the space of all square integrable functions on the real line. In other words, a function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  can be decomposed and stably reconstructed in terms of wavelets [22]. To illustrate, some wavelets which have been constructed and used for solving FDEs include B-spline wavelets [23], Haar wavelets [24], Chebyshev wavelets [25], Legendre wavelets [26] and Bernoulli wavelets [27].

Sine-cosine wavelet (SCW) has been used and showed efficient to solve various problems. To indicate this, we can refer to some works. Razzaghi and Yousefi in [28] have employed SCW to solve variational problems. Tavassoli Kajani et al. [29] have proposed a method based on SCW for solving integro-differential equations. They also applied this method to solve Fredholm integral equations in [30]. A numerical evaluation of Hankel transform for seismology has been given in [31] using SCWs approach. The present work introduces the generalized sine-cosine wavelets (GSCWs) operational matrix of fractional integration which can be used to solve fractional problems.

The organization of this paper is as follows: Section 2 gives a brief preliminaries of fractional calculus followed by orthonormal basis of GSCWs and their properties in Section 3. Section 4 is devoted to block-pulse functions and their basic properties. Section 5 introduces the fractional order of operational matrix of integration for GSCWs. A numerical method based on the GSCWs and block-pulse functions in order to solve multi-order FDEs is given in Section 6. Some examples are included in Section 7 to show the applicability and efficiency of this method followed by concluding remarks in Section 8.

Email address and ORCID numbers: s.nemati@umz.ac.ir, 0000-0003-1724-6296 (S. Nemati), anashaboobi@gmail.com, 0000-0002-8317-7201 (A. Al-Haboobi)

#### 2. Preliminaries of fractional calculus

In this section, we briefly give some preliminaries and notations of fractional calculus. Two most important definitions for fractional integral and derivative operators are Riemann-Liouville integral and Caputo derivative. The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral operator  $I^{\alpha}$  of order  $\alpha \ge 0$  is defined as follows [32]:

$$I^{\alpha}u(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\alpha-1} u(s) ds, & \alpha > 0, \\ u(t), & \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$

where  $\Gamma(\alpha)$  is the gamma function defined by

$$\Gamma(\alpha) = \int_0^\infty t^{\alpha-1} e^{-t} dt.$$

Also, the Caputo fractional derivative operator  $D^{\alpha}$  of order  $\alpha$  is defined as follows [32]:

$$D^{\alpha}u(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} u^{(n)}(s) ds, \quad n-1 < \alpha \le n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

where  $n = \lceil \alpha \rceil$  is the smallest integer greater than or equal to  $\alpha$ .

The following properties are satisfied for the Riemann-Liouville integral operator and Caputo derivative:

$$I^{\alpha}t^{\nu} = \frac{\Gamma(\nu+1)}{\Gamma(\nu+1+\alpha)}t^{\nu+\alpha}, \qquad \nu > -1,$$

$$I^{\alpha}(D^{\alpha}u(t)) = u(t) - \sum_{i=0}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil - 1} u^{(i)}(0) \frac{t^i}{i!},$$
(2.1)

$$I^{\alpha-\beta}(D^{\alpha}u(t)) = D^{\beta}u(t) - \sum_{i=\lceil\beta\rceil}^{\lceil\alpha\rceil-1} u^{(i)}(0) \frac{t^{i-\beta}}{\Gamma(i-\beta+1)}, \quad 0 \le \beta < \alpha.$$

$$(2.2)$$

#### 3. Generalized sine-cosine wavelets

#### 3.1. Definition and function approximation

Wavelets constitute a family of functions constructed from dilation and translation of a single function  $\varphi(t)$  which is called the mother wavelet. When the dilation parameter and the translation parameter vary continuously, we have the following family of continuous wavelets as [19, 33, 34]

$$\Psi_{a,b}(t) = |a|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \varphi\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right), \quad a,b \in \mathbb{R}, \quad a \neq 0,$$

where *a* and *b* are the dilation and translation parameters, respectively. If the parameters *a* and *b* are restricted to take values  $a = a_0^{-k}$  and  $b = nb_0a_0^{-k}$ , where  $a_0 > 1$ ,  $b_0 > 0$  and *n*, and *k* are positive integers, a family of discrete wavelets which forms a wavelet basis for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is obtained as

$$\psi_{k,n}(t) = |a_0|^{\frac{k}{2}} \varphi\left(a_0^k t - nb_0\right).$$

Especially, if  $a_0 = 2$  and  $b_0 = 1$ , then the set  $\{\psi_{k,n}(t)\}$  forms an orthonormal basis. SCWs are usually defined on the interval [0, 1). Here, we replace the interval [0, 1) by [0, T) where T > 0 and define GSCWs as

$$\psi_{n,m}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{2^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{\sqrt{T}} f_m(2^k t - nT), & \frac{n}{2^k}T \le t < \frac{n+1}{2^k}T, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

with

$$f_m(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, & m = 0, \\ \cos(\frac{2m\pi t}{T}), & m = 1, 2, \dots, L, \\ \sin(\frac{2(m-L)\pi t}{T}), & m = L+1, L+2, \dots, 2L, \end{cases}$$

where *L* is any positive integer,  $n = 0, 1, 2, ..., 2^k - 1$  and k = 0, 1, 2, ... The set of GSCWs forms an orthonormal basis for the space  $L^2[0,T)$ . Therefore, a function u(t) in this space may be expanded in a series of GSCWs as

$$u(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{2^{k}-1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t),$$
(3.1)

where

$$c_{n,m} = \langle u(t), \psi_{n,m}(t) \rangle = \int_0^T u(t) \psi_{n,m}(t) dt,$$

in which  $\langle ., . \rangle$  denotes the inner product. If the infinite series in (3.1) is truncated, then an approximation of the function u(t) is obtained as

$$u(t) \simeq \sum_{m=0}^{2L} \sum_{n=0}^{2^{k}-1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t) = C^{T} \Psi_{\omega}(t),$$
(3.2)

where  $\omega = 2^k (2L+1)$ , and *C* and  $\Psi(t)$  are  $2^k (2L+1) \times 1$  matrices given by

$$C = [c_{0,0}, c_{0,1}, \dots, c_{0,2L}, c_{1,0}, c_{1,1}, \dots, c_{1,2L}, \dots, c_{2^{k}-1,0}, c_{2^{k}-1,1}, \dots, c_{2^{k}-1,2L}]^{T},$$

$$\Psi_{\omega}(t) = [\psi_{0,0}(t), \psi_{0,1}(t), \dots, \psi_{0,2L}(t), \psi_{1,0}(t), \psi_{1,1}(t), \dots, \psi_{1,2L}(t), \dots, \psi_{2^{k}-1,2L}(t)]^{T}.$$

#### 3.2. Convergence analysis

In this section, we get the convergence of the GSCW approximation of a function for all level of resolution k.

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $L \to \infty$ , then the series solution (3.2) converges to u(t).

**Proof.** Let  $S_{k,M}(t)$  be a sequence of partial sums of  $c_{n,m}\psi_{n,m}(t)$  as

$$S_{k,M}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^{k}-1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t)$$

where M = 2L. We prove that  $S_{k,M}$  is a Cauchy sequence in Hilbert space  $L^2[0,T)$  and then we show that  $S_{k,M}$  converges to u(t), when  $M \to \infty$ . In order to reach the first aim, let  $\hat{M} = 2\hat{L}$  with  $L > \hat{L}$ , then

$$\begin{split} \|S_{k,M} - S_{k,\hat{M}}\|^2 &= \|\sum_{m=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k - 1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t)\|^2 \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{m=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k - 1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t), \sum_{m=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k - 1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t) \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{m=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k - 1} \sum_{l=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{r=0}^{2^k - 1} c_{n,m} c_{r,l} \left\langle \psi_{n,m}(t), \psi_{r,l}(t) \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{m=\hat{M}+1}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k - 1} |c_{n,m}|^2. \end{split}$$

From Bessel's inequality, we have  $\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k-1} |c_{n,m}|^2$  is convergent. So

$$||S_{k,M} - S_{k,\hat{M}}||^2 \to 0 \text{ as } L \to \infty.$$

This suggests that  $S_{k,M}$  is a Cauchy sequence and hence it converges to a function in  $L^2[0,T)$ , say, f(t). We need to show that f(t) = u(t),

$$\langle f(t) - u(t), \psi_{n,m}(t) \rangle = \langle f(t), \psi_{n,m}(t) \rangle - \langle u(t), \psi_{n,m}(t) \rangle$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{L \to \infty} \langle S_{k,M}(t), \psi_{n,m}(t) \rangle - c_{n,m}$$
  
= 
$$c_{n,m} - c_{n,m}$$
  
= 
$$0.$$

Therefore  $\sum_{m=0}^{2L} \sum_{n=0}^{2^k-1} c_{n,m} \psi_{n,m}(t)$  converges to u(t) as  $L \to \infty$ .

**Remark 3.2.** An error bound for the SCWs approximation of a function  $u(t) \in L^2[0,1]$  can be found in [35].

#### 4. Block-pulse functions

Consider the interval [0, T) and divide it into  $\omega$  subintervals [(i-1)h, ih),  $i = 1, 2, ..., \omega$  with  $h = \frac{T}{\omega}$ . Then the block-pulse functions are defined by [36]

$$b_i(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & (i-1)h \le t < ih, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

It is clear from the block-pulse functions' definition that the disjointness property for these functions is satisfied as follows:

$$b_i(t)b_j(t) = \begin{cases} b_i(t), & i = j, \\ 0, & i \neq j, \end{cases} \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, \omega.$$

Furthermore, we have the orthogonality property as

$$\int_0^T b_i(t)b_j(t)dt = \begin{cases} h, & i=j, \\ 0, & i\neq j, \end{cases} \quad i,j=1,2,\ldots,\omega.$$

The block-pulse functions consist a complete orthogonal basis for the space  $L^2[0,T)$ . Therefore, every real bounded function u(t) which is square integrable on the interval [0,T) can be approximated using the block-pulse functions as

$$u(t) \simeq \sum_{i=1}^{\omega} u_i b_i(t) = U^T B_{\omega}(t), \tag{4.1}$$

where

$$B_{\omega}(t) = [b_1(t), b_2(t), \dots, b_{\omega}(t)]^T$$
$$U = [u_1, u_2, \dots, u_{\omega}]^T,$$

and

$$u_{i} = \frac{1}{h} \int_{0}^{t} u(t)b_{i}(t)dt = \frac{1}{h} \int_{(i-1)h}^{ih} u(t)dt.$$

For the block-pulse vector  $B_{\omega}(t)$  and the vector U, we have

$$B_{\omega}(t)B_{\omega}^{\prime}(t)U \simeq diag(U)B_{\omega}(t),$$

where diag(U) is the following diagonal matrix

T

$$diag(U) = \left[ \begin{array}{ccccc} u_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & u_2 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & u_{\omega} \end{array} \right].$$

In [36], the authors have introduced the operational matrix of fractional integration of the block-pulse functions. They proved that

$$I^{\alpha}B_{\omega}(t) \simeq F^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega}B_{\omega}(t), \tag{4.3}$$

where

$$F_{\omega \times \omega}^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{T}{\omega}\right)^{\alpha} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha+2)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \xi_2 & \xi_3 & \xi_4 & \dots & \xi_m \\ 0 & 1 & \xi_2 & \xi_3 & \dots & \xi_{m-1} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \xi_2 & \dots & \xi_{m-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 & \xi_2 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

with 
$$\xi_k = k^{\alpha+1} - 2(k-1)^{\alpha+1} + (k-2)^{\alpha+1}$$
.

(4.2)

#### 5. Operational matrix of fractional integration

In this section, we introduce the fractional order operational matrix of integration for the GSCWs. To this aim, first we look for a matrix  $Q_{\omega \times \omega}$  such that

$$\Psi_{\omega}(t) \simeq Q_{\omega \times \omega} B_{\omega}(t), \tag{5.1}$$

where  $\omega = 2^k (2L+1)$ . Using (4.1), we have

$$\psi_{n,m}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{\omega} c_i^{n,m} b_i(t),$$

with

$$c_i^{n,m} = rac{\omega}{T} \int_{rac{(i-1)}{\omega}T}^{rac{i}{\omega}T} \psi_{n,m}(t) dt.$$

Using the definition of the GSCWs,  $c_i^{n,m}$  could be nonzero if

$$\frac{n}{2^k}T \le \frac{i-1}{\omega}T < \frac{i}{\omega}T \le \frac{n+1}{2^k}T.$$

This implies to have

$$n(2L+1) + 1 \le i \le (n+1)(2L+1).$$

Taking (4.1) and (5.2) into consideration, we get

$$\psi_{n,m}(t) = \sum_{i=n(2L+1)+1}^{(n+1)(2L+1)} c_i^{n,m} b_i(t).$$

When m = 0, we have

$$c_i^{n,0} = \frac{\omega}{T} \int_{\frac{(i-1)}{\omega}T}^{\frac{i}{\omega}T} \frac{2^{\frac{k}{2}}}{\sqrt{T}} dt = \frac{2^{\frac{k}{2}}}{\sqrt{T}}$$

For  $m = 1, 2, \ldots, L$ , we obtain

$$c_i^{n,m} = \frac{\omega}{T} \int_{\frac{(i-1)}{\omega}T}^{\frac{i}{\omega}T} \frac{2^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{\sqrt{T}} \cos\left(\frac{2m\pi}{T}(2^k t - nT)\right) dt$$
$$= \frac{2^{\frac{k-1}{2}}(2L+1)}{m\pi\sqrt{T}} \left[\sin\left(2\pi m\left(2^k\frac{i}{\omega} - n\right)\right) - \sin\left(2\pi m\left(2^k\frac{i-1}{\omega} - n\right)\right)\right],$$

and for m = L + 1, L + 2, ..., 2L, we get

$$\begin{split} c_i^{n,m} = & \frac{\omega}{T} \int_{\frac{(i-1)}{\omega}T}^{\frac{i}{\omega}T} \frac{2^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{\sqrt{T}} \sin\left(\frac{2(m-L)\pi}{T}(2^kt - nT)\right) dt \\ = & \frac{2^{\frac{k-1}{2}}(2L+1)}{(m-L)\pi\sqrt{T}} \left[\cos\left(2\pi(m-L)\left(2^k\frac{i-1}{\omega} - n\right)\right) \right. \\ & \left. - \cos\left(2\pi(m-L)\left(2^k\frac{i}{\omega} - n\right)\right) \right] \end{split}$$

Hence, the matrix  $Q_{\omega \times \omega}$  in (5.1) is obtained as

$$Q_{\omega \times \omega} = \begin{bmatrix} Q_0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & Q_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & Q_2 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & Q_{2^{k-1}} \end{bmatrix},$$

where O is the zero matrix of dimension  $(2L+1) \times (2L+1)$  and  $Q_n$ ,  $n = 0, 1, 2, ..., 2^k - 1$ , are  $(2L+1) \times (2L+1)$  matrices as

$$Q_n = [a_{m,i}^n], \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots, 2L, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, 2L+1,$$

with  $a_{m,i}^n = c_i^{n,m}$ . The matrix  $Q_{\omega \times \omega}$  is an invertible matrix, so we have

$$B_{\omega}(t) \simeq Q_{\omega \times \omega}^{-1} \Psi_{\omega}(t).$$

)

(5.2)

Applying the Riemann-Liouville integral operator of order  $\alpha$  to (5.1) and then utilizing (4.3) and (5.3), yield

$$I^{\alpha}\Psi_{\omega}(t) \simeq Q_{\omega \times \omega}I^{\alpha}B_{\omega}(t) \simeq Q_{\omega \times \omega}F^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega}B_{\omega}(t) \simeq Q_{\omega \times \omega}F^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega}Q^{-1}\Psi_{\omega}(t)$$

Therefore we have

$$I^{\alpha}\Psi_{\omega}(t)\simeq P^{\alpha}_{\omega\times\omega}\Psi_{\omega}(t),$$

with

$$P^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} = Q_{\omega \times \omega} F^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} Q^{-1}_{\omega \times \omega}.$$

In particular, for T = 1, k = 1, L = 1 and  $\alpha = 0.5$ , the GSCWs operational matrix of fractional order integration  $P_{\omega \times \omega}^{\alpha}$  is given by

	0.5319	-0.0253	-0.2073	0.4407	0.0218	0.0993	1
	-0.0173	0.1651	0.0991	0.0149	0.0061	0.0148	
<b>D</b> 0.5	0.1418	-0.0991	0.2243	-0.0679	-0.0148	-0.0449	l
$r_{6\times 6} =$	0.	0.	0.	0.5319	-0.0253	-0.2073	l
	0.	0.	0.	-0.0173	0.1651	0.0991	
	0.	0.	0.	0.1418	-0.0991	0.2243	

#### 6. Numerical method

In this section, we use the properties of the GSCWs together with the block-pulse functions to solve a class of nonlinear multi-order FDEs. Consider the following FDE

$$D^{\alpha}u(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{r} a_{k}(t)D^{\beta_{k}}u(t) + a_{0}(t)u(t) + a(t)\left[u(t)\right]^{m} + f(t),$$
(6.1)

with initial conditions

$$u^{(s)}(0) = u_0^s, \quad s = 0, 1, \dots, \lceil \alpha \rceil - 1,$$

where  $\alpha > \beta_1 > \beta_2 > \ldots > \beta_r$ ,  $D^{\alpha}$  denotes the Caputo fractional derivative of order  $\alpha$ , a(t),  $a_k(t)$ ,  $k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, r$  and f(t) are given known functions, [.] is the ceiling function and u(t) is the unknown function to be determined. In order to obtain a numerical solution for (6.1), we suppose that

$$D^{\alpha}u(t) \simeq U^{T}\Psi_{\omega}(t), \tag{6.2}$$

then using (2.1), (5.4) and (6.2), we have

$$u(t) \simeq U^T P^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} \Psi_{\omega}(t) + \sum_{s=0}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil - 1} u^s_0 \frac{t^s}{s!}$$
  
$$\simeq (U^T P^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} + U^T_0) \Psi_{\omega}(t)$$
  
$$= \Lambda^T_0 \Psi_{\omega}(t),$$
(6.3)

where we have used

$$\sum_{s=0}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil - 1} u_0^s \frac{t^s}{s!} \simeq U_0^T \Psi_{\omega}(t),$$

and

$$\Lambda_0 = (U^T P^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} + U^T_0)^T.$$

Also, taking into consideration (2.2), (5.4) and (6.2), we have

$$D^{\beta_k}u(t) \simeq (U^T P^{\alpha-\beta_k}_{\omega \times \omega} + U^T_k)\Psi_{\omega}(t) = \Lambda^T_k \Psi_{\omega}(t), \tag{6.4}$$

where

$$\sum_{s=\lceil \beta_k \rceil}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil -1} u_0^s \frac{t^{s-\beta_k}}{\Gamma(s-\beta_k+1)} \simeq U_k^T \Psi_{\omega}(t),$$

and

$$\Lambda_k = (U^T P^{\alpha - \beta_k}_{\omega \times \omega} + U^T_k)^T.$$

Now, suppose that

$$a_k(t) \simeq A_k^T \Psi_{\omega}(t), \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, r,$$
  

$$a(t) \simeq A^T \Psi_{\omega}(t),$$
  

$$f(t) \simeq F^T \Psi_{\omega}(t).$$

(5.4)

Substituting approximations (6.3)-(6.5) into (6.1) yields

$$U^{T}\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{r} A_{k}^{T}\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t)\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{T}(t)\Lambda_{k} + A^{T}\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t) \left[\Lambda_{0}^{T}\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t)\right]^{m} + F^{T}\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t).$$
(6.6)

By employing (4.2) and (5.1), we get

$$A_{k}^{T}\Psi_{\omega}(t)\Psi_{\omega}^{T}(t)\Lambda_{k} \simeq A_{k}^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega}B_{\omega}(t)B_{\omega}^{T}(t)Q_{\omega\times\omega}^{T}\Lambda_{k}$$

$$\simeq A_{k}^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega}diag(Q_{\omega\times\omega}^{T}\Lambda_{k})B_{\omega}(t)$$
(6.7)

In a similar way, we obtain

$$A^{T}\Psi_{\omega}(t)\left[\Lambda_{0}^{T}\Psi_{\omega}(t)\right]^{m} \simeq A^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega}\left[diag(Q_{\omega\times\omega}^{T}\Lambda_{0})\right]^{m}B_{\omega}(t)$$
(6.8)

At the end, taking consideration (6.7) and (6.8) into (6.6), we get

$$U^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega} - \sum_{k=0}^{\prime} A_{k}^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega} diag(Q_{\omega\times\omega}^{T}\Lambda_{k}) - A^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega} \left[diag(Q_{\omega\times\omega}^{T}\Lambda_{0})\right]^{m} - F^{T}Q_{\omega\times\omega} = 0,$$

which is a system of nonlinear algebraic equations that can be solved using iterative methods. By solving this system, we obtain the approximate solution u(t) as

$$u(t) \simeq U^T P^{\alpha}_{\omega \times \omega} \Psi_{\omega}(t) + \sum_{s=0}^{\lceil \alpha \rceil - 1} u_0^s \frac{t^s}{s!}.$$
(6.9)

**Remark 6.1.** In the linear case of the equation (6.1) with constant coefficients, i.e.

$$D^{\alpha}u(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{r} a_k D^{\beta_k}u(t) + a_0u(t) + f(t),$$

the following linear system is resulted from employing our method

$$U^{T} - \sum_{k=0}^{r} a_{k} \Lambda_{k}^{T} - a_{0} \Lambda_{0}^{T} - F^{T} = 0.$$

#### 7. Illustrative examples

In this section we present four examples and apply the method presented in the previous section for solving them. The function "FindRoot" in "Mathematica" software has been employed for solving the final nonlinear systems obtained by the method.

Example 7.1. Consider the Bagley-Torvik equation [37, 38]

$$aD^{2}u(t) = -bD^{3/2}u(t) - cu(t) + c(1+t), \quad t \in [0,1],$$
(7.1)

subject to initial conditions u(0) = u'(0) = 1.

The exact solution of this problem is u(t) = 1 + t. By considering k = 0 and L = 1, we employ the present method for this problem with a = 1, b = 0.5 and c = 0.5. In this case, the basis functions are given by

$$\begin{split} \psi_{0,0}(t) &= \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t < 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \\ \psi_{0,1}(t) &= \begin{cases} \sqrt{2}\cos(2\pi t), & 0 \le t < 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \\ \psi_{0,2}(t) &= \begin{cases} \sqrt{2}\sin(2\pi t), & 0 \le t < 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Suppose that

$$D^{2}u(t) \simeq u_{0,0}\psi_{0,0}(t) + u_{0,1}\psi_{0,1}(t) + u_{0,2}\psi_{0,2}(t) = U^{T}\Psi_{3}(t),$$
(7.2)

then using the initial conditions of the problem, we get

$$D^{3/2}u(t) \simeq U^T P_{3\times 3}^{\frac{1}{2}} \Psi_3(t), \tag{7.3}$$

$$u(t) \simeq U^T P_{3\times 3}^2 \Psi_3(t) + 1 + t \simeq (U^T P_{3\times 3}^2 + U_0^T) \Psi_3(t),$$
(7.4)

where  $U_0$  is obtained by approximating the function 1 + t as

$$U_0 = \left[rac{3}{2}, 0, -rac{1}{\sqrt{2}\pi}
ight]^T,$$

and  $P_{3\times 3}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $P_{3\times 3}^{2}$  are given, respectively, by

$$\begin{split} P_{3\times3}^{\frac{1}{2}} &= \left[ \begin{array}{cccc} \frac{4}{3\sqrt{\pi}} & \frac{4}{27}(\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{6}-4)\sqrt{\pi} & \frac{4}{81}(-9\sqrt{2}+4\sqrt{3}+\sqrt{6})\sqrt{\pi} \\ \frac{\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{6}-4}{\pi^{3/2}} & \frac{2(-4\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{3}+5)}{3\sqrt{3\pi}} & \frac{2(8\sqrt{2}-3\sqrt{3}-5)}{9\sqrt{\pi}} \\ \frac{9\sqrt{2}-4\sqrt{3}-\sqrt{6}}{3\pi^{3/2}} & -\frac{2(8\sqrt{2}-3\sqrt{3}-5)}{9\sqrt{\pi}} & \frac{2(\sqrt{3}+4\sqrt{6}-9)}{9\sqrt{\pi}} \end{array} \right],\\ P_{3\times3}^{2} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{81}\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\pi & -\frac{1}{27}\left(\sqrt{2}\pi\right) \\ \frac{1}{6\sqrt{6}\pi} & -\frac{1}{54} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}\pi} & 0 & -\frac{5}{54} \end{array} \right]. \end{split}$$

By substituting (7.2)–(7.4) into (7.1), we obtain

$$U^{T}\Psi_{3}(t) = -0.5U^{T}P_{3\times3}^{\frac{1}{2}}\Psi_{3}(t) - 0.5(U^{T}P_{3\times3}^{2} + U_{0}^{T})\Psi_{3}(t) + 0.5U_{0}^{T}\Psi_{3}(t),$$

which leads us to have

$$U^{T} = -0.5U^{T}P_{3\times 3}^{\frac{1}{2}} - 0.5U^{T}P_{3\times 3}^{2}.$$

By solving this linear system, the unknown parameters are computed as

 $u_{0,0} = u_{0,1} = u_{0,2} = 0.$ 

Thus using (6.9), we get

$$u(t) = 1 + t,$$

which is the exact solution.

Example 7.2. Consider the following multi-order FDE [37, 39]:

$$D^{3}u(t) = -D^{5/2}u(t) - [u(t)]^{2} + t^{4},$$

subject to initial conditions u(0) = u'(0) = 0 and u''(0) = 2.

The exact solution of this problem is  $u(t) = t^2$ . The absolute error of the numerical solutions obtained by the present method in this paper is given in Table 1 and Figure 7.1. We have displayed the numerical results for T = 1 using the GSCWs with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 in Table 1. In Figure 7.1, plot of the absolute error obtained by L = 1 and different values of k are shown. It is seen from Table 1 and Figure 7.1 that the absolute error decreases as the level of resolution increases.

**Table 1:** Absolute error at some selected point with L = 1 and different values of k for Example 7.2.

<i>t</i>	k-2	k-1	k-6	k-8
<i>i</i>	K-2	K= <del>1</del>	K=0	K=0
0.0	$2.06 \times 10^{-7}$	$1.41 \times 10^{-11}$	$9.22 \times 10^{-16}$	$5.81 \times 10^{-20}$
0.1	$3.71 \times 10^{-8}$	$2.68  imes 10^{-10}$	$6.23  imes 10^{-12}$	$4.52 \times 10^{-13}$
0.2	$3.83  imes 10^{-7}$	$2.82  imes 10^{-9}$	$2.26\times10^{-10}$	$1.31  imes 10^{-11}$
0.3	$8.76 imes10^{-8}$	$2.99 imes10^{-8}$	$1.51  imes 10^{-9}$	$9.87 imes10^{-11}$
0.4	$3.87  imes 10^{-6}$	$9.13  imes 10^{-8}$	$6.63 \times 10^{-9}$	$3.97  imes 10^{-10}$
0.5	$2.21  imes 10^{-5}$	$4.28  imes 10^{-7}$	$2.06  imes 10^{-8}$	$1.21  imes 10^{-9}$
0.6	$9.09 imes10^{-6}$	$8.18  imes 10^{-7}$	$4.54  imes 10^{-8}$	$2.91  imes 10^{-9}$
0.7	$3.57  imes 10^{-5}$	$1.48  imes 10^{-6}$	$9.99  imes 10^{-8}$	$6.12  imes 10^{-9}$
0.8	$3.98  imes 10^{-5}$	$3.19 imes10^{-6}$	$1.85  imes 10^{-7}$	$1.18  imes 10^{-8}$
0.9	$1.15  imes 10^{-4}$	$5.05  imes 10^{-6}$	$3.38  imes 10^{-7}$	$2.07  imes 10^{-8}$
1.0	$9.37  imes 10^{-5}$	$7.72  imes 10^{-6}$	$5.35  imes 10^{-7}$	$3.44  imes 10^{-8}$

Example 7.3. Consider the following multi-order FDE [37, 39]:

$$D^{4}u(t) = -D^{3.5}u(t) - [u(t)]^{3} + t^{9},$$

subject to initial conditions u(0) = u'(0) = u''(0) = 0 and u'''(0) = 6.

The exact solution of this problem is  $u(t) = t^3$ . The absolute error of the numerical solutions obtained by the present method is given in Table 2 and Figure 7.2. The numerical results for T = 1 using the GSCWs with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 are displayed in Table 2. Plot of the absolute error obtained by L = 1 and different values of k are shown in Figure 7.2. The results here confirm the convergence of the numerical solution to the exact solution of this problem.

**Example 7.4.** As the last example, consider the following linear multi-order FDE [37, 40]:

$$D^{2}u(t) = 2Du(t) - D^{0.5}u(t) - u(t) + t^{3} - 6t^{2} + 6t + \frac{16}{5\sqrt{\pi}}t^{2.5}$$

subject to initial conditions u(0) = u'(0) = 0.

The exact solution is  $u(t) = t^3$ . Numerical results for this example are presented in Table 3 and Figure 7.3. The absolute errors at some selected points on the interval [0, 1] using the GSCWs with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 are given in Table 3. In Figure 7.3, the exact solution and numerical solution obtained by L = 1 and different values of k are displayed. The absolute error reported in Table 3 and Figure 7.3 show the convergence of the numerical solution to the exact solution.



**Figure 7.1:** Plot of the absolute error with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 for Example 7.2.

**Table 2:** Absolute error at some selected point with L = 1 and different values of k for Example 7.3.

t	k=2	k=4	k=6	k=8
0.0	$1.34 \times 10^{-11}$	$2.22 \times 10^{-19}$	$3.51 \times 10^{-27}$	$5.39 \times 10^{-35}$
0.1	$4.63 \times 10^{-12}$	$1.03  imes 10^{-16}$	$2.16  imes 10^{-19}$	0.00
0.2	$2.31 \times 10^{-11}$	$8.25  imes 10^{-16}$	$8.51  imes 10^{-16}$	$4.51  imes 10^{-17}$
0.3	$1.88  imes 10^{-9}$	$1.68  imes 10^{-12}$	$5.74 imes10^{-14}$	$3.94 imes10^{-15}$
0.4	$6.26  imes 10^{-9}$	$1.78  imes 10^{-11}$	$1.55 \times 10^{-12}$	$8.80  imes 10^{-14}$
0.5	$3.06 \times 10^{-7}$	$6.39  imes 10^{-10}$	$1.97  imes 10^{-11}$	$1.07  imes 10^{-12}$
0.6	$4.30  imes 10^{-8}$	$2.47  imes 10^{-9}$	$1.14  imes 10^{-10}$	$7.58  imes 10^{-12}$
0.7	$5.27  imes 10^{-7}$	$9.09  imes 10^{-9}$	$6.67  imes 10^{-10}$	$3.98 \times 10^{-11}$
0.8	$4.17 imes10^{-8}$	$5.11  imes 10^{-8}$	$2.67  imes 10^{-9}$	$1.73 imes10^{-10}$
0.9	$6.36  imes 10^{-6}$	$1.42  imes 10^{-7}$	$1.02  imes 10^{-8}$	$6.16  imes 10^{-10}$
1.0	$5.66  imes 10^{-5}$	$3.81  imes 10^{-7}$	$2.88  imes 10^{-8}$	$1.91  imes 10^{-9}$



Figure 7.2: Plot of the absolute error with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 for Example 7.3.

t	k=2	k=4	k=6	k=8
0.0	$7.57 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.17  imes 10^{-4}$	$1.84 \times 10^{-6}$	$2.87  imes 10^{-8}$
0.1	$2.14  imes 10^{-3}$	$3.84  imes 10^{-4}$	$7.92  imes 10^{-5}$	$2.04  imes 10^{-5}$
0.2	$5.85  imes 10^{-3}$	$1.08  imes 10^{-3}$	$2.68  imes 10^{-4}$	$6.68  imes 10^{-5}$
0.3	$1.08  imes 10^{-2}$	$2.45  imes 10^{-3}$	$6.01  imes 10^{-4}$	$1.50  imes 10^{-4}$
0.4	$2.49  imes 10^{-2}$	$5.04  imes 10^{-3}$	$1.31  imes 10^{-3}$	$3.24  imes 10^{-4}$
0.5	$1.48 imes10^{-1}$	$2.64 imes10^{-2}$	$6.04  imes 10^{-3}$	$1.47  imes 10^{-3}$
0.6	$4.36 imes10^{-2}$	$1.20  imes 10^{-2}$	$2.91  imes 10^{-3}$	$7.33 imes10^{-4}$
0.7	$5.55  imes 10^{-2}$	$1.30  imes 10^{-2}$	$3.28  imes 10^{-3}$	$8.18  imes 10^{-4}$
0.8	$6.78  imes 10^{-2}$	$1.72  imes 10^{-2}$	$4.27  imes 10^{-3}$	$1.07  imes 10^{-3}$
0.9	$1.14  imes 10^{-1}$	$2.58 imes10^{-2}$	$6.62 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.64 \times 10^{-3}$
1.0	$2.88 \times 10^{-1}$	$8.79 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.31 \times 10^{-2}$	$5.83 \times 10^{-3}$

**Table 3:** Absolute error at some selected point with L = 1 and different values of k for Example 7.4.



Figure 7.3: Plot of the exact solution and numerical solutions with L = 1 and k = 2, 4, 6, 8 for Example 7.4.

#### 8. Concluding remarks

This work is devoted to the numerical solution of the multi-order fractional differential equations using the generalized sine-cosine wavelets. The fractional order operational matrix of integration has been introduced using the properties of the block-pulse functions and generalized sine-cosine wavelets. Using the properties of sine-cosine wavelets and block-pulse functions, the considered problem is reduced to a system of nonlinear algebraic equations which can be solved using iterative methods. The numerical results of four examples show that the proposed method gives high accuracy approximations of the solutions. As it is seen from the tables and figures, the absolute error decreases as the level of resolution, k, increases.

#### References

- [1] B. Ross, The development of fractional calculus 1695–1900, Hist. Math., 4(1) (1977), 75–89.
- [2] K. S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the fractional calculus and fractional differential equations, New York, Wiley, 1993.
- [3] K. B. Oldham, J. Spanier, *The fractional calculus*, New York, Academic Press, 1974.
- [4] R. L. Bagley, P. J. Torvik, Fractional calculus in the transient analysis of viscoelastically damped structures, AIAA J., 23(6) (1985), 918–925.
- [5] R. T. Baillie, Long memory processes and fractional integration in econometrics, J. Econometr. 73(1) (1996), 5–59.
- [6] F. Mainardi, Fractional calculus: some basic problems in continuum and statistical mechanics, fractals and fractional calculus in continuum mechanics, A. Carpinteri and F. Mainardi, Eds. Vienna, Springer-Verlag, (1997), 291–348.
- [7] Y. A. Rossikhin, M. V. Shitikova, Applications of fractional calculus to dynamic problems of linear and nonlinear hereditary mechanics of solids, Appl. Mech. Rev., 50(1) (1997), 15–67.
- [8] K. B. Oldham, Fractional differential equations in electrochemistry, Adv. Eng. Softw., 41(1) (2010), 9–12.
- [9] V. S. Ertürk, Z. M. Odibat, S. Momani, An approximate solution of a fractional order differential equation model of human T-cell lymphotropic virus I (HTLV-I) infection of CD4+ T-cells, Comput. Math. Appl., 62(3) (2011), 996–1002.
- [10] S. A. El-Wakil, E. M. Abulwafa, E. K. El-Shewy, A. A. Mahmoud, Ion-acoustic waves in unmagnetized collisionless weakly relativistic plasma of warm-ion and isothermal-electron using time-fractional KdV equation, Adv. Space Res., 49(12) (2012), 1721–1727.
- [11] S. Momani, K. Al-Khaled, Numerical solutions for systems of fractional differential equations by the decomposition method, Appl. Math. Comput., 162 (2005), 1351–1365.

- [12] Z. M. Odibat, S. Momani, Application of variational iteration method to nonlinear differential equations of fractional order, Int. J. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 7(1) (2006), 27–34.
- A. Arikoglu, I. Ozkol, Solution of fractional integro-differential equations by using fractional differential transform method, Chaos Solitons Fractals, [13] 40(2) (2009), 521–529.
- A. Saadatmandi, M. Dehghan, A new operational matrix for solving fractional order differential equations, Comput. Math. Appl., 59 (2010), 1326–1336. [15] M. Dehghan, J. Manafian, A. Saadatmandi, Solving nonlinear fractional partial differential equations using the homotopy analysis method, Numer. Methods Partial Differential Equations, 26 (2010), 448–479.
- Z. Odibat, N. Shawagfeh, Generalized Taylor's formula, Appl. Math. Comput., 186 (2007), 286-293.
- Z. Odibat, S. Momani, Modified homotopy perturbation method: application to quadratic Riccati differential equation of fractional order, Chaos Solitons Fractals, 36(1) (2008), 167-174.
- [18] I. Podlubny, The Laplace transform method for linear differential equations of the fractional order, 1997, eprint arXiv:funct-an/9710005. [19] I. Daubechies, Ten Lectures on Wavelets. CBMS-NFS Series in Applied Mathematics, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1992.
- [20] I. Daubechies, J. C. Lagarias, Two-scale difference equations II. local regularity, infinite products of matrices and fractals, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 23(4) (1992), 1031 - 1079.
- S. Mallat, A theory of multiresolution signal decomposition: the wavelet representation, IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell., 11(7) (1989), 674–693. [21]
- [22] I. Daubechies, Orthonormal bases of compactly supported wavelets, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 41(7) (1988), 909–996. [23] X. Li, Numerical solution of fractional differential equations using cubic B-spline wavelet collocation method, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 17 (2012), 3934-3946.
- [24] Y. M. Chen, M. X. Yi, C. X. Yu, Error analysis for numerical solution of fractional differential equation by Haar wavelets method, J. Comput. Sci., 3(5) (2012), 367-373.
- Y. L. Li, Solving a nonlinear fractional differential equation using Chebyshev wavelets, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 15 (2010), 2284–2292. [25] [26] H. Jafari, S. A. Yousefi, M. A. Firoozjaee, S. Momani, C.M. Khalique, Application of Legendre wavelets for solving fractional differential equations, Comput. Appl. Math., 62 (2011), 1038–1045.
- [27] P. Rahimkhani, Y. Ordokhani, E. Babolian, Numerical solution of fractional pantograph differential equations by using generalized fractional-order Bernoulli wavelet, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 309 (2017), 493–510.
- M. Razzaghi, S. Yousefi, Sine-cosine wavelets operational matrix of integration and its applications in the calculus of variations, Int. J. Syst. Sci., 33 [28] (2002), 805-810.
- M. Tavassoli Kajani, M. Ghasemi, E.Babolian, Numerical solution of linear integro-differential equation by using sine-cosine wavelets, Appl. Math. [29] Comput., 180 (2006), 569-574
- [30] M. Ghasemi, E. Babolian, M. Tavassoli Kajani, Numerical solution of linear Fredholm integral equations using sine-cosine wavelets, Int. J. Comput. Math., 84 (2007), 979-987.
- N. Irfan, A. H. Siddiqi, Sine-cosine wavelets approach in numerical evaluation of Hankel transform for seismology, Appl. Math. Model., 40 (2016), [31] 4900-4907 [32]
- I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Math. Sci. Eng., 198, Academic Press, 1999.
- [33] O. Christensen, K. L. Christensen, Approximation theory: from Taylor polynomial to wavelets, Birkhauser, Boston, 2004.
- D. Gottlieb, S.A. Orszag, Numerical analysis of spectral methods, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1997. [341 Y. Wang, T. Yin, L. Zhu, Sine-cosine wavelet operational matrix of fractional order integration and its applications in solving the fractional order [35]
- Riccati differential equations, Adv. Differ. Equ., (2017), 2017: 222 [36] A. Kilicman, Z. A. A. Al Zhour, Kronecker operational matrices for fractional calculus and some applications, Appl. Math. Comput., 187 (2007),
- [37] S. K. Damarla, M. Kundu, Numerical solution of multi-order fractional differential equations using generalized triangular function operational matrices,
- Appl. Math. Comput., **263** (2015), 189 203. A. E. M. El-Mesiry, A. M. A. El-Sayed, H. A. A. El-Saka, *Numerical methods for multi-term fractional (arbitrary) orders differential equations*, Appl. [38]
- Math. Comput., 160 (2005), 683-699. M. Seifollahi, A. S. Shamloo, Numerical solution of nonlinear multi-order fractional differential equations by operational matrix of Chebyshev [39] polynomials, World Appl. Program., 3 (2013), 85-92.
- [40] A. H. Bhrawy, M. M. Tharwat, M.A. Alghamdi, A new operational matrix of fractional integration for shifted Jacobi polynomials, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 37 (2014), 983-995.

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.439013



# Sasakian Statistical Manifolds with Semi-Symmetric Metric Connection

Sema Kazan<sup>a</sup> and Ahmet Kazan<sup>b\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

<sup>b</sup>Department of Computer Technologies, Doğanşehir Vahap Küçük Vocational School of Higher Education, Inonu Univ., Malatya, Turkey \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Dual Connection, Sasakian Manifolds, Semi-Symmetric Metric Connection, Statistical Structure 2010 AMS: 53C40, 53D10 Received: 29 June 2018 Accepted: 3 August 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 In the present paper, firstly we express the relation between the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the torsion-free connection  $\nabla$  and obtain the relation between the curvature tensors  $\tilde{R}$  of  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and R of  $\nabla$ . After, we obtain these relations for  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the dual connection  $\nabla^*$ . Also, we give the relations between the curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the curvature tensors R and  $R^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$  on Sasakian statistical manifolds, respectively. We obtain the relations between the Ricci tensor (and scalar curvature) of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the Ricci tensors (and scalar curvatures) of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ . Finally, we construct an example of a 3-dimensional Sasakian manifold with statistical structure admitting the semi-symmetric metric connection in order to verify our results.

#### 1. Introduction

The theory of statistical manifolds, the so called information geometry, has started with a paper of Rao in 1945 [1] and after that, the information geometry, which is typically deals with the study of various geometric structures on a statistical manifold, has begun as a study of the geometric structures possessed by a statistical model of probability distributions. Nowadays, the information geometry has an important application area, such as, information theory, stochastic processes, dynamical systems and times series, statistical physics, quantum systems and the mathematical theory of neural networks [2], [3].

In 1985, the notion of dual connection (or conjugate connection) in affine geometry, has been first introduced into statistics by Amari [4]. A statistical model equipped with a Riemannian metric together with a pair of dual affine connections is called a *statistical manifold*. For more information about statistical manifolds and information geometry, we refer to [5], [6], [7], [8], [9], [10] and etc.

Also, if  $\Phi$  is a tensor field of type (1,1),  $\eta$  is a 1-form and  $\xi$  is a vector field on a (2n+1)-dimensional differentiable manifold M, then almost contact structure  $(\Phi, \eta, \xi)$  which is related to almost complex structures and satisfies the conditions  $\Phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi$ ,  $\eta(\xi) = 1$  has been determined by Sasaki in 1960 [11]. With the aid of this definition, different types of this manifold such as Sasakian manifold, Kenmotsu manifold, trans-Sasakian manifold and etc. have been defined and studied by many mathematicians [11], [12], [13] and etc.

According to these notions, the differential geometry of statistical manifolds are being studying by geometers by adding different geometric structures to these manifolds. For instance, in [14] quaternionic Kähler-like statistical manifold have been studied and in [15], the authors have introduced the notion of Sasakian statistical structure and obtained the condition for a real hypersurface in a holomorphic statistical manifold to admit such a structure. In [16], the notion of a Kenmotsu statistical manifold is introduced and they have showed that, a Kenmotsu statistical manifold of constant  $\Phi$ -sectional curvature is constructed from a special Kahler manifold, which is an important example of holomorphic statistical manifold. Also, the projection of a dualistic structure has been defined on a twisted product manifold induces dualistic structures on the base and the fiber manifolds, and conversely in [3].

This paper is organized as follows:

In Section 2, we recall some basic notions about statistical structures and semi-symmetric metric connection. After Preliminaries, by expressing the relation between the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the torsion-free connection  $\nabla$ , we obtain the relation between the curvature tensors  $\tilde{R}$  of  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and R of  $\nabla$  in Section 3 and then, we obtain these relations for  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the dual connection  $\nabla^*$ . In Section 4,

Email address and ORCID numbers: sema.bulut@inonu.edu.tr, 0000-0002-8771-9506 (S. Kazan), ahmet.kazan@inonu.edu.tr, 0000-0002-1959-6102 (A. Kazan)

we give the relations between the curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the curvature tensors R and  $R^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$  on Sasakian statistical manifolds, respectively. Also, we obtain the relations between the Ricci tensor (and scalar curvature) of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the Ricci tensors (and scalar curvatures) of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ . At the end of this section, we construct an example of a 3-dimensional Sasakian manifold with statistical structure admitting the semi-symmetric metric connection in order to verify our results.

#### 2. Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some notions about statistical structures and semi-symmetric metric connection, respectively. Throughout this paper, we assume that *M* is a (2n + 1)-dimensional manifold, *g* is a Riemannian metric,  $\hat{\nabla}$  is the Levi-Civita connection associated with *g* and  $\Gamma(TM^{(p,q)})$  means the set of tensor fields of type (p,q) on *M*.

A pair  $(\nabla, g)$  is called a *statistical structure* on *M*, if  $\nabla$  is torsion-free and

$$(\nabla_X g)(Y,Z) = (\nabla_Y g)(X,Z), \ \forall X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$$

$$(2.1)$$

holds, where the equation (2.1) is generally called *Codazzi equation*. In this case,  $(M, \nabla, g)$  is called a *statistical manifold*. Let  $(\nabla, g)$  be a statistical structure on M. Then the connection  $\nabla^*$  which is defined by

$$Xg(Y,Z) = g(\nabla_X Y,Z) + g(Y,\nabla_X^* Z)$$

is called *conjugate or dual connection* of  $\nabla$  with respect to g. If  $(\nabla, g)$  is a statistical structure on M, then  $(\nabla^*, g)$  is a statistical structure on M, too.

For a statistical structure  $(\nabla, g)$ , one can define the *difference tensor field*  $K \in \Gamma(TM^{(1,2)})$  as

$$K(X,Y) = \nabla_X Y - \hat{\nabla}_X Y, \,\forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM), \tag{2.2}$$

where K satisfies

$$\begin{split} K(X,Y) &= K(Y,X),\\ g(K(X,Y),Z) &= g(Y,K(X,Z)). \end{split}$$

Furthermore, we have

$$K = \hat{\nabla} - \nabla^* = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla - \nabla^*). \tag{2.3}$$

For a more detailed treatment, we refer to [7], [15] and [17].

On the other hand in [18], Hayden introduced a metric connection with a non-zero torsion on a Riemannian manifold and this connection is called a Hayden connection. In [19], the authors have introduced the semi-symmetric linear connection in a differentiable manifold. A linear connection is said to be a semi-symmetric connection if its torsion tensor T is of the form

$$T(X,Y) = w(Y)X - w(X)Y,$$

where the 1-form *w* is defined by

$$w(X) = g(X, U)$$

for vector fields *X*, *Y* and *U* on *M*. Also, a semi-symmetric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  is called a semi-symmetric metric connection if it further satisfies  $\tilde{\nabla}g = 0$ . If  $\hat{\nabla}$  is the Levi-Civita connection of a Riemannian manifold *M*, then the relation between the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and  $\hat{\nabla}$  is

$$\tilde{\nabla}_X Y = \hat{\nabla}_X Y + w(Y)X - g(X,Y)U, \tag{2.4}$$

where w(Y) = g(Y, U).

#### 3. Curvature of semi-symetric metric connection on statistical manifolds

In this section, firstly we'll express the relation between the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the torsion-free connection  $\nabla$  and obtain the relation between the curvature tensors  $\tilde{R}$  of  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and R of  $\nabla$ . After, we'll obtain these relations for  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the dual connection  $\nabla^*$ . Let M be an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold and  $(\nabla, g)$  be a statistical structure on M. From (2.2) and (2.4), we obtain the relation between the connections  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and  $\nabla$  as

$$\tilde{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y + w(Y)X - g(X,Y)U - K(X,Y).$$
(3.1)

The Riemannian curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of M with respect to the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  is defined by

$$\tilde{R}(X,Y)Z = \tilde{\nabla}_X \tilde{\nabla}_Y Z - \tilde{\nabla}_Y \tilde{\nabla}_X Z - \tilde{\nabla}_{[X,Y]} Z, \tag{3.2}$$

for all  $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$ . From (3.1), we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\nabla}_{X}\tilde{\nabla}_{Y}Z &= \nabla_{X}\nabla_{Y}Z + w(\nabla_{Y}Z)X + w(\nabla_{X}Z)Y - w(K(X,Z))Y - w(K(Y,Z))X + w(Z)\nabla_{X}Y - w(Z)K(X,Y) + w(Y)w(Z)X \\ &- g(X,Y)w(Z)U - g(Y,Z)w(U)X + g(Y,Z)w(X)U \\ &- g(X,\nabla_{Y}Z)U + g(Z,\nabla_{X}U)Y - g(\nabla_{X}Y,Z)U - g(Y,\nabla_{X}Z)U - g(Y,Z)\nabla_{X}U \\ &- g(Z,K(X,U))Y + g(K(X,Y),Z)U + g(Y,K(X,Z))U + g(X,K(Y,Z))U \\ &+ g(Y,Z)K(X,U) - K(X,\nabla_{Y}Z) - \nabla_{X}K(Y,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) \end{split}$$
(3.3)

and

$$\tilde{\nabla}_{[X,Y]}Z = \nabla_{[X,Y]}Z + w(Z)\nabla_X Y - w(Z)\nabla_Y X - g(\nabla_X Y, Z)U + g(\nabla_Y X, Z)U - K(\nabla_X Y, Z) + K(\nabla_Y X, Z).$$
(3.4)

Using (3.3) and (3.4) in (3.2), we obtain the Riemannian curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of M with respect to the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  as

$$\begin{split} \tilde{R}(X,Y)Z &= R(X,Y)Z + \{w(X)U - w(U)X - \nabla_X U + K(X,U)\}g(Y,Z) - \{w(Y)U - w(U)Y - \nabla_Y U + K(Y,U)\}g(X,Z) \\ &- g(w(X)U - \nabla_X U + K(X,U),Z)Y + g(w(Y)U - \nabla_Y U + K(Y,U),Z)X \\ &- (\nabla_X K)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)). \end{split}$$

Here, *R* is the Riemannian curvature tensor of *M* with respect to the torsion-free connection  $\nabla$  which is defined by  $R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ .

Similarly, from (2.3) and (2.4), we obtain the relation between the connections  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and  $\nabla^*$  as

$$\tilde{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla^*_X Y + w(Y)X - g(X,Y)U + K(X,Y).$$
(3.5)

for all  $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$ . From (3.5), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{X}\nabla_{Y}Z &= \nabla_{X}^{*}\nabla_{Y}^{*}Z + w(\nabla_{Y}^{*}Z)X + w(\nabla_{X}^{*}Z)Y + w(K(X,Z))Y + w(K(Y,Z))X + w(Z)\nabla_{X}^{*}Y + w(Z)K(X,Y) + w(Y)w(Z)X \\ &- g(X,Y)w(Z)U - g(Y,Z)w(U)X + g(Y,Z)w(X)U \\ &- g(X,\nabla_{Y}^{*}Z)U + g(Z,\nabla_{X}^{*}U)Y - g(\nabla_{X}^{*}Y,Z)U - g(Y,\nabla_{X}^{*}Z)U - g(Y,Z)\nabla_{X}^{*}U \\ &+ g(Z,K(X,U))Y - g(K(X,Y),Z)U - g(Y,K(X,Z))U - g(X,K(Y,Z))U \\ &- g(Y,Z)K(X,U) + K(X,\nabla_{Y}^{*}Z) + \nabla_{X}^{*}K(Y,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) \end{aligned}$$
(3.6)

and

$$\tilde{\nabla}_{[X,Y]}Z = \nabla^*_{[X,Y]}Z + w(Z)\nabla^*_XY - w(Z)\nabla^*_YX - g(\nabla^*_XY,Z)U + g(\nabla^*_YX,Z)U + K(\nabla^*_XY,Z) - K(\nabla^*_YX,Z).$$
(3.7)

Using (3.6) and (3.7) in (3.2), we obtain the Riemannian curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of M with respect to the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  as

$$\begin{split} \tilde{R}(X,Y)Z &= R^*(X,Y)Z + \{w(X)U - w(U)X - \nabla_X^*U - K(X,U)\}g(Y,Z) - \{w(Y)U - w(U)Y - \nabla_Y^*U - K(Y,U)\}g(X,Z) \\ &- g(w(X)U - \nabla_X^*U - K(X,U),Z)Y + g(w(Y)U - \nabla_Y^*U - K(Y,U),Z)X \\ &+ (\nabla_X^*K)(Y,Z) - (\nabla_Y^*K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)). \end{split}$$

Here,  $R^*$  is the Riemannian curvature tensor of M with respect to the dual connection  $\nabla^*$  which is defined by  $R^*(X,Y)Z = \nabla^*_X \nabla^*_Y Z - \nabla^*_Y \nabla^*_X Z - \nabla^*_{[X,Y]} Z$ .

Hence, we can give the following Proposition:

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $(\nabla, g)$  be a statistical structure on a Riemannian manifold M. Then, the relations between the curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the curvature tensors R and  $R^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ , respectively, are

$$\begin{split} \tilde{R}(X,Y)Z &= R(X,Y)Z + \{w(X)U - w(U)X - \nabla_X U + K(X,U)\}g(Y,Z) - \{w(Y)U - w(U)Y - \nabla_Y U + K(Y,U)\}g(X,Z) \\ &- g(w(X)U - \nabla_X U + K(X,U),Z)Y + g(w(Y)U - \nabla_Y U + K(Y,U),Z)X \\ &- (\nabla_X K)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)) \\ &= R^*(X,Y)Z + \{w(X)U - w(U)X - \nabla^*_X U - K(X,U)\}g(Y,Z) - \{w(Y)U - w(U)Y - \nabla^*_Y U - K(Y,U)\}g(X,Z) \\ &- g(w(X)U - \nabla^*_X U - K(X,U),Z)Y + g(w(Y)U - \nabla^*_Y U - K(Y,U),Z)X \\ &+ (\nabla^*_X K)(Y,Z) - (\nabla^*_Y K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)), \end{split}$$
(3.9)

for all vector fields X, Y and Z on M.

#### 4. Semi-symmetric metric connection on Sasakian statistical manifolds

A (2n+1)-dimensional differentiable manifold *M* is said to admit an *almost contact Riemannian structure*  $(\Phi, \eta, \xi, g)$ , where  $\Phi$  is a (1,1)-tensor field,  $\xi$  is a vector field,  $\eta$  is a 1-form and *g* is a Riemannian metric on *M* such that

$$\Phi \xi = 0, \ \eta(\xi) = 1, \ g(\xi, X) = \eta(X), 
\Phi^2 X = -X + \eta(X)\xi, 
g(\Phi X, \Phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$
(4.1)

for any vector fields *X*, *Y* on *M*. In addition, if  $(\Phi, \eta, \xi, g)$  satisfy the equations

$$d\eta = 0, \, \hat{\nabla}_X \xi = \Phi X, \tag{4.2}$$
$$(\hat{\nabla}_X \Phi) Y = \eta(Y) X - g(X, Y) \xi,$$

then M is called a Sasakian manifold (for detail, see [15] and [20]).

Also in [15], the authors have defined the notion of Sasakian statistical structure and have obtained the necessary and sufficient conditions for a statistical structure on an almost contact metric manifold to be a Sasakian statistical structure as follows:

**Definition 4.1.** A quadruple  $(\nabla, g, \Phi, \xi)$  is called a Sasakian statistical structure on M, if  $(\nabla, g)$  is a statistical structure,  $(g, \Phi, \xi)$  is a Sasakian structure on M and the formula  $K(X, \Phi Y) + \Phi K(X, Y) = 0$  holds for any vector fields X and Y on M.

**Theorem 4.2.** Let  $(\nabla, g)$  be a statistical structure and  $(g, \Phi, \xi)$  an almost contact metric structure on M.  $(\nabla, g, \Phi, \xi)$  is a Sasakian statistical structure if and only if the following formulas hold:

$$\nabla_X \Phi Y - \Phi \nabla_X^* Y = g(Y, \xi) X - g(Y, X) \xi$$
(4.3)

$$\nabla_X \xi = \Phi X + g(\nabla_X \xi, \xi) \xi. \tag{4.4}$$

So, we can give the following Example:

**Example 4.3.** Let  $(\Phi, \eta, \xi, g)$  be an almost contact Riemannian structure on M. Set the connection  $\check{\nabla}$  as

$$\tilde{\nabla}_X Y = \hat{\nabla}_X Y + 3\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi,\tag{4.5}$$

for any  $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$ . Then,  $\check{\nabla}$  is torsion-free and satisfies the Codazzi equation (2.1). So,  $(\check{\nabla}, g)$  is a statistical structure on the almost contact Riemannian manifold  $(M, \Phi, \eta, \xi, g)$ .

Also, from (2.2), (2.3) and (4.5) we have  $K(X,Y) = 3\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi$  and  $\breve{\nabla}_X^*Y = \hat{\nabla}_X Y - 3\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi$ . So, the equations (4.3) and (4.4) hold for the connection  $\breve{\nabla}$ . Hence  $(\breve{\nabla}, g, \Phi, \eta, \xi)$  is a Sasakian statistical structure on M.

Now, firstly we'll give the relations between the curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the curvature tensors R and  $R^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$  on Sasakian statistical manifolds with the aid of Proposition 3.1. For this, we use the equation

$$\tilde{\nabla}_X Y = \hat{\nabla}_X Y + \eta(Y) X - g(X, Y) \xi, \tag{4.6}$$

which has been obtained by Yano [21] on almost contact manifolds. Here,  $\nabla$  is the semi-symmetric metric connection and  $\nabla$  is the Levi-Civita connection on (M,g),  $\eta$  is a 1-form and  $\xi$  is a vector field defined by  $w(X) = g(X,\xi)$ . If we write  $\eta$  instead of w and  $\xi$  instead of U in the equations (3.8) and (3.9) and use (2.2), (2.3), (4.1) and (4.2), then we have the following Theorem:

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $(M, \nabla, g, \Phi, \eta, \xi)$  be a (2n+1)-dimensional Sasakian statistical manifold. Then, the relations between the curvature tensor  $\tilde{R}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the curvature tensors R and  $R^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ , respectively, are

$$\begin{split} \tilde{R}(X,Y)Z &= R(X,Y)Z + \{\Phi^2 X - \Phi X\}g(Y,Z) - \{\Phi^2 Y - \Phi Y\}g(X,Z) \\ &+ g(\Phi X,Z)Y - g(\Phi Y,Z)X - \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X \\ &- (\nabla_X K)(Y,Z) + (\nabla_Y K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)) \\ &= R^*(X,Y)Z + \{\Phi^2 X - \Phi X\}g(Y,Z) - \{\Phi^2 Y - \Phi Y\}g(X,Z) \\ &+ g(\Phi X,Z)Y - g(\Phi Y,Z)X - \eta(X)\eta(Z)Y + \eta(Y)\eta(Z)X \\ &+ (\nabla^*_X K)(Y,Z) - (\nabla^*_Y K)(X,Z) + K(X,K(Y,Z)) - K(Y,K(X,Z)), \end{split}$$
(4.8)

for all vector fields X, Y and Z on M.

**Corollary 4.5.** Let  $(M, \nabla, g, \Phi, \eta, \xi)$  be a (2n+1)-dimensional Sasakian statistical manifold. Then, we have

$$\tilde{R}(X,Y)\xi = R(X,Y)\xi + \eta(X)\Phi Y - \eta(Y)\Phi X - (\nabla_X K)(Y,\xi) + (\nabla_Y K)(X,\xi)$$

$$\tag{4.9}$$

$$= R^*(X,Y)\xi + \eta(X)\Phi Y - \eta(Y)\Phi X + (\nabla_X^*K)(Y,\xi) - (\nabla_Y^*K)(X,\xi)$$

$$\tag{4.10}$$

and

$$\tilde{R}(\xi, X)Y = R(\xi, X)Y + \eta(Y)\Phi X - g(\Phi X, Y)\xi - (\nabla_{\xi}K)(X, Y) + (\nabla_{X}K)(\xi, Y) + K(\xi, K(X, Y)) - K(X, K(\xi, Y))$$
(4.11)

$$=R^{*}(\xi,X)Y + \eta(Y)\Phi X - g(\Phi X,Y)\xi + (\nabla_{\xi}^{*}K)(X,Y) - (\nabla_{X}^{*}K)(\xi,Y) + K(\xi,K(X,Y)) - K(X,K(\xi,Y)),$$
(4.12)

for all vector fields X and Y on M.

*Proof.* We know that [15], on a Sasakian statistical manifold, the equation  $\nabla_X \xi = \Phi X + \eta (\nabla_X \xi) \xi$  holds. So, from (2.2) we get  $K(X,\xi) = 0$  $\eta(\nabla_X \xi)\xi$ . Using this, we have  $K(X, K(Y, \xi)) = \eta(\nabla_X \xi)\eta(\nabla_Y \xi)\xi$  and so, we obtain that

$$K(X, K(Y, \xi)) = K(Y, K(X, \xi)).$$
 (4.13)

Using (4.1) and (4.13) in (4.7) and (4.8), we reach the equations (4.9)-(4.12) and the proof completes. 

Now, let us give the relations between the Ricci tensor  $\tilde{S}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the Ricci tensors S and S<sup>\*</sup> of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ , respectively.

**Theorem 4.6.** Let  $(M, \nabla, g, \Phi, \eta, \xi)$  be a (2n+1)-dimensional Sasakian statistical manifold. Then, the relations between the Ricci tensors of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ , respectively, are

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}(X,Y) &= S(X,Y) - (2n-1)g(\Phi X, \Phi Y + Y) \\ &\quad -\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} g((\nabla_X K)(e_i,e_i) - (\nabla_{e_i} K)(X,e_i) - K(X,K(e_i,e_i)) + K(e_i,K(X,e_i)),Y) \\ &= S^*(X,Y) - (2n-1)g(\Phi X, \Phi Y + Y) \\ &\quad +\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} g((\nabla_X^* K)(e_i,e_i) - (\nabla_{e_i}^* K)(X,e_i) + K(X,K(e_i,e_i)) - K(e_i,K(X,e_i)),Y), \end{split}$$
(4.14)

for all vector fields X and Y on M.

~ /--- -->

*Proof.* Using (4.1) and (4.7) in the equation  $\tilde{S}(X,Y) = \sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} g(\tilde{R}(X,e_i)e_i,Y)$ , we get (4.14). Similarly, using (4.1) and (4.8) in the equation

$$\tilde{S}(X,Y) = \sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} g(\tilde{R}(X,e_i)e_i,Y), \text{ we get (4.15).}$$

Here, let us give the relations between the scalar curvature  $\tilde{\tau}$  of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the scalar curvatures  $\tau$  and  $\tau^*$  of the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ .

**Theorem 4.7.** Let  $(M, \nabla, g, \Phi, \eta, \xi)$  be a (2n + 1)-dimensional Sasakian statistical manifold. Then, the relations between the scalar curvature of semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  and the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^*$ , respectively, are

$$\tilde{\tau} = \tau + 2n - 4n^2 - \sum_{i,j=1}^{2n+1} g((\nabla_{e_j} K)(e_i, e_i) - (\nabla_{e_i} K)(e_j, e_i) - K(e_j, K(e_i, e_i)) + K(e_i, K(e_j, e_i)), e_j)$$
(4.16)

$$=\tau^{*}+2n-4n^{2}+\sum_{i,j=1}^{2n+1}g((\nabla_{e_{j}}^{*}K)(e_{i},e_{i})-(\nabla_{e_{i}}^{*}K)(e_{j},e_{i})+K(e_{j},K(e_{i},e_{i}))-K(e_{i},K(e_{j},e_{i})),e_{j}).$$
(4.17)

*Proof.* Using (4.14) and (4.15) in the equation  $\tilde{\tau} = \sum_{j=1}^{2n+1} \tilde{S}(e_j, e_j)$ , we get (4.16) and (4.17), respectively.

Finally, let us construct an example of a 3-dimensional Sasakian manifold with statistical structure admitting the semi-symmetric metric connection in order to verify our results.

**Example 4.8.** Let us consider the 3-dimensional manifold  $M = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3, z \neq 0\}$ , where (x, y, z) are the standard coordinates in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . We choose the vector fields  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$  as

$$e_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, e_2 = -x\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, e_3 = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}$$

which are linearly independent at each point of M.

Let g be the Riemannian metric defined by  $g(e_i, e_j) = 0$ ,  $i \neq j$ , i, j = 1, 2, 3 and  $g(e_k, e_k) = 1$ , k = 1, 2, 3. Let  $\eta$  be the 1-form defined by  $\eta(Z) = g(Z, e_3)$ , for any  $Z \in \chi(M)$ , where  $\chi(M)$  is the set of all differentiable vector fields on M. Let  $\phi$  be the (1, 1)-tensor field defined by

$$\phi e_1 = -e_2, \ \phi e_2 = e_1, \ \phi e_3 = 0. \tag{4.18}$$

Using the linearity of  $\phi$  and g, we have  $\eta(e_3) = 1$ ,  $\phi^2 Z = -Z + \eta(Z)e_3$  and  $g(\phi Z, \phi U) = g(Z,U) - \eta(Z)\eta(U)$ , for any  $U, Z \in \chi(M)$ . Thus, for  $e_3 = \xi$ ,  $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g)$  defines an almost contact metric structure on M. Now, we have

 $[e_1, e_2] = -e_1 + 2e_3, \ [e_1, e_3] = 0, \ [e_2, e_3] = 0.$ 

The Levi-Civita connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  of the metric tensor g is given by Koszul's formula which is defined as

$$2g(\hat{\nabla}_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(X, Z) - Zg(X, Y) - g(X, [Y, Z]) - g(Y, [X, Z]) + g(Z, [X, Y]).$$

Taking  $e_3 = \xi$  and using Koszul's formula, we get the following

$$\nabla_{e_1}e_1 = e_2, \ \nabla_{e_1}e_2 = -e_1 + e_3, \ \nabla_{e_1}e_3 = -e_2, 
\hat{\nabla}_{e_2}e_1 = -e_3, \ \hat{\nabla}_{e_2}e_2 = 0, \ \hat{\nabla}_{e_2}e_3 = e_1, 
\hat{\nabla}_{e_3}e_1 = -e_2, \ \hat{\nabla}_{e_3}e_2 = e_1, \ \hat{\nabla}_{e_3}e_3 = 0.$$
(4.19)

From the above, it can be easily seen that  $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g)$  is a Sasakian structure on M. Consequently,  $(M, \phi, \xi, \eta, g)$  is a 3-dimensional Sasakian manifold.

Now, the components of the curvature tensors, Ricci tensors and scalar curvature with respect to the Levi-Civita connection  $\hat{\nabla}$  are obtained by

$$\begin{split} \hat{R}(e_1,e_2)e_1 &= 4e_2, \ \hat{R}(e_1,e_2)e_2 = -4e_1, \ \hat{R}(e_1,e_2)e_3 = 0, \\ \hat{R}(e_1,e_3)e_1 &= -e_3, \ \hat{R}(e_1,e_3)e_2 = 0, \ \hat{R}(e_1,e_3)e_3 = e_1, \\ \hat{R}(e_2,e_3)e_1 &= 0, \ \hat{R}(e_2,e_3)e_2 = -e_3, \ \hat{R}(e_2,e_3)e_3 = e_2, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \hat{S}(e_1,e_1) &= -3, \ \hat{S}(e_1,e_2) = 0, \ \hat{S}(e_1,e_3) = 0, \\ \hat{S}(e_2,e_1) &= 0, \ \hat{S}(e_2,e_2) = -3, \ \hat{S}(e_2,e_3) = 0, \\ \hat{S}(e_3,e_1) &= 0, \ \hat{S}(e_3,e_2) = 0, \ \hat{S}(e_3,e_3) = 2 \end{split}$$

and

 $\hat{\tau} = -4$ ,

respectively.

Here, let us add a statistical structure to this Sasakian manifold. From (2.2) and (4.19), we have

$$\nabla_{e_1}e_1 = e_2 + K(e_1, e_1), \ \nabla_{e_1}e_2 = -e_1 + e_3 + K(e_1, e_2), \ \nabla_{e_1}e_3 = -e_2 + K(e_1, e_3), 
\nabla_{e_2}e_1 = -e_3 + K(e_2, e_1), \ \nabla_{e_2}e_2 = K(e_2, e_2), \ \nabla_{e_2}e_3 = e_1 + K(e_2, e_3), 
\nabla_{e_3}e_1 = -e_2 + K(e_3, e_1), \ \nabla_{e_3}e_2 = e_1 + K(e_3, e_2), \ \nabla_{e_3}e_3 = K(e_3, e_3).$$
(4.20)

So, the components of the curvature tensors, Ricci tensors and scalar curvature with respect to the torsion-free connection  $\nabla$  are obtained by

$$\begin{split} & R(e_{1},e_{2})e_{1} = 4e_{2} + K(e_{1},e_{1}) - 3K(e_{1},e_{3}) - K(e_{2},e_{2}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{2},e_{1}) - \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{1},e_{1}), \\ & R(e_{1},e_{2})e_{2} = -4e_{1} + 2K(e_{1},e_{2}) - 3K(e_{2},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{2},e_{2}) - \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{1},e_{2}), \\ & R(e_{1},e_{2})e_{3} = K(e_{1},e_{1}) + K(e_{1},e_{3}) + K(e_{2},e_{2}) - 2K(e_{3},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{2},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{1},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{1},e_{3})e_{1} = -e_{3} - K(e_{1},e_{2}) - K(e_{2},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{3},e_{1}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{1},e_{1}), \\ & R(e_{1},e_{3})e_{2} = K(e_{1},e_{1}) + K(e_{1},e_{3}) - K(e_{3},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{3},e_{2}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{1},e_{2}), \\ & R(e_{1},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{1} + K(e_{2},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{1}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{1},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{1} = -K(e_{2},e_{2}) + K(e_{3},e_{3}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{1}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{1}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{2} = -e_{3} + K(e_{2},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{2}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{2}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{1}) + \nabla_{e_{2}}K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla_{e_{3}}K(e_{2},e_{3}), \\ & R(e_{2},e_{3})e_{3} = e_{2} - K(e_{3},e_{3}) - \nabla$$

$$\begin{split} S(e_1, e_1) &= -3 + g(2K(e_1, e_2) - 2K(e_2, e_3) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_2) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_3), e_1), \\ S(e_1, e_2) &= g(2K(e_1, e_2) - 2K(e_2, e_3) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_2) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_3), e_2), \\ S(e_1, e_3) &= g(2K(e_1, e_2) - 2K(e_2, e_3) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_2) + \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_3), e_3), \\ S(e_2, e_1) &= g(-K(e_1, e_1) + 2K(e_1, e_3) + K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_3), e_1), \\ S(e_2, e_2) &= -3 + g(-K(e_1, e_1) + 2K(e_1, e_3) + K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_3), e_2), \\ S(e_2, e_3) &= g(-K(e_1, e_1) + 2K(e_1, e_3) + K(e_2, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_2, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_3) - \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_3), e_3), \\ S(e_3, e_1) &= g(K(e_3, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_1) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_2) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_2), e_1), \\ S(e_3, e_2) &= g(K(e_3, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_1) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_2) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_2), e_2), \\ S(e_3, e_3) &= 2 + g(K(e_3, e_2) - \nabla_{e_1}K(e_3, e_1) - \nabla_{e_2}K(e_3, e_2) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_1, e_1) + \nabla_{e_3}K(e_2, e_2), e_3) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \tau &= -4 + g(K(K(e_1, e_2), e_2) - K(e_1, K(e_2, e_2)) + K(e_3, K(e_1, e_3)) - K(e_1, K(e_3, e_3)) \\ &\quad + (\nabla_{e_1} K)(e_2, e_2) - (\nabla_{e_2} K)(e_1, e_2) + (\nabla_{e_1} K)(e_3, e_3) - (\nabla_{e_3} K)(e_1, e_3), e_1) \\ &\quad + g(K(e_1, K(e_2, e_1)) - K(e_2, K(e_1, e_1)) - K(e_2, K(e_3, e_3)) + K(e_3, K(e_2, e_3))) \\ &\quad - (\nabla_{e_1} K)(e_2, e_1) + (\nabla_{e_2} K)(e_1, e_1) + (\nabla_{e_2} K)(e_3, e_3) - (\nabla_{e_3} K)(e_2, e_3), e_2) \\ &\quad + g(K(e_1, K(e_3, e_1)) + K(e_2, K(e_3, e_2)) - K(e_3, K(e_1, e_1)) - K(e_3, K(e_2, e_2))) \\ &\quad - (\nabla_{e_1} K)(e_3, e_1) - (\nabla_{e_2} K)(e_3, e_2) + (\nabla_{e_3} K)(e_1, e_1) + (\nabla_{e_3} K)(e_2, e_2), e_3), \end{aligned}$$
(4.23)

respectively. (Similarly, the above equations can be obtained for the dual connection  $\nabla^*$ .) Finally, from (4.6) (or from (3.1) for  $w = \eta$  and  $U = \xi$ ) and (4.19), we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\nabla}_{e_1} e_1 &= e_2 - e_3, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_1} e_2 = -e_1 + e_3, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_1} e_3 = -e_2 + e_1, \\ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_2} e_1 &= -e_3, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_2} e_2 = -e_3, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_2} e_3 = e_1 + e_2, \\ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_3} e_1 &= -e_2, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_3} e_2 = e_1, \ \tilde{\nabla}_{e_3} e_3 = 0. \end{split}$$

and the curvature tensors, Ricci tensors and scalar curvature with respect to the semi-symmetric metric connection  $\tilde{\nabla}$  are obtained as follows, respectively:

$$\tilde{R}(e_1, e_2)e_1 = 5e_2, \ \tilde{R}(e_1, e_2)e_2 = -5e_1, \ \tilde{R}(e_1, e_2)e_3 = 0, 
\tilde{R}(e_1, e_3)e_1 = -e_3, \ \tilde{R}(e_1, e_3)e_2 = -e_3, \ \tilde{R}(e_1, e_3)e_3 = e_1 + e_2, 
\tilde{R}(e_2, e_3)e_1 = e_3, \ \tilde{R}(e_2, e_3)e_2 = -e_3, \ \tilde{R}(e_2, e_3)e_3 = e_2 - e_1,$$
(4.24)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}(e_1, e_1) &= -4, \ \tilde{S}(e_1, e_2) = 1, \ \tilde{S}(e_1, e_3) = 0, \\ \tilde{S}(e_2, e_1) &= -1, \ \tilde{S}(e_2, e_2) = -4, \ \tilde{S}(e_2, e_3) = 0, \\ \tilde{S}(e_3, e_1) &= 0, \ \tilde{S}(e_3, e_2) = 0, \ \tilde{S}(e_3, e_3) = 2 \end{split}$$

$$(4.25)$$

and

$$\tilde{\tau} = -6. \tag{4.26}$$

Hence, one can easily see that, from (4.1), (4.18), (4.21) and (4.24), the equation (4.7) in Theorem 4.4 is verified; from (4.1), (4.18), (4.22) and (4.25), the equation (4.14) in Theorem 4.6 is verified and from (4.23) and (4.26), the equation (4.16) in Theorem 4.7 is verified for n = 1. Similarly, obtaining the above equations for dual connection  $\nabla^*$ , one can easily see that, the equations (4.8), (4.15) and (4.17) are verified, too.

Now, by choosing the difference tensor field K as in Example 4.3, we'll obtain the equations (4.20)-(4.23) in the following Example.

**Example 4.9.** If we choose the difference tensor field K as  $K(X,Y) = 3\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi$ , then the equations (4.20)-(4.23) are obtained as

$$\begin{aligned}
\nabla_{e_1}e_1 &= e_2, \ \nabla_{e_1}e_2 = -e_1 + e_3, \ \nabla_{e_1}e_3 = -e_2, \\
\nabla_{e_2}e_1 &= -e_3, \ \nabla_{e_2}e_2 = 0, \ \nabla_{e_2}e_3 = e_1, \\
\nabla_{e_3}e_1 &= -e_2, \ \nabla_{e_3}e_2 = e_1, \ \nabla_{e_3}e_3 = 3e_3, \\
R(e_1, e_2)e_1 &= 4e_2, \ R(e_1, e_2)e_2 = -4e_1, \ R(e_1, e_2)e_3 = -6e_3, \\
R(e_1, e_3)e_1 &= -e_3, \ R(e_1, e_3)e_2 = -3e_3, \ R(e_1, e_3)e_3 = e_1 - 3e_2, \\
R(e_2, e_3)e_1 &= 3e_3, \ R(e_2, e_3)e_2 = -e_3, \ R(e_2, e_3)e_3 = e_2 + 3e_1, \end{aligned}$$
(4.27)

$$S(e_1, e_1) = -3, S(e_1, e_2) = -3, S(e_1, e_3) = 0,$$
  

$$S(e_2, e_1) = 3, S(e_2, e_2) = -3, S(e_2, e_3) = 0,$$
  

$$S(e_3, e_1) = 0, S(e_3, e_2) = 0, S(e_3, e_3) = 2$$
(4.28)

and

(4.29) $\tau = -4.$ 

Here, one can easily see that, from (4.1), (4.18), (4.24)-(4.26) and (4.27)-(4.29), the Theorems 4.4, 4.6 and 4.7 are verified.

#### References

- [1] C. R. Rao, Information and accuracy attainable in the estimation of statistical parameters, Bull. Calcutta Math. Soc., 37 (1945), 81–91.
- [2] N. Ay, W. Tuschmann, Dually flat manifolds and global information geometry, Open Syst. Inf. Dyn., 9 (2002), 195-200.
- [3] A. S. Diallo, L. Todjihounde, Dualistic structures on twisted product manifolds, Global J. Adv. Res. Cl. Mod. Geom., 4(1) (2015), 35-43.
- [4] S. Amari, *Differential-geometrical methods in statistics*, Lecture Notes in Statist., 28, Springer, New York, 1985.
  [5] A. M. Blaga, M. Crasmareanu, *Golden statistical structures*, Comptes rendus de l'Acad emie bulgare des Sci., 69(9) (2016), 1113-1120.
- [6] O. Calin, C. Udrişte, *Geometric Modeling in Probability and Statistics*, Springer, 2014.
  [7] H. Furuhata, *Hypersurfaces in statistical manifolds*, Differential Geom. Appl., 27 (2009), 420-429.

- [7] H. Furdhaud, *Hyperskiptees and statistical manifolds*, Differential Geom. Appl., 27 (2007), 450 422.
   [8] T. Kurose, *Dual connections and affine geometry*, Math. Z., 203 (1990), 115-121.
   [9] H. Matsuzoe, J. I. Takeuchi, S. I. Amari, *Equiaffine structures on statistical manifolds and Bayesian statistics*, Differential Geom. Appl., 24 (2006),
- 567–578.
  [10] M. Noguchi, *Geometry of statistical manifolds*, Differential Geom. Appl., 2 (1992), 197-222.
  [11] S. Sasaki, *On differentiable manifolds with certain structures which are closely related to almost contact structure*, *I*, Tohoku Math. J., 12(2), (1960), 459-476

- K. Kenmotsu, A class of almost contact Riemannian manifolds, Tohoku Math. J., 24 (1972), 93–103.
   J. A. Oubina, New classes of almost contact metric structures, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 32 (1985), 187-193.
   A. D. Vilcu, G. E. Vilcu, Statistical manifolds with almost quaternionic structures and quaternionic Kähler-like statistical submersions, Entropy, 17 (2015), 6213-6228.
- [15] H. Furuhata, I. Hasegawa, Y. Okuyama, K. Sato, M. H. Shahid, Sasakian statistical manifolds, J. Geom. Phys., 117 (2017), 179-186.
- [16] H. Furuhata, I. Hasegawa, Y. Okuyama, K. Sato, Kenmotsu statistical manifolds and warped product, J. Geom., (2017), doi: 10.1007/s00022-017-0403-1. [17] J. Zhang, A note on curvature of  $\alpha$ -connections of a statistical manifold, Ann. Inst. Statist. Math., 59 (2007), 161-170.
- [18] H. A. Hayden, Subspace of a space with torsion, Proc. London Math. Soc. II Series, 34 (1932), 27-50.
- [19] A. Friedmann, J. A. Schouten, Über die geometric der halbsymmetrischen Übertragung, Math. Z., 21 (1924), 211–223.
- [20] D. E. Blair, Contact manifolds in Riemannian geometry, Lect. Notes Math., 509, Springer, 1976.
- [21] K. Yano, On semi-symmetric connection, Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl., 15 (1970), 1570–1586.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.433172



# Different Computational Approach for Sumudu Integral Transform by Using Differential Transform Method

Murat Gübeş<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>PhD student, Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Selçuk University, Konya, Turkey \*Corresponding author

**Article Info** 

#### Abstract

Keywords: Sumudu transform, Differential transform method, Numerical solutions, Computational method 2010 AMS: 00A69, 34A25, 44A10, 65R10 Received: 12 June 2018 Accepted: 3 September 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018

In this work, we present a different technique for calculation of Sumudu Integral Transform (SIT) by considering differential transform method (DTM). By means of our technique, Sumudu Transform of functions is obtained easily without complicated integration procedures.

#### 1. Introduction

In mathematical calculus, integral transforms are a specific branch that has used various applied area. In 1993, Watugala introduced a new integral transform called Sumudu Integral Transform (SIT) to solve differential equations and engineering problems [1]. The Sumudu Transform of the function f(t) is defined over the set of A (seen [1], [2], [3], [4])

$$A = \{ f(t) : \exists M, \tau_1, \tau_2 > 0, |f(t)| < Me^{\frac{|t|}{\tau_i}}, if \quad t \in (-1)^i \times [0, \infty) \}$$

as below formula

$$F(u) = S[f(t):u] = \int_0^\infty f(ut)e^{-t}dt \quad u \in (-\tau_1, \tau_2)$$
(1.1)

Also, modified version of (1.1) is presented as

$$F(u) = \int_0^\infty \frac{f(t)e^{-\frac{t}{u}}}{u} dt \quad u \in (-\tau_1, \tau_2)$$
(1.2)

by Watugala [1], [4] and Belgacem [2], [3]. Hereafter, many authors consider the Sumudu Integral Transform to investigate properties, applications and relations with other transforms [1]-[10].

In recent time, homotopy perturbation, differential transform and adomian decomposition methods are applied to find Laplace transform as seen [11],[12],[13] respectively. Furthermore, homotopy perturbation method is also applied to Sumudu transform [8].

The goal of this paper is to present a different approach to obtain Sumudu transform of functions. In order to do this, we use the differential transform method (DTM) and first order initial value problem which has a solution that corresponds to Sumudu transform of desired functions. DTM is very famous and powerful analytic technique and it does not required complex integration process. So, very accurate and efficient results are obtained easily.

Email address and ORCID number: mrtgbs@gmail.com, 0000-0002-1876-5218 (M. Gübeş)

Functions	Transformed form of functions
$v(t) = e^{at}$	$V(k) = \frac{a^k}{k!}$
$v(t) = \cos(at)$	$V(k) = \{ \begin{array}{ccc} \frac{a^{k}(-1)^{\frac{k}{2}}}{k!}, \ if  k  even \\ 0, \qquad if  k  odd \end{array} \right.$
$v(t) = \sin(at)$	$V(k) = \{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{a^{k}(-1)^{\frac{k-1}{2}}}{k!}, if & k & odd \\ 0, & if & k & even \end{array} $
$v(t) = \cosh(at)$	$V(k) = \{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{a^k}{k!}, \ if  k  even \\ 0, \ if  k  odd \end{array} $
$v(t) = \sinh(at)$	$V(k) = \{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{d^k}{k!}, \ if  k  odd \\ 0, \ if  k  even \end{array} $

Table 1: Basic transformations of DTM for some functions.

#### 2. Basic idea of DTM

The differential transform of the analytical v(t) function is defined (seen [14], [15], [16], [17]) as

$$V(k) = \frac{1}{k!} \left[ \frac{d^k}{dt^k} v(t) \right]_{t=0}$$
(2.1)

where V(k) is the transformed function of v(t) which is called spectrum function. And the inverse transform of V(k) is defined (seen [14], [15], [16], [17]) as

$$v(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(k)t^k$$
(2.2)

Combining (2.1) and (2.2), we obtain the DTM solution of v(t) as follow

$$v(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{k!} \left[ \frac{d^k}{dt^k} v(t) \right]_{t=0} t^k + R_{n+1}(t)$$
(2.3)

Here  $R_{n+1}(t) = \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} V(k)t^k$  are remaining terms of solution series. Some of the transformed functions are presented in Table 1.

#### 3. Results by using DTM

**Theorem 3.1.** Let v(t) is an analytic function and r is positive constant. Also, we consider the linear initial value problem as follow

$$v(t)' = \frac{1}{r}v(t) + \frac{1}{r}q(t)$$

$$v(0) = 0$$
(3.1)

Then, the Sumudu transform of q(t) is

$$S[q(t)] = \left[e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty}V(i)t^{i}\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty}$$

*Here*, V(i) *is differential transform of* v(t)*.* 

*Proof.* First of all, we can write the solution of (3.1) as

$$v(t) = e^{\frac{t}{r}} \left( \int \frac{q(t)e^{-\frac{t}{r}}}{r} dt \right)$$
(3.2)

and by rewriting two side of (3.2) from zero to infinity, we obtain the relation between (3.2) and Sumudu transform as follow

$$\left[v(t)e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty} = \left(\int_0^\infty \frac{q(t)e^{-\frac{t}{r}}}{r}dt\right)$$
(3.3)

It is clearly seen that right hand side of (3.3) is the definition of Sumudu transform of q(t) as seen in (1.2). In order to find Sumudu transform of q(t), we construct the differential transformed form of (3.1) as

$$V(i+1) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{Q(i)}{i+1}$$

$$V(0) = 0$$
(3.4)

where V(i), Q(i) are differential transformed functions of v(t) and q(t) respectively. Then, by using the inverse differential transform as in (2.2), (2.3), we obtain the DTM solution of v(t) as

$$v(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^i$$
(3.5)

Finally, put (3.5) into (3.3), we find the sumudu transform of q(t) as

$$S[q(t)] = \left(\int_0^\infty \frac{q(t)e^{-\frac{t}{r}}}{r}dt\right) = \left[e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\sum_{i=0}^\infty V(i)t^i\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty}$$
(3.6)

This completes the proof.

The following illustrations are given to show accuracy, efficiency and easy applicability of our approach to find Sumudu transform of functions.

**Case 1:** In the Theorem 3.1, let  $q(t) = e^{at}$ . Then considering (3.4) and transformed form of  $q(t) = e^{at}$ , we can write

$$V(i+1) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r(i+1)} \frac{a^i}{i!}$$
$$V(0) = 0$$

Some of the V(i) are obtained as

$$V(1) = \frac{1}{r} \quad V(2) = \frac{1+ar}{2!r^2} \quad V(3) = \frac{1+ar+a^2r^2}{3!r^3}$$

$$V(4) = \frac{1+ar+a^2r^2+a^3r^3}{4!r^4} \quad V(5) = \frac{1+ar+a^2r^2+a^3r^3+a^4r^4}{5!r^5}$$

$$V(6) = \frac{1+ar+a^2r^2+a^3r^3+a^4r^4+a^5r^5}{6!r^6}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$(3.7)$$

From (3.5) and from (3.7), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(\frac{t}{r} + \frac{t^{2}}{2!r^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \cdots\right) + ar\left(\frac{t^{2}}{2!r^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \cdots\right) + a^{2}r^{2}\left(\frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \cdots\right) + a^{3}r^{3}\left(\frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \cdots\right) + \cdots$$

$$(3.8)$$

And the equation (3.8) can be written as equivalently following

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1\right) + ar\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r}\right) + a^{2}r^{2}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}}\right) + a^{3}r^{3}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}}\right) + a^{4}r^{4}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}}\right) + \cdots$$
(3.9)

Finally, by using (3.6) and (3.9) we find the Sumudu transform of  $e^{at}$ 

$$S[e^{at}] = \left\{ e^{-\frac{t}{r}} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 \right) + ar \times e^{-\frac{t}{r}} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} \right) + a^2 r^2 \times e^{-\frac{t}{r}} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^2}{2r^2} \right) + \cdots \right\}_{t=0}^{t=\infty}$$
$$= 1 + ar + a^2 r^2 + a^3 r^3 + a^4 r^4 + a^5 r^5 + a^6 r^6 + \cdots$$
$$= \frac{1}{1 - ar}$$

**Case 2:** In the Theorem 3.1, let q(t) = cos(at). Then, from (3.4) and Table 1 we can write

$$V(i+1) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r(i+1)} \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{a^{i}(-1)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{i!}, & i \text{ even} \\ 0, & i \text{ odd} \end{array} \right.$$
$$V(0) = 0$$

Thus, V(i) are obtained as

$$V(1) = \frac{1}{r} \quad V(2) = \frac{1+ar}{2!r^2} \quad V(3) = \frac{1-a^2r^2}{3!r^3} \quad V(4) = \frac{1-a^2r^2}{4!r^4}$$

$$V(5) = \frac{1-a^2r^2+a^4r^4}{5!r^5} \quad V(6) = \frac{1-a^2r^2+a^4r^4}{6!r^6}$$

$$V(7) = \frac{1-a^2r^2+a^4r^4-a^6r^6}{7!r^7} \quad V(8) = \frac{1-a^2r^2+a^4r^4-a^6r^6}{8!r^8}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$(3.10)$$

Using the (3.5) and (3.10), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(\frac{t}{r} + \frac{t^{2}}{2!r^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \cdots\right) - a^{2}r^{2}\left(\frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \cdots\right) + a^{4}r^{4}\left(\frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \cdots\right) - a^{6}r^{6}\left(\frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \frac{t^{9}}{9!r^{9}} + \frac{t^{10}}{10!r^{10}} + \cdots\right) \pm \cdots$$
(3.11)

The (3.11) can be rewritten as follow

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1\right) - a^{2}r^{2}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}}\right) + a^{4}r^{4}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}}\right) - a^{6}r^{6}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} - \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} - \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}}\right) \pm \cdots$$

At the end, the Sumudu transform of  $\cos(at)$ 

$$\begin{split} S[\cos(at)] &= \left(1 - \frac{1}{e^{\frac{t}{r}}}\right)_{t=0}^{t=\infty} -a^2 r^2 \left(1 - \frac{1}{e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t}{re^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^2}{2r^2 e^{\frac{t}{r}}}\right)_{t=0}^{t=\infty} + a^4 r^4 \left(1 - \frac{1}{e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^2}{2r^2 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^3}{3!r^3 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^4}{4!r^4 e^{\frac{t}{r}}}\right)_{t=0}^{t=\infty} \\ &- a^6 r^6 \left(1 - \frac{1}{e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t}{re^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^2}{2r^2 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^3}{3!r^3 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^4}{4!r^4 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^5}{5!r^5 e^{\frac{t}{r}}} - \frac{t^6}{6!r^6 e^{\frac{t}{r}}}\right)_{t=0}^{t=\infty} \pm \cdots \\ &= 1 - a^2 r^2 + a^4 r^4 - a^6 r^6 + a^8 r^8 - a^{10} r^{10} \pm \cdots \\ &= \frac{1}{1 + a^2 r^2} \end{split}$$

**Case 3:** In the Theorem 3.1, let  $q(t) = \frac{\sin(at)}{t}$ . Again, by considering (3.4) and Table 1 we can write

$$V(i+1) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r(i+1)} \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{a^i(-1)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{(i+1)!}, & i & even \\ 0, & i & odd \end{array} \right.$$

$$V(0) = 0$$
(3.12)

In that case, we can write some of V(i) as

$$V(1) = \frac{1}{r} \quad V(2) = \frac{1}{2!r^2} \quad V(3) = \frac{3 - a^2r^2}{3 \times 3!r^3} \quad V(4) = \frac{3 - a^2r^2}{3 \times 4!r^4}$$

$$V(5) = \frac{15 - 5a^2r^2 + 3a^4r^4}{15 \times 5!r^5} \quad V(6) = \frac{15 - 5a^2r^2 + 3a^4r^4}{15 \times 6!r^6}$$

$$V(7) = \frac{105 - 35a^2r^2 + 21a^4r^4 - 15a^6r^6}{105 \times 7!r^7}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$(3.13)$$

By considering (3.5) in the Theorem 3.1 and using (3.13), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = a\left(\frac{t}{ar} + \frac{t^{2}}{2!ar^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!ar^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!ar^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!ar^{5}} + \cdots\right) - \frac{1}{3}a^{3}r^{2}\left(\frac{t^{3}}{3!ar^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!ar^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!ar^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!ar^{6}} + \cdots\right) + \frac{1}{5}a^{5}r^{4}\left(\frac{t^{5}}{5!ar^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!ar^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!ar^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!ar^{8}} + \cdots\right) - \frac{1}{7}a^{7}r^{6}\left(\frac{t^{7}}{7!ar^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!ar^{8}} + \frac{t^{9}}{9!ar^{9}} + \frac{t^{10}}{10!ar^{10}} + \cdots\right) \pm \cdots$$

$$(3.14)$$

The (3.14) can be rewritten equally as below

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = a \left[ \frac{1}{a} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 \right) \right] - \frac{a^{3}r^{2}}{3} \left[ \frac{1}{a} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} \right) \right] + \frac{a^{5}r^{4}}{5} \left[ \frac{1}{a} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} \right) \right] - \frac{a^{7}r^{6}}{7} \left[ \frac{1}{a} \left( e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} - \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} - \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} \right) \right] \pm \cdots$$

Finally, by using (3.6) we obtain the Sumudu transform of  $\frac{\sin(at)}{t}$ 

$$S\left[\frac{\sin(at)}{t}\right] = \left[e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty}V(i)t^{i}\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty} = a - \frac{a^{3}r^{2}}{3} + \frac{a^{5}r^{4}}{5} - \frac{a^{7}r^{6}}{7} \pm \dots = \frac{\tan^{-1}(ar)}{r}$$

**Case 4:** In the Theorem 3.1, let  $q(t) = \sinh(at)$ . Then, considering (3.4) and Table 1 we can write

$$V(i+1) = \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r(i+1)} \begin{cases} \frac{a'}{i!}, i & odd \\ 0, i & even \end{cases}$$
(3.15)  
$$V(0) = 0$$

By means of (3.15), V(i) are obtained following

$$V(1) = 0 \quad V(2) = \frac{a}{2!r} \quad V(3) = \frac{a}{3!r^2} \quad V(4) = \frac{a(1+a^2r^2)}{4!r^3}$$

$$V(5) = \frac{a(1+a^2r^2)}{5!r^4} \quad V(6) = \frac{a(1+a^2r^2+a^4r^4)}{6!r^5}$$

$$V(7) = \frac{a(1+a^2r^2+a^4r^4)}{7!r^6} \quad V(8) = \frac{a(1+a^2r^2+a^4r^4+a^6r^6)}{8!r^7}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$

$$(3.16)$$

From (3.5) in the Theorem 3.1 and from (3.16), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = ar\left(\frac{t^{2}}{2!r^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \cdots\right) + a^{3}r^{3}\left(\frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \cdots\right) + a^{5}r^{5}\left(\frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \cdots\right) + a^{7}r^{7}\left(\frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \frac{t^{9}}{9!r^{9}} + \frac{t^{10}}{10!r^{10}} + \cdots\right) + \cdots$$
(3.17)

And the equation (3.17) can be written as equivalently below

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = ar\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r}\right) + a^{3}r^{3}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}}\right) + a^{5}r^{5}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} - \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}}\right) + a^{7}r^{7}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} - \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} - \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} - \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}}\right) + \cdots$$

As a results, we find the Sumudu transform of  $\sinh(at)$ 

$$S[\sinh(at)] = \left[e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty}V(i)t^{i}\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty} = ar + a^{3}r^{3} + a^{5}r^{5} + a^{7}r^{7} + a^{9}r^{9} + \dots = \frac{ar}{1 - a^{2}r^{2}}$$

**Case 5:** In the Theorem 3.1, let  $q(t) = \cosh(at)$ . Then, considering (3.4) and Table 1 we can write

$$\begin{split} V(i+1) &= \frac{1}{r} \frac{V(i)}{i+1} + \frac{1}{r(i+1)} \{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{d^{i}}{i!}, \ i & even \\ 0, \ i & odd \\ V(0) &= 0 \end{split}$$

Hence, some of the V(i) are obtained as

$$V(1) = \frac{1}{r} \quad V(2) = \frac{1}{2!r^2} \quad V(3) = \frac{1+a^2r^2}{3!r^3} \quad V(4) = \frac{1+a^2r^2}{4!r^4}$$
$$V(5) = \frac{1+a^2r^2+a^4r^4}{5!r^5} \quad V(6) = \frac{1+a^2r^2+a^4r^4}{6!r^6}$$
$$\vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots \qquad \vdots$$
(3.18)

Once again, by using (3.5) in the Theorem 3.1 and from (3.18), we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(\frac{t}{r} + \frac{t^{2}}{2!r^{2}} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \cdots\right) + a^{2}r^{2}\left(\frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} + \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} + \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \cdots\right) + a^{4}r^{4}\left(\frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} + \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}} + \frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \cdots\right) + a^{6}r^{6}\left(\frac{t^{7}}{7!r^{7}} + \frac{t^{8}}{8!r^{8}} + \frac{t^{9}}{9!r^{9}} + \frac{t^{10}}{10!r^{10}} + \cdots\right) + \cdots$$
(3.19)

The (3.19) can be rewritten equally as follow

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} V(i)t^{i} = \left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1\right) + a^{2}r^{2}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}}\right) + a^{4}r^{4}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}}\right) + a^{6}r^{6}\left(e^{\frac{t}{r}} - 1 - \frac{t}{r} - \frac{t^{2}}{2r^{2}} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!r^{3}} - \frac{t^{4}}{4!r^{4}} - \frac{t^{5}}{5!r^{5}} - \frac{t^{6}}{6!r^{6}}\right) + \cdots$$
(3.20)

Finally, we find the Sumudu transform of  $\cosh(at)$ 

$$S[\sinh(at)] = \left[e^{-\frac{t}{r}}\sum_{i=0}^{\infty}V(i)t^{i}\right]_{t=0}^{t=\infty} = 1 + a^{2}r^{2} + a^{4}r^{4} + a^{6}r^{6} + a^{8}r^{8} + \dots = \frac{1}{1 - a^{2}r^{2}}$$

#### 4. Conclusion

As a result, we use the differential transform method (DTM) to find Sumudu Transform of functions as a different way. Moreover, contrary to the literature we obtain the Sumudu transform of functions easily without complex integration and long calculations.

#### References

- [1] G. K. Watugala, Sumudu transform: a new integral transform to solve differential equations and control engineering problems, Internat. J. Math. Ed. Sci. Tech., 24(1) (1993), 35-43.
- F. B. M. Belgacem, A. A. Karaballi, S. L. Kalla, Analytical investigations of the Sumudu transform and applications to integral production equations, [2] Math. Probl. Eng., 3 (2003), 103-118.
- [3] F. B. M. Belgacem, Sumulu transform applications to Bessel functions and equations, Appl. Math. Sci., 4 (2010), 3665–3686.
- [4] G. K. Watugala, Sumudu transform new integral transform to solve differential equations and control engineering problems, Math. Engrg. Ind., 6(4) (1998), 319-329.
- [5] A. Kilicman, H. E. Gadain, An Application of Double Laplace transform and double Sumudu transform, Lobachevskii J. Math., 30(3) (2009), 214–223.
   [6] A. Kilicman, H. E. Gadain, On the applications of Laplace and Sumudu transforms, J. Franklin Inst., 347(5) (2010), 848–862.
- [7] M. Zahid, M. A. Rana, T. Haroon, A. Siddiqui, Applications of Sumudu transform to MHD flows of an Oldroyd-B fluid, Appl. Math. Sci., 7 (2013),
- 7027–7036. [8] M. A. Rana, A. Siddiqui, Q. K. Ghori, R. Qamar, Application of He's Homotopy perturbation method to Sumudu transform, Int. J. Nonlinear Sci.
- Numer. Simul., **8**(2) (2007), 185–190. N. A. A. Rahman, M. Z. Ahmad, *Applications of the fuzzy Sumudu transform for the solution of first order Fuzzy differential equations*, Entropy, **17**(7) (2015), 4582–4601. [9]
- [10] O. M. Ogunlaran, H. S. Yusuf, Adomain Sumudu transform method for the Blasius equation, British J. Math. Comput. Sci., 14(3) (2016), 1-8.
- S. Abbasbandy, Applications of He's homotopy perturbation method for Laplace transform, Chaos Solitons Fractals, 30(5) (2006), 1206–1212. [11]
- [12] H. Fatoorehchi, H. Abolghasemi, N. Magesh, The differential transform method as a new computational tool for Laplace transforms, Nats. Akad. Sci. Lett., 38(2) (2015), 157-160.
- [13] E. Babolian, J. Biazar, A. R. Vahidi, A new computational method for Laplace transforms by decomposition method, Appl. Math. Comput., 150(3) (2004), 841-846
- [14] C. K. Chen, S. H. Ho, Solving partial differential equations by two-dimensional differential transform method, Appl. Math. Comput., 106(2-3) (1999), 171–179.
- [15] M. J. Jang, C. Li Chen and Y. C. Liy, On solving the initial-value problems using the differential transformation method, Appl. Math. Comput., 115(2-3) (2000), 145–160. [16] M. Gubes, H. A. Peker, G. Oturanc, Application of Differential transform method for El Nino southern oscillation (ENSO) model with compared
- Adomian decomposition and variational iteration methods, J. Math. Comput. Sci., 15(3) (2015), 167–178
- [17] M. Gubes, G. Oturanc, Approximate solutions of coupled Ramani equation by using RDTM with compared DTM and exact solutions, New Trends Math. Sci., 4 (2016), 198-212.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.430853



# Holditch-Type Theorem for Non-Linear Points in Generalized Complex Plane $\mathbb{C}_p$

Tülay Erişir<sup>a\*</sup> and Mehmet Ali Güngör<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Erzincan, Turkey <sup>b</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya, Turkey <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

Article ]	[nfo
-----------	------

#### Abstract

Keywords: Generalized complex plane, Holditch-type theorem, The polar moment of inertia 2010 AMS: 53A17, 53A40 Received: 5 June 2018 Accepted: 8 August 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 The generalized complex number system and generalized complex plane were studied by Yaglom [1, 2] and Harkin [3]. Moreover, Holditch-type theorem for linear points in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  were given by Erişir et al. [4]. The aim of this paper is to find the answers of the questions "How is the polar moments of inertia calculated for trajectories drawn by non-linear points in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ ?", "How is Holditch-type theorem expressed for these points in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ ?" and finally "Is this paper a new generalization of [4]?".

#### 1. Introduction and preliminaries

H. Holditch expressed the Holditch theorem in the article entitled "Geometrical Theorem" in 1858. Holditch theorem is stated that "If the end points of a chord, with constant length a + b, draw any closed curve, any point on this chord draw different closed curve. So, the area between these curves is always  $\pi ab$ ", [5]. The most important point of this classic Holditch theorem in Euclidean plane is that the area between these curves is independent of the selection of the curves. Thus, this theorem has attracted a lot of attention and been generalized with various methods and different perspectives. Then, Steiner calculated the area formula of the trajectory in a moving plane drawn by a point in the fixed plane in terms of Steiner points, [6].

Blaschke and Müller considered trajectories drawn by three points and generalized the Holditch theorem in Euclidean plane, [7]. Then, Hering expressed the Holditch theorem with respect to the length of the envelope curve with the aid of non-linear three points, [8]. Considering the above studies, there are many studies concerned with the Holditch theorem, [9, 10, 11].

The polar moment of inertia instead of area in Holditch theorem can be calculated by similar processes. Holditch theorem expressed in terms of the polar moment of inertia is called as "Holditch-type theorem".

Müller calculated the polar moment of inertia of the trajectory drawn by a point in the Euclidean plane. Moreover, Müller gave a conclusion that the geometric locus of all fixed points on the moving plane which has same polar moment of inertia is the circle with center which is Steiner point, [12]. Then, considering the study [12], there are lots of studies related to Holditch-type theorem, [13, 14, 15, 16, 17].

In the Euclidean plane, the Cauchy formula of the closed envelope of a family of the straight lines g and the length of the envelope of trajectories of straight lines were given by Blaschke and Müller, [7]. In the Lorentzian plane, the Cauchy formula for the envelope of a family of lines was given by Yüce and Kuruoğlu. Moreover, they proved the length of the envelope of trajectories of non-null lines and gave the Holditch theorem for the length of the envelope of trajectories for Lorentzian motion, [18].

The generalized complex number system is defined as

$$\mathbb{C}_{p} = \left\{ x + iy : x, y \in \mathbb{R}, \quad i^{2} = p \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$

and expressed by Yaglom and Harkins, [1, 2, 3]. This system involves in complex (p = -1), dual (p = 0) and hyperbolic (p = +1) number systems and also different planes for other values of p.

Considering the studies given by Yaglom and Harkins, some studies were done in the generalized complex plane. Gürses and Yüce considered the one parameter planar motion in Affine-Cayley Klein planes and p-complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_J = \{x + Jy : x, y \in \mathbb{R}, J^2 = p, p \in \{-1, 0, 1\}\} \subset \mathbb{C}_p$ , [19, 20]. Moreover, Erişir et. al. calculated the Steiner area formula and proved Holditch theorem in the generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$ ,

[21]. Then, they calculated the polar moment of inertia of trajectories under the one-parameter planar motion and proved Holditch-type theorem in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ , [4]. Moreover, Erişir and Güngör gave the Cauchy-length formula and proved Holditch theorem for non-linear points in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ , [22].

Now, using the above studies, we give some operations on this system. The addition, substraction and product on this generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$  are

$$Z_1 \pm Z_2 = (x_1 + iy_1) \pm (x_2 + iy_2) = x_1 \pm x_2 + i(y_1 \pm y_2)$$

and

$$M^{p}(Z_{1}, Z_{2}) = (x_{1}x_{2} + py_{1}y_{2}) + i(x_{1}y_{2} + x_{2}y_{1})$$

where  $Z_1 = (x_1 + iy_1)$ ,  $Z_2 = (x_2 + iy_2) \in \mathbb{C}_p$ , [2, 3]. In addition, the p-magnitude of  $Z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C}_p$  is

$$|Z|_{p} = \sqrt{|M^{p}(Z,\bar{Z})|} = \sqrt{|x^{2} - py^{2}|}.$$

The unit circle in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  is the set of points in the form  $|Z|_p = 1$ . So, now we consider the special values of p in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  as follows. 1) Let us consider p < 0. Thus, the generalized complex number system matches up with the elliptical complex number system. For p = -1, the unit circle in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  corresponds to the Euclidean unit circle and the plane  $\mathbb{C}_{-1}$  matches up with Euclidean plane. 2) If we consider p = 0, the plane  $\mathbb{C}_0$  matches up with Gallilean plane. The unit circle in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  corresponds to Gallilean circle.

3) We take p > 0. In this case, the generalized complex number system is equal to the hyperbolic complex number system. If we take p = 1, the plane  $\mathbb{C}_1$  corresponds to the Lorentzian plane, (Figure 1.1), [3].





So, we can give the following definition.

**Definition 1.1.** Let us consider a circle in the generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . This circle has the center M(a,b) and the radius r. So, the equation of this circle is

$$|(x-a)^2 - p(y-b)^2| = r^2$$

where  $i^2 = p \in \mathbb{R}$ , [3].

Now, we mention the angle in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . Let us consider  $\sigma \equiv y/x$  and Z = x + iy. So, we can write

$$\tan p\theta_p = \frac{\sin p\theta_p}{\cos p\theta_p},$$

[3]. In addition, the generalized Euler formula

$$e^{i\theta_{\rm p}} = \cos \mathrm{p}\theta_{\rm p} + i\sin \mathrm{p}\theta_{\rm p}$$

where  $i^2 = p$  in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . Thus, the polar and exponential forms of the generalized complex number Z is

$$z = r_{\rm p}(\cos p\theta_{\rm p} + i\sin p\theta_{\rm p}) = r_{\rm p}e^{i\theta}$$

where  $\theta_p$  and  $r_p = |Z|_p$  are p-argument and p-magnitude of generalized complex number Z, respectively. The p-rotation matrix obtained by  $e^{i\theta_p}$  is

$$A(\theta_{\rm p}) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos p\theta_{\rm p} & p\sin p\theta_{\rm p} \\ \sin p\theta_{\rm p} & \cos p\theta_{\rm p} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Moreover, the derivatives of the p-trigonometric functions cosp and sinp can be written by

$$\frac{d}{d\alpha}(\cos p\alpha) = p\sin p\alpha, \qquad \frac{d}{d\alpha}(\sin p\alpha) = \cos p\alpha,$$

[3].

Throughout this study, we consider one-parameter planar motion  $\mathbb{K}_p/\mathbb{K}'_p$  in generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . Moreover, we study in the branch I of  $\mathbb{C}_p$ .

Now, we mention Cauchy formula in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  which is used in this study. This formula in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  was studied by Erişir and Güngör in [22]. Let *g* be a line in the branch I of  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . So, the Hesse form of this line *g* in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  is written by

$$h = x_1 \cos p \psi_p - p x_2 \sin p \psi_p$$

where  $(h, \psi_p)$  is the Hesse coordinates in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  and  $h = h(\psi_p)$  is the distance to the origin *O* from the right line and the point  $X(x_1, x_2)$  is the contact point of the line *g* with the envelope curve (*g*). Moreover, the Cauchy-length formula in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  is written by

$$L = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|}} \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \left| \mathbf{p}h - \ddot{h} \right| d\psi_{\mathbf{p}}.$$

Similarly, we give the length of the enveloping curve (g) according to the fixed generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{K}'_p$ . So, we can write the Hesse form of the line *g* according to the fixed generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{K}'_p$  as

$$h' = x_1' \cos p\psi_p' - px_2' \sin p\psi_p'$$

where h' is the distance to the origin O' from the right line g. If the necessary operations are considered, it is obtained that

$$h' = h - u_1 \cos p \psi_p + p u_2 \sin p \psi_p.$$

So, we obtain that

$$L' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|}} \left| \mathbf{p}h\delta_{\mathbf{p}} - A\cos \mathbf{p}\psi_{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{p}B\sin \mathbf{p}\psi_{\mathbf{p}} \right|$$

where  $A = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} (pu_1 - \ddot{u}_1) d\theta_p$  and  $B = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} (pu_2 - \ddot{u}_2) d\theta_p$ .

Moreover, we know that

$$L' = \sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|} \left( \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \bar{q} d\theta_{\mathbf{p}} + L_Q^g \right)$$

where  $L_Q^g = q_2 \cos p\psi_p - q_1 \sin p\psi_p \Big|_{t_0}^{t_1}$  is the length of orthogonal projection of the line segment  $Q_1Q_2$  of the moving pole curve (Q) on the line g. Moreover,  $\bar{q} = h - q_1 \cos p\psi_p + pq_2 \sin p\psi_p$  is distance of the pole point Q to the line g in the generalized complex plane in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ , [22]. In addition, the following theorem can be given.

**Theorem 1.2.** All the fixed lines with Hesse coordinates  $(h, \psi_p)$  of the generalized moving complex plane  $\mathbb{K}_p$  whose envelope of trajectories have the same length L' = c are tangent to the cycles with center  $S_G = \left(\frac{A}{p\delta_p}, \frac{B}{p\delta_p}\right)$  and radius  $\frac{c}{\sqrt{|p|}\delta_p}$  in the generalized moving plane  $\mathbb{K}_p$ , [22].

#### 2. Main theorems and proofs

In this section, we prove the Holditch-type theorem for non-linear points in the generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$  for one-parameter planar motion with  $S = S_G$ . We firstly express and prove following theorem.

**Theorem 2.1.** Let the non-linear points X = (0,0), Y = (a+b,0) and Z = (a,c) be fixed on the generalized moving plane  $\mathbb{K}_p$  in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . In addition, the points X, Y and Z move along the trajectories  $k_X$ ,  $k_Y$  and  $k_Z$  on  $\mathbb{K}'_p$  with moments  $T_X$ ,  $T_Y$  and  $T_Z$ , respectively. So, the relationship between the polar moments of inertia  $T_X$ ,  $T_Y$  and  $T_Z$  is

$$T_{Z} = \frac{aT_{Y} + bT_{X}}{a+b} - \delta_{p}\left(pc^{2} + ab\right) - 2\sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|}cL_{XY}$$

where  $L_{XY}$  is the length of the enveloping curve of (XY).

*Proof.* Let the points *X*, *Y* and *Z* be non-linear points. Moreover, we consider that these points X = (0,0), Y = (a+b,0) and Z = (a,c). We know that the polar moments of inertia of any point *X* in  $\mathbb{C}_p$  is given

$$T_{Z} = T_{0} + \delta_{p} \left( x_{1}^{2} - px_{2}^{2} - 2x_{1}s_{1} + 2px_{2}s_{2} \right)$$

 $\square$ 

in [4]. So, if we use this formula for the points X, Y and Z, we find that

$$T_X = T_0 \tag{2.1}$$

$$T_Y = T_X + \delta_p \left( (a+b)^2 - 2(a+b)s_1 \right)$$
(2.2)

$$T_Z = T_X + \delta_p \left( a^2 - pc^2 - 2as_1 + 2pcs_2 \right).$$
(2.3)

From the equations (2.1) and (2.2), we have

$$s_1 = \frac{a+b}{2} + \frac{T_X - T_Y}{2\delta_p (a+b)}.$$
(2.4)

Moreover, from the equations (2.3) and (2.4), we find that

$$T_Z = \frac{aT_Y + bT_X}{a+b} - \delta_p \left( pc^2 + ab \right) + 2p\delta_p cs_2.$$

The other hand, from  $S = S_G$  we know that

$$s_2 = \frac{B}{p\delta_p}.$$

Finally, if L' is written for X = (0,0), Y = (a+b,0) and Z = (a,c) we obtain that

$$T_Z = \frac{aT_Y + bT_X}{a+b} - \delta_p \left( pc^2 + ab \right) - 2\sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|}cL_{XY}$$
(2.5)

So, the following conclusion can be given.

**Conclusion 2.2.** Let us take that X,Y and Z are linear points during the motion with  $S = S_G$  in  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . Namely, we have c = 0. From the equation (2.5) the relation between the polar moments of inertia of trajectory drawn by the points X, Y and Z is

$$T_Z = \frac{aT_Y + bT_X}{a+b} - \delta_{\rm p}ab.$$

This formula is the formula given relationship between polar moments of inertia for the linear three points in [4]. So, the formula (2.5) is generalization of the formula in [4].

*Note:* For the value p = 0, the formula (2.5) is obtain that

$$T_Z = \frac{aT_Y + bT_X}{a+b} - \delta_p ab.$$
(2.6)

This formula is also the formula between polar moments of inertia for the linear three points in [4]. Namely, for p = 0, the formula of polar moment of inertia for linear three points is same the formula of moment for non-linear three points. The reason of this is the metric in the plane  $C_0$ . From the definition of metric in  $C_0$  (p = 0) the distance between the points *X* and *R* (the orthogonal projection of the point *Z* on the line segment *XY*), (*a*), is same the distance between the points *X* and *Z*. Similarly, the distance between the points *Y* and *R*, (*b*), is same the distance between the points *Y* and *Z*. So, for p = 0 the equation (2.6) is valid the polar moments of inertia for both linear three points and non-linear three points.

In addition, we give the following conclusions.

**Conclusion 2.3.** If the points X and Y move along the same trajectories  $k_X$  with moment  $T_X$ , the formula (2.5) is obtained that

$$T_Z = T_X - \delta_p \left( pc^2 + ab \right) - 2\sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|} cL_{XY}$$

**Conclusion 2.4.** The relationship between the length of envelope curve (g) and the length of the enveloping curve of (XY) is

$$L' = \sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|} \left( h\delta_{\mathbf{p}} + \left( \frac{T_Y - T_X}{2\delta_{\mathbf{p}}(a+b)} - \frac{a+b}{2} \right) \delta_{\mathbf{p}} \cos \mathbf{p} \psi_{\mathbf{p}} - \sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|} L_{XY} \sin \mathbf{p} \psi_{\mathbf{p}} \right)$$

Finally, we can give the main theorem from the equation (2.5).

**Theorem 2.5.** Main Theorem (Holditch-Type Theorem): Let us consider motion with  $S = S_G$  and the points X = (0,0), Y = (a+b,0)and the point Z = (a,c) non-linear with X and Y fixed on  $\mathbb{K}_p$ . In a specific time interval, while the points X and Y move along the same trajectories  $k_X$  with moment  $T_X$ , the point Z non-linear with the points X and Y draws different trajectory  $k_Z$  with the moment  $T_Z$ . The moment of section between the curves  $k_X$  ( $k_Y$ ) and  $k_Z$  depends on the distances of the point R to the endpoints X and Y, the distance of the point Z to the line  $\overline{XY}$ , the length of the enveloping curve and the rotation angle of the motion. This moment is independent of the choice of curves.

#### Acknowledgement

This paper was funded by Sakarya University BAPK (No: 2014-50-02023).

#### References

- [1] I. M. Yaglom, A Simple Non-Euclidean Geometry and its Physical Basis, Springer-Verlag, New-York, 1979.
- [2] I. M. Yaglom, Complex Numbers in Geometry, Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- [12] A. A. Harkin, J. B. Harkin, *Geometry of generalized complex numbers*, New Yolk, 1996.
  [3] A. A. Harkin, J. B. Harkin, *Geometry of generalized complex numbers*, Math. Mag., 77(2) (2004), 118–129.
  [4] T. Erişir, M. A. Güngör, M. Tosun, *The Holditch-type theorem for the polar moment of inertia of the orbit curve in generalized complex plane*, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 26(4) (2016), 1179–1193.
  [5] H. Holditch, *Geometrical theorem*, Quat. J. Pure Appl. Math., 2 (1858).
  [6] J. Steiner, *Gesammelte werke II*, Berlin, 1881.
  [7] W. Bachko, H. P. Müller, *Ehene hismortik* usrlag olderbaure. München, 1956.

- [7] W. Blaschke, H. R. Müller, *Ebene kinematik* verlag oldenbourg, München, 1956.
- [8] L. Hering, Sätze vom Holditch-Typ für ebene kurven, Elem. Math., 38 (1983), 39–49.
  [9] A. Broman, A fresh look at a long-forgotten theorem, Math. Mag., 54(3) (1981), 99–108.
- [10] H. Potmann, Holditch-Sicheln, Arc. Math., 44 (1985), 373-378.
- [11] H. Potmann, Zum satz von Holditch in der Euklidischen ebene, Elem. Math., 41 (1986), 1-6. [12] H. R. Müller, Über Trägheitsmomente bei Steinerscher Massenbelegung, Abh. Braunschw. Wiss. Ges., 29 (1978), 115–119.
- [13] M. Düldül, Computation of polar moments of inertia with Holditch type theorem, Appl. Math. E-Notes, 8 (2008), 271–278.
- [14] S. Yüce, M. Düldül, N. Kuruoğlu, On the generalizations of the polar inertia momentum of the closed curves obtained kinematically, Studia Sci. Math. Hungar., 42(1) (2005), 73-78.

- [15] S. Yüce, N. Kuruoğlu, Holditch-type theorems for the planar Lorentzian Motions, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math., 17(4) (2004), 467–471.
  [16] S. Yüce, N. Kuruoğlu, Holditch-Type theorems under the closed planar homothetic motions, Ital. J. Pure Appl. Math., 21 (2007), 105–108.
  [17] S. Yüce, N. Kuruoğlu, Steiner formula and Holditch-Type theorems for homothetic Lorentzian motions, Iran. J. Sci. Technol. Trans. A Sci., 31 (2007),
- 207-212
- [18] S. Yüce, N. Kuruoğlu, Cauchy formulas for enveloping curves in the Lorentzian plane and Lorentzian kinematics, Result. Math., 54 (2009), 199–206.
- [19] N. (Bayrak) Gürses, S. Yüce, One-parameter planar motions in affine Cayley-Klein planes, Eur. J. Pure Appl. Math., 7(3) (2014), 335–342. [20] N. (Bayrak) Gürses, S. Yüce, One-parameter planar motions in generalized complex number plane  $\mathbb{C}_j$ , Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 25(4) (2015),
- 889–903. [21] T. Erişir, M. A. Güngör, M. Tosun, A new generalization of the Steiner formula and the Holditch theorem, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., **26**(1) (2016),
- [22] T. Erişir, M. A. Güngör, Cauchy-Length formula and Holditch theorem in the generalized complex plane  $\mathbb{C}_p$ , Int. Electron. J. Geom., (Accepted).
- [23] L. Parapatits, F. E. Schuster, The Steiner formula for Minkowski valuations, Adv. Math., 230 (2012), 978-994.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.407774



## Homotopy Analysis Aboodh Transform Method for Nonlinear System of Partial Differential Equations

Djelloul Ziane<sup>a</sup> and Mountassir Hamdi Cherif<sup>b\*</sup>

<sup>a,b</sup>Laboratory of mathematics and its applications (LAMAP), University of Oran1 Ahmed Ben Bella, Oran, 31000, Algeria <sup>b</sup>Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Electrical and Energy Engineering Graduate School (ESGEE), Oran, Algeria <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Homotopy analysis method, Aboodh transform method, Nonlinear system of partial differential equations 2010 AMS: 26A24, 35E05, 35F61, 44A05 Received: 19 March 2018 Accepted: 25 September 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 In this paper, a combined form of homotopy analysis method with Aboodh transform method is proposed to solve nonlinear system of partial differential equations. This method is called the homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method (HAATM). The homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method can easily be applied to many problems of nonlinear system, and is capable of reducing the size of computational work.

#### 1. Introduction

The nonlinear evolution equations have attracted the attention of many researchers because of their wide applications in various fields such as physics, fluid mechanics, bio-mathematics, chemical physics and other areas of science and engineering. The investigation of exact solutions for the nonlinear evolution equations is a particularly hot topic [1]. So we find that a lot of researchers are working to develop new methods to solve this kind of equations. These efforts have strengthened this area of research through many methods, among them we find, homotopy analysis method (HAM). This method was developed in 1992 by Liao Shijun ([2], [3], [4], [5]), and was used by many researchers to solven nonlinear differential equations ([6], [7], [8]). Then, a new option emerged recently, includes the composition of Laplace transform, Sumudu transform, Natural transform or Aboodh transform with this method to solve nonlinear differential equations. Among which are the homotopy analysis method coupled with Laplace transform ([9], [10], [11]), homotopy analysis Sumudu transform method ([12], [13], [14]), homotopy Natural transform method ([15], [16]) and homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method [17].

The aim of this study is to combine homotopy analysis method and Aboodh transform method in order to obtain a more effective method, characterized by speed in solution and accuracy in the results obtained. The modified method is called homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method (HAATM). Three examples of nonlinear partial differential equations are given to re-confirm the strength and effectiveness of this modified method.

The present paper has been organized as follows: In Section 2 Some basic definitions and properties of the Aboodh transform method. In section 3 We give an analysis of the proposed method. In section 4 We present three examples explaining how to apply the proposed method. Finally, the conclusion follows.

#### 2. Definitions and properties of the Aboodh transform

In this section, we give some basic definitions and properties of Aboodh transform which are used further in this paper. A new transform called the Aboodh transform defined for function of exponential order, we consider functions in the set  $\bar{A}$ , defined by [18]:

 $\bar{A} = \left\{ f(t) : \exists M, \, k_1, k_2 > 0, \, |f(t)| < Me^{-\nu t} \right\}.$ 

For given function in the set  $\overline{A}$ , the constant M must be finite number,  $k_1, k_2$  my be finite or infinite.

The Aboodh transform denoted by the operator  $A(\cdot)$  defined by the integral equation:

$$A[f(t)] = K(v) = \frac{1}{v} \int_0^\infty f(t) e^{-vt} dt, \ t \ge 0, k_1 \le v \le k_2$$

We will summarize here some results of simple functions related to Aboodh transform in the following table [18]:

f(t)	A[f(t)]	f(t)	A[f(t)]
1	$\frac{1}{v^2}$	sin <i>at</i>	$\frac{a}{v(v^2+a^2)}$
t	$\frac{1}{v^3}$	cos at	$\frac{1}{v^2 + a^2}$
t <sup>n</sup>	$\frac{n!}{v^{n+2}}$	sinh at	$\frac{a}{v(v^2-a^2)}$
e <sup>at</sup>	$\frac{1}{v^2 - av}$	cosh at	$\frac{1}{v^2-a^2}$

**Theorem 2.1.** Let K(v) is the Aboodh transform of f(t), then one has:

 $c(\mathbf{o})$ 

$$A\left[f'(t)\right] = vK(v) - \frac{f(0)}{v},$$
  

$$A\left[f''(t)\right] = v^2K(v) - \frac{f'(0)}{v} - f(0),$$
  

$$A\left[f^{(n)}(t)\right] = v^nK(v) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(0)}{v^{2-n+k}}.$$

*Proof.* (see [18]).

Aboodh transform of partial derivative: To obtain Aboodh transform of partial derivative, we use integration by parts, and then we have:

$$\begin{split} &A\left[\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t}\right] = vK(x,v) - \frac{u(x,0)}{v}, \\ &A\left[\frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial t^2}\right] = v^2K(x,v) - \frac{1}{v}\frac{\partial u(x,0)}{\partial t} - u(x,0), \end{split}$$

For the proof of these formulas, you can see [19].

**Theorem 2.2.** Let K(x,v) is the Aboodh transform of u(x,t), then one has:

$$A\left[\frac{\partial^n u(x,t)}{\partial t^n}\right] = v^n K(x,v) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{v^{2-n+k}} \frac{\partial^k u(x,0)}{\partial t^k}$$

Proof. (see [17]).

#### 3. Homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method (HAATM)

To illustrate the basic idea of this method, we consider a general non-homogeneous, nonlinear partial diffrential equation

$$L_t[V(x,t)] + R[V(x,t)] + N[V(x,t)] = f(x,t),$$
(3.1)

where  $L_t$  denotes a first-order partial differential operator, R is the general linear operators, N is the nonlinear operator and f(x,t) is the source terms.

Taking the Aboodh transform on both sides of (3.1), we get

$$A(L_t[V(x,t)]) + A(R[V(x,t)] + N[V(x,t)]) = A[f(x,t)]$$

Using the property of the Aboodh transform, we have

$$A[V(x,t)] - \frac{1}{v^2}V(x,0) + \frac{1}{v}\left(A[R(V(x,t)) + N(V(x,t)) - f(x,t)]\right) = 0$$

Define the nonlinear operators

$$N[\phi(x,t;p)] = A\left[\phi(x,t;p)\right] - \frac{1}{v^2}V(x,0;p) + \frac{1}{v}\left(A\left[R\left(\phi(x,t;p)\right) + N\left(\phi(x,t;p)\right) - f(x,t;p)\right]\right)$$

By means of homotopy analysis method ([2], [3], [4], [5]), we construct the so-called the zero-order deformation equation

$$(1-q)A[\phi(x,t;p) - V_0(x,t)] = phH(x,t)N[\phi(x,t;p)],$$
(3.2)

where *p* is an embedding parameter and  $p \in [0, 1]$ ,  $H(x,t) \neq 0$  is an auxiliary function,  $h \neq 0$  is an auxiliary parameter, *A* is an auxiliary linear Aboodh operator. When p = 0 and p = 1, we have

$$\begin{cases} \phi(x,t;0) = V_0(x,t), \\ \phi(x,t;1) = V(x,t). \end{cases}$$

When *P* increases from 0 to 1, the  $\phi(x,t,p)$  various from  $V_0(x,t)$  to V(x,t). Expanding  $\phi(x,t;p)$  in Taylor series with respect to *p*, we have

$$\phi(x,t;p) = V_0(x,t) + \sum_{m=1}^{+\infty} V_m(x,t)p^m,$$
(3.3)

where

$$V_m(x,t) = \frac{1}{m!} \frac{\partial^m \phi(x,t;p)}{\partial p^m} \Big|_{p=0}$$

When p = 1, the formula (3.3) becomes

$$V(x,t) = V_0(x,t) + \sum_{m=1}^{+\infty} V_m(x,t).$$

Define the vectors

$$\overrightarrow{V} = \{V_0(x,t), V_1(x,t), V_2(x,t), \dots, V_m(x,t)\}$$

Differentiating (3.2) *m*-times with respect to *p*, then setting p = 0 and finally dividing them by *m*!, we obtain the so-called *m*<sup>th</sup> order deformation equation

$$A[V_m(x,t) - \chi_m V_{m-1}(x,t)] = hH(x,t)\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)),$$
(3.4)

where

$$\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)) = \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \frac{\partial^{m-1}N(x,t;p)}{\partial p^{m-1}} \Big|_{p=0} ,$$

and

$$\chi_m = \begin{cases} 0, & m \leqslant 1, \\ 1, & m > 1. \end{cases}$$

Applying the inverse Aboodh transform on both sides of (3.4), we can obtain

$$V_m(x,t) = \chi_m V_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1} \left[ H(x,t) \Re_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)) \right].$$
(3.5)

The  $m^{th}$  deformation equation (3.5) is a linear which can be easily solved. So, the solution of (3.1) can be written into the following form

$$V(x,t) = \sum_{m=0}^{N} V_m(x,t),$$

when  $N \rightarrow \infty$ , we can obtain an accurate approximation solution of (3.1). For the proof of the convergence of the homotopy analysis method see [3].

#### 4. Application of this method

In this section, we apply the homotopy analysis method (HAM) coupled with Aboodh transform method for solving system of nonlinear partial differential equations.

Example 4.1. We consider the following system of nonlinear coupled Burgers partial differential equations

$$\begin{cases} U_t - U_{xx} - 2UU_x + (UV)_x = 0\\ V_t - V_{xx} - 2VV_x + (UV)_x = 0 \end{cases},$$
(4.1)

with the initial conditions

 $U(\varkappa, 0) = \sin x, V(x, 0) = \sin x.$ 

The nonlinear operators are

$$\begin{split} N[\phi(x,t,p)] &= A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{\nu^2} \sin x \\ &+ \frac{1}{\nu} A[-\phi_{xx}(x,t;p) - 2\phi(x,t;p)\phi_x(x,t;p) + (\phi(x,t;p)\phi(x,t;p))_x] \\ &N[\phi(x,t,p)] = A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{\nu^2} \sin x \\ &+ \frac{1}{\nu} A[-\phi_{xx}(x,t;p) - 2\phi(x,t;p)\phi_x(x,t;p) + (\phi(x,t;p)\phi(x,t;p))_x] \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain the m<sup>th</sup> order deformation equations given by

$$\begin{cases} U_m(x,t) = \chi_m U_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{U}_{m-1}(x,t))] \\ V_m(x,t) = \chi_m V_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t))] \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

with

$$\begin{cases} \Re_{m}(U_{m-1}(x,t)) = A[U_{m-1}(x,t)] - \frac{1}{v^{2}}(1-\chi_{m})\sin x \\ + \frac{1}{v}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(U_{i}V_{m-1-i})_{\varkappa} - 2\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}U_{i}(U_{m-1-i})_{\varkappa} - \sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(U_{i})_{xx}\right], \\ \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A[V_{m-1}(x,t)] - \frac{1}{v^{2}}(1-\chi_{m})\sin x \\ + \frac{1}{v}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(U_{i}V_{m-1-i})_{\varkappa} - 2\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}V_{i}(V_{m-1-i})_{\varkappa} - \sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(V_{i})_{xx}\right], \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

and

$$\chi_m = \begin{cases} 0, & m \leq 1, \\ 1, & m > 1. \end{cases}$$

According to (4.2) and (4.3), the formulas of the first terms is given by

$$U_{1}(x,t) = hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{0})_{x} - 2U_{0}(U_{0})_{x} - (U_{0})_{xx} \right] \right), U_{2}(x,t) = (1+h)U_{1}(x,t) +hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{1} + U_{1}V_{0})_{x} - 2 (U_{0}U_{1x} + U_{1}U_{0x}) - (U_{1})_{xx} \right] \right), U_{3}(x,t) = (1+h)U_{2}(x,t) +hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{2} + U_{1}V_{1} + U_{2}V_{0})_{x} - 2 (2U_{0}U_{2x} + U_{1}U_{1x}) - (U_{2})_{xx} \right] \right),$$

$$(4.4)$$

and

$$V_{1}(x,t) = hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{0})_{x} - 2V_{0}(V_{0})_{x} - (V_{0})_{xx} \right] \right) ,$$
  

$$V_{2}(x,t) = (1+h)V_{1}(x,t)$$
  

$$+hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{1} + U_{1}V_{0})_{x} - 2(V_{0}V_{1x} + V_{1}V_{0x}) - (V_{1})_{xx} \right] \right) ,$$
  

$$V_{3}(x,t) = (1+h)V_{2}(x,t)$$
  

$$+hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0}V_{2} + U_{1}V_{1} + U_{2}V_{0})_{x} - 2(2V_{0}V_{2x} + V_{1}V_{1x}) - (V_{2})_{xx} \right] \right) ,$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$(4.5)$$

From the equations (4.4) and (4.5), the first solution terms of homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method of the system (4.1), is given by

$$\begin{split} U_0(x,t) &= \sin x, \\ V_0(x,t) &= \sin x, \\ U_1(x,t) &= (h)\sin(x)t, \\ V_1(x,t) &= (h)\sin(x)t, \\ U_2(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)\sin(x)t + (h^2)\sin(x)\frac{t^2}{2!}, \\ V_2(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)\sin(x)t + (h^2)\sin(x)\frac{t^2}{2!}, \\ U_3(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)^2\sin(x)t + 2(1+h)(h^2)\sin(x)\frac{t^2}{2!} + (h^3)\sin(x)\frac{t^3}{3!}, \\ V_3(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)^2\sin(x)t + 2(1+h)(h^2)\sin(x)\frac{t^2}{2!} + (h^3)\sin(x)\frac{t^3}{3!}, \\ &\vdots \\ \end{split}$$

and so on.

The other components of the (HAATM) can be determined in a similar way. Finally, the approximate solution (U,V) of the system (4.1) in a series form, is given by

$$\begin{cases} U(x,t) = \sin x \left( 1 + h(3+3h+h^2)t + (3+2h)h^2 \frac{t^2}{2!} + h^3 \frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right) \\ V(x,t) = \sin x \left( 1 + h(3+3h+h^2)t + (3+2h)h^2 \frac{t^2}{2!} + h^3 \frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right) \end{cases}$$

Substituting h = -1 in (??), the approximate solution of the system (4.1) is given as follows

$$U(x,t) = \sin x \left( 1 - t + \frac{t^2}{2!} - \frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right)$$
$$V(x,t) = \sin x \left( 1 - t + \frac{t^2}{2!} - \frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right)$$

And in the closed form, the solution (U, V) is given by

$$\begin{cases} U(x,t) = \sin(x)e^{-t} \\ V(x,t) = \sin(x)e^{-t} \end{cases}$$



**Figure 4.1:** (a) Exact solution for U(x,t) and V(x,t), (b) Approximate solution U(x,t) and V(x,t) when  $h \rightarrow -0.99$ .

Example 4.2. Consider the nonlinear system of inhomogeneous partial differential equations [20]

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} U_t + U_x V + U = 1 \\ V_t - U V_x - V = 1 \end{array} \right.$$

with the initial conditions

$$U(\varkappa, 0) = e^{x}, V(x, 0) = e^{-x}.$$

The nonlinear operators are

$$N[\phi(x,t,p)] = A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{\nu^2}e^x + \frac{1}{\nu}A[\phi_x(x,t;p)\phi(x,t;p) + \phi(x,t;p) - 1]$$
  
$$N[\phi(x,t,p)] = A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{\nu^2}e^{-x} + \frac{1}{\nu}A[-\phi(x,t;p)\phi_x(x,t;p) - \phi(x,t;p) - 1]$$

(4.6)

Thus, we obtain the m<sup>th</sup> order deformation equations given by

$$\begin{cases} U_m(x,t) = \chi_m U_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{U}_{m-1}(x,t))] \\ V_m(x,t) = \chi_m V_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t))] \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

with

$$\begin{cases} \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{U}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A\left[U_{m-1}(x,t)\right] - \frac{1}{v^{2}}\left(1 - \chi_{m}\right)e^{x} \\ + \frac{1}{v}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(U_{i})_{x}V_{m-1-i} + \sum_{i=0}^{m-1}U_{i} - 1\right], \\ \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A\left[V_{m-1}(x,t)\right] - \frac{1}{v^{2}}\left(1 - \chi_{m}\right)e^{-x} \\ + \frac{1}{v}A\left[-\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}U_{i}(V_{m-1-i})_{\varkappa} - \sum_{i=0}^{m-1}V_{i} - 1\right], \end{cases}$$

$$(4.8)$$

and

$$\chi_m = \begin{cases} 0, & m \leq 1, \\ 1, & m > 1. \end{cases}$$

According to (4.7) and (4.8), the formulas of the first terms is given by

$$U_{1}(x,t) = hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0})_{x} V_{0} + U_{0} - 1 \right] \right),$$
  

$$U_{2}(x,t) = (1+h)U_{1}(x,t) + hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0})_{x} V_{1} + (U_{1})_{x} V_{0} + U_{1} \right] \right),$$
  

$$U_{3}(x,t) = (1+h)U_{2}(x,t)$$
  

$$+hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (U_{0})_{x} V_{2} + (U_{1})_{x} V_{1} + (U_{2})_{x} V_{0} + U_{2} \right] \right),$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  
(4.9)

and

$$V_{1}(x,t) = hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ -U_{0}(V_{0})_{x} - V_{0} - 1 \right] \right),$$
  

$$V_{2}(x,t) = (1+h)V_{1}(x,t) + hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ -U_{0}(V_{1})_{x} - U_{1}(V_{0})_{x} - V_{1} \right] \right),$$
  

$$V_{3}(x,t) = (1+h)V_{2}(x,t)$$
  

$$+hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ -U_{0}(V_{2})_{x} - U_{1}(V_{1})_{x} - U_{2}(V_{0})_{x} - V_{2} \right] \right),$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  
(4.10)

From the equations (4.9) and (4.10), the first solution terms of homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method of the system (4.6), is given by

$$\begin{split} U_0(x,t) &= e^x, \\ V_0(x,t) &= e^{-x}, \\ U_1(x,t) &= (h)e^x t, \\ V_1(x,t) &= (-h)e^{-x} t, \\ U_2(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)e^x t + (h^2)e^x \frac{t^2}{2!}, \\ V_2(x,t) &= (-h)(1+h)e^{-x} t + (h^2)e^{-x} \frac{t^2}{2!}, \\ U_3(x,t) &= (h)(1+h)^2e^x t + 2(1+h)(h^2)e^x \frac{t^2}{2!} + (h^3)e^x \frac{t^3}{3!}, \\ V_3(x,t) &= (-h)(1+h)^2e^{-x} t + 2h^2(1+h)e^{-x} \frac{t^2}{2!} + (-h^3)e^{-x} \frac{t^3}{3!}, \\ &\vdots \end{split}$$

and so on.

The other components of the (HAATM) can be determined in a similar way. Finally, the approximate solution (U,V) of the system (4.6) in a series form, is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} U(x,t) = e^x \left( 1 + h(3+3h+h^2)t + (3+2h)h^2 \frac{t^2}{2!} + h^3 \frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right) \\ V(x,t) = e^{-x} \left( 1 + (-h)(3+3h+h^2)t + (3+2h)h^2 \frac{t^2}{2!} + (-h^3)\frac{t^3}{3!} + \cdots \right) \end{cases}$$

and in the case h = -1, the approximate solution is given as follows

$$\begin{cases} U(x,t) = e^{x} \left( 1 - t + \frac{t^{2}}{2!} - \frac{t^{3}}{3!} + \cdots \right) \\ V(x,t) = e^{-x} \left( 1 + t + \frac{t^{2}}{2!} + \frac{t^{3}}{3!} + \cdots \right) \end{cases}$$

And in the closed form, the solution (U, V) is given by

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} U(x,t) = e^{x-t} \\ V(x,t) = e^{-x+t} \end{array} \right.$$



**Figure 4.2:** (a) Exact solution U(x,t). (b) Approximate solution U(x,t) when  $h \rightarrow -1.09$ .



**Figure 4.3:** (c) Exact solution V(x,t). (d) Approximate solution V(x,t) when  $h \rightarrow -1.09$ .

**Example 4.3.** Consider the system of nonlinear coupled partial differential equations [21]

$$U_t(x,y,t) - V_x(x,y,t)W_y(x,,y,t) = 1$$

$$V_t(x,y,t) - W_x(x,y,t)U_y(x,y,t) = 5 ,$$

$$W_t(x,y,t) - U_x(x,y,t)V_y(x,y,t) = 5$$
(4.11)

with the initial conditions

 $U(\varkappa, y, 0) = x + 2y, V(x, y, 0) = x - 2y, W(x, y, 0) = -x + 2y.$ 

The nonlinear operators are

$$N[\phi(x,t,p)] = A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{v^2}(x+2y) - \frac{1}{v}A[\phi_x(x,t;p)\psi_y(x,t;p)+1]$$
  

$$N[\phi(x,t,p)] = A[\phi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{v^2}(x-2y) - \frac{1}{v}A[\psi_x(x,t;p)\phi_y(x,t;p)+5]$$
  

$$N[\psi(x,t,p)] = A[\psi(x,t;p)] - \frac{1}{v^2}(-x+2y) - \frac{1}{v}A[\phi_x(x,t;p)\phi_y(x,t;p)+5]$$

Thus, we obtain the m<sup>th</sup> order deformation equations given by

$$\begin{cases} U_m(x,t) = \chi_m U_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{U}_{m-1}(x,t))] \\ V_m(x,t) = \chi_m V_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t))] \\ W_m(x,t) = \chi_m W_{m-1}(x,t) + hA^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_m(\overrightarrow{W}_{m-1}(x,t))] \end{cases}$$

(4.12)

with,

$$\begin{cases} \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{U}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A\left[U_{m-1}(x,t)\right] - \frac{1}{\nu^{2}}\left(1 - \chi_{m}\right)(x + 2y) \\ -\frac{1}{\nu}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(V_{i})_{x}(W_{m-1-i})_{y} + 1\right], \\ \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{V}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A\left[V_{m-1}(x,t)\right] - \frac{1}{\nu^{2}}\left(1 - \chi_{m}\right)(x - 2y) \\ -\frac{1}{\nu}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(W_{i})_{x}(U_{m-1-i})_{y} + 5\right], \\ \Re_{m}(\overrightarrow{W}_{m-1}(x,t)) = A\left[W_{m-1}(x,t)\right] - \frac{1}{\nu^{2}}\left(1 - \chi_{m}\right)(-x + 2y) \\ -\frac{1}{\nu}A\left[\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}(U_{i})_{x}(V_{m-1-i})_{y} + 5\right], \end{cases}$$
(4.13)

 $\chi_m = \begin{cases} 0, & m \leq 1, \\ 1, & m > 1. \end{cases}$ 

According to (4.12) and (4.13), the formulas of the first terms is given by

$$\begin{split} U_1(x,t) &= -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (V_0)_x (W_0)_y + 1 \right] \right), \\ U_2(x,t) &= (1+h)U_1(x,t) - hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (V_0)_x (W_1)_y + (V_1)_x (W_0)_y \right] \right), \\ & U_3(x,t) &= (1+h)U_2(x,t) \\ -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (V_0)_x (W_2)_y + (V_1)_x (W_1)_y + (V_2)_x (W_0)_y \right] \right), \\ & \vdots \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} V_1(x,t) &= -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (W_0)_x (U_0)_y + 5 \right] \right), \\ V_2(x,t) &= (1+h)V_1(x,t) - hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (W_0)_x (U_1)_y + (W_1)_x (U_0)_y \right] \right), \\ V_3(x,t) &= (1+h)V_2(x,t) \\ -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{\nu} A \left[ (W_0)_x (U_2)_y + (W_1)_x (U_1)_y + (W_2)_x (U_0)_y \right] \right), \\ &\vdots \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} W_1(x,t) &= -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{v} A \left[ (U_0)_x (V_0)_y + 5 \right] \right), \\ W_2(x,t) &= (1+h) W_1(x,t) - hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{v} A \left[ (U_0)_x (V_1)_y + (U_1)_x (V_0)_y \right] \right), \\ W_3(x,t) &= (1+h) W_2(x,t) \\ -hA^{-1} \left( \frac{1}{v} A \left[ (U_0)_x (V_2)_y + (U_1)_x (V_1)_y + (U_2)_x (V_0)_y \right] \right), \\ &\vdots \end{split}$$

From the equations (4.4) and (4.5), the first solution terms of homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method of the system (4.1), is given by

and so on.

The other components of the (HAATM) can be determined in a similar way. Finally, the approximate solution (U,V,W) of the system (4.11) in a series form, is given by

$$U(x,y,t) = x + 2y - 3(h)t - 3h(1+h)^{2}t - 3h(1+h)^{3}t + \cdots$$
  

$$V(x,y,t) = x - 2y - 3(h)t - 3h(1+h)^{2}t - 3h(1+h)^{3}t + \cdots$$
  

$$W(x,y,t) = -x + 2y - 3(h)t - 3h(1+h)^{2}t - 3h(1+h)^{3}t + \cdots$$

Substituting h = -1 in (??), the exact solution of the system (4.11) is given by

$$\begin{cases} U(x,y,t) = x + 2y + 3t \\ V(x,y,t) = x - 2y + 3t \\ W(x,y,t) = -x + 2y + 3t \end{cases}$$
(4.14)



**Figure 4.4:** (a) Exact solution U(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1. (b) Approximate solution U(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1 when  $h \rightarrow -0.99$ .



**Figure 4.5:** (c) Exact solution V(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1. (d) Approximate solution V(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1 when  $h \rightarrow -0.99$ .



**Figure 4.6:** (e) Exact solution W(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1. (f) Approximate solution W(x, y, t) at the moment t = 1 when  $h \rightarrow -0.99$ .

#### 5. Conclusion

In this paper, we have seen that the coupling of homotopy analysis method (HAM) and the Aboodh transform method, proved very effective to solve nonlinear system of partial differential equations. The proposed algorithm (HAATM) is suitable for such problems and is very user friendly. The advantage of this method is its ability to combine two powerful methods to obtain exact solutions of nonlinear system of

partial differential equations. The results obtained in the examples presented shows that this modified method is very powerful and efficient technique in finding exact solutions for wide classes of problems.

#### References

- [1] N. Taghizadeh, M. Akbaria, M. Shahidia, Homotopy perturbation method and reduced differential transform method for solving (1+1)-dimensional nonlinear boussinesq equation, Int. J. Appl. Math. Comput., 5(2) (2013), 28-33.
- S. J. Liao, The proposed homotopy analysis technique for the solution of nonlinear problems, Ph.D. Thesis, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, 1992.
- S. J. Liao, Beyond perturbation: Introduction to Homotopy Analysis Method, Chapman and Hall/CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2003. [3]
- [4] S. J. Liao, On the homotopy analysis method for nonlinear problems, Appl. Math. Comput., 147 (2004), 499-513.
- [5] S. J. Liao, Notes on the homotopy analysis method: Some definitions and theorems, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., 14 (2009), 983-997. [6] M. Ayub, A. Rasheed and T. Hayat, Exact flow of a third grade fluid past a porous plate using homotopy analysis method, Int. J. Eng. Sci., 41 (2003), 2091-2103.
- S. Abbasbandy, The application of homotopy analysis method to nonlinear equations arising in heat transfer, Phys. Lett. A, 360 (2006), 109-113.
- Z. Abbasa, S. Vahdatia, F. Ismaila, A. K. Dizicheha, Application of homotopy analysis method for linear integro-differential equations, Int. Math. Forum., 5(5) (2010) 237-249. [8]
- [9] V. G. Gupta, S. Gupta, Applications of homotopy analysis transform method for solving various nonlinear equations, W. Appl. Sci. J., 18(12), (2012),
- [10] M. M. Khader, S. Kumar, S. Abbasbandy, New homotopy analysis transform method for solving the discontinued problems arising in nanotechnology, Chin. Phys B., 22(11), (2013), 1-5.
- V. G. Gupta, P. Kumar, Approximate solutions of fractional linear and nonlinear differential equations using Laplace homotopy analysis method, Int. J. [11] Nonlinear Sci., **19**(2) (2015), 113-12. V. G. Gupta, P. Kumar, *Approximate solutions of fractional biological population model by homotopy analysis Sumudu transform method*, Int. J. Sci.
- [12] Res., 5(5) (2016), 908-917.
- [13] R. K. Pandey, H. K. Mishra, Numerical simulation of time-fractional fourth order differential equations via homotopy analysis fractional Sumudu transform method, Amer. J. Num. Anal., 3(3) (2015), 52-64.
- [14] S. Rathorea, D. Kumarb, J. Singh, S. Gupta, Homotopy analysis Sumudu transform method for nonlinear equations, Int. J. Ind. Math., 4(4) (2012), Article ID IJIM-00204, 13 pages
- [15] A. Khan, M. Junaid, I. Khan, F. Ali, K. Shah, D. Khan, Application of homotopy natural transform method to the solution of nonlinear partial differential equations, Sci. Int. (Lahore)., **29**(1) (2017), 297-303.
- [16] D. Ziane, M. Hamdi Cherif, Modified Homotopy analysis method for nonlinear fractional partial differential equations, Int. J. Anal. Appl., 14(1) (2017),
- 77-87.
   [17] D. Ziane, The combined of homotopy analysis method with new transform for nonlinear partial differential equations, Malaya J. Math., 6(1) (2018), 34-40. [18] S. Khalid, K. S. Aboodh, *The new integral transform "Aboodh transform"*, Glob. J. Pure. Appl. Math., **9**(1) (2013), 35-43.
- A. K. Hassan Sedeeg, M. M. Abdelrahim Mehgoub, Aboodh transform of homotopy perturbation method for solving system of nonlinear partial [19] differential equations, Math. Theo. Mod., 6(8) (2016), 108-113.
- [20] M. Khana, M. Asif Gondala, S. Karimi Vananib, On the coupling of homotopy perturbation and Laplace transformation for system of partial differential equations, Appl. Math. Sci., 6(10) (2012), 467-478.
- [21] H. Eltayeb, A. Kılıçman, Application of Sumudu decomposition method to solve nonlinear system of partial differential equations, Abs. Appl. Anal., Article ID 412948 (2012), 13 pages.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.422271



# Compact Totally Real Minimal Submanifolds in a Bochner-Kaehler Manifold

Mehmet Bektaş<sup>a</sup>, Zühal Küçükarslan Yüzbaşı<sup>a\*</sup> and Münevver Yıldırım Yılmaz<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Fırat University, 23119 Elazığ, Turkey <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

#### Article Info

#### Abstract

Keywords: Bochner-Kaehler manifold, Ricci curvature 2010 AMS: 53B25, 53C55 Received: 9 May 2018 Accepted: 16 July 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 In this paper, we establish the following results: Let M be an m-dimensional compact totally real minimal submanifold immersed in a locally symmetric Bochner-Kaehler manifold  $\tilde{M}$  with Ricci curvature bounded from below. Then either M is a totally geodesic or

$$\inf r \leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2}m(m-1)\tilde{k} - \frac{1}{3}(m+1)\tilde{c} \right),$$

where r is the scalar curvature of M.

#### 1. Introduction

The Bochner tensor was originally introduced in 1948 by S. Bochner as a Kaehler analogue of the Weyl conformal curvature tensor. Kaehler manifolds with vanishing Bochner tensor are known as Bochner-Kaehler manifolds, [1]. The Bochner tensor has interesting connections to several areas of mathematics and Bochner-Kaehler manifolds have been studied quite intensively in the last two decades, see for instance, [1, 2, 3].

In this work, we make us of Yau's [4] maximum principle to compact study totally real minimal submanifold with Ricci curvature bounded from below and obtain the following results:

**Main Theorem.** Let M be an m-dimensional compact totally real minimal submanifold immersed in a locally symmetric Bochner-Kaehler manifold  $\tilde{M}$  with Ricci curvature bounded from below. Then either M is totally geodesic or  $\inf r \leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2}m(m-1)\tilde{k} - \frac{1}{3}(m+1)\tilde{c} \right)$  where r is the scalar curvature of M.

We use the same notation and terminologies as in [5] unless otherwise stated.

Let  $\tilde{M}$  be an *n*-dimensional Kaehler manifold and denote by  $g_{AB}$ ,  $F_{AB}$ ,  $\tilde{K}_{ABCD}$  and  $\tilde{K}$ , the metric tensor, the complex structure tensor, the curvature tensor, the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature of  $\tilde{M}$ , respectively. Suppose that the Boechner curvature tensor of  $\tilde{M}$  vanishes, then we have

$$\tilde{K}_{ABCD} = -g_{AD}L_{BC} + g_{BD}L_{AC} - L_{AD}g_{BC} + L_{BD}g_{AC} - F_{AD}M_{BC}$$

$$+ F_{BD}M_{AC} - M_{AD}F_{BC} + M_{BD}F_{AC} + 2(M_{AB}F_{CD} + F_{AB}M_{CD}),$$

$$(1.1)$$

where

$$\begin{split} & L_{BC} = \tilde{K}_{BC} / \left( 2n + 4 \right) - \tilde{K} g_{BC} / 2 \left( 2n + 2 \right) \left( 2n + 4 \right), \ \tilde{K}_{BC} = g^{AD} \tilde{K}_{ABDC}, \\ & \tilde{K} = g^{BC} \tilde{K}_{BC}, \ M_{BC} = - L_{BD} F_C^D, \ F_C^D = g^{BD} F_{CB} \ . \end{split}$$

 $L_{BC}$  are components of a hybrid tensor of type (0,2). That is

$$L_{BC}F_A^BF_D^C = L_{AD}$$

In order to avoid repetitions it will be agreed that our indices have the following ranges throughout this paper:

$$\begin{split} A, B, C, D, \ldots &= 1, 2, ..., m, 1^*, 2^*, ..., m^*, \\ i, j, k, l, \ldots &= 1, 2, ..., m; \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \ldots = 1^*, 2^*, ..., m^*. \end{split}$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: mbektas@firat.edu.tr, 0000-0002-5797-4944 (M. Bektaş), zuhal2387@yahoo.com.tr, 0000-0001-7630-5490 (Z. Küçükarslan Yüzbaşı), myildirim@firat.edu.tr, 0000-0003-1278-3981 (M. Yıldırım Yılmaz)

In the following sections,  $\tilde{M}$  is always supposed to be a Bochner-Kaehler manifold, that is,  $\tilde{M}$  is a Kaehler manifold with curvature tensor  $\tilde{K}_{ABCD}$  given by (1.1).

#### **2.** Totally real submanifolds in $\hat{M}$

We call *M* as a totally real submanifold of  $\tilde{M}$  if *M* admits an isometric immersion into  $\tilde{M}$  such that for all  $x \in M$ ,  $F(T_x(M)) \subset v_x$ , where  $T_x(M)$  denotes the tangent space of *M* at *x* and *F* the complex structure of  $\tilde{M}$ . If the real dimension of *M* is *m*, then  $m \leq n$ , *n* is the complex dimension of  $\tilde{M}$ . We choose a local field of orthonormal frames

$$e_1, \dots, e_m, e_{m+1}, \dots, e_n$$
;  $e_{1^*} = Fe_{1,\dots,e_m^*} = Fe_{m,\dots,e_m^*} = Fe_n$ ,

in  $\tilde{M}$  in a such a way that, restricted to M,  $e_1, ..., e_m$  are tangents to M. With respect to this frame field, F and g have the components

$$(F_{AB}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I_n \\ I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (g_{AB}) = (I_{2n}),$$

where  $I_k$  denotes the identity matrix of degree k. We consider the case n = m only in this paper. The equation of Gauss of M in  $\tilde{M}$  is written as

$$K_{ijkl} = \tilde{K}_{ijkl} + \sum_{\alpha} \left( h^{\alpha}_{ik} h^{\alpha}_{jl} - h^{\alpha}_{il} h^{\alpha}_{jk} \right).$$
(2.1)

 $K_{ijkl}$  is the curvature tensor and  $h_{ij}^{\alpha}$  is the second fundamental tensor of M. Since M is a totally real submanifold in  $\tilde{M}$ , with respect to the above frame we have the relation  $h_{jk}^{i^*} = h_{ik}^{j^*}$ . Let  $\tilde{K}$  be the curvature tensor field of  $\tilde{M}$  so that  $\tilde{K}_{ABCD} = g\left(\tilde{K}(e_C, e_D)e_B, e_A\right)$ . Then (1.1) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{K}(X,Y)Z = L(Y,Z)X - L(X,Z)Y + \langle Y,Z \rangle NX - \langle X,Z \rangle NY 
+ M(Y,Z)FX - M(X,Z)FY + \langle FY,Z \rangle PX 
- \langle FX,Z \rangle PY - 2(M(X,Y)FZ + \langle FX,Y \rangle PZ),$$
(2.2)

where NX, PX are defined by g(NX, Y) = L(X, Y), g(PX, Y) = M(X, Y) and  $\langle , \rangle$  denotes the inner product with respect to g. Let  $\tilde{K}(X)$  be the holomorphic sectional curvature spanned by a unit vector X and FX. By (1.1) or (2.2) we have

$$\tilde{K}(X) = \tilde{K}(X, FX, FX, X) = \left\langle \tilde{K}(X, FX) FX, X \right\rangle = 8L(X, X),$$

Let  $\tilde{\rho}(X,Y)$  denote the sectional curvature of  $\tilde{M}$  determined by section  $\{X,Y\}$  spanned by two orthonormal vector  $\{X,Y\}$ . If X,Y are both tangent to the totally real submanifold M then we have

$$\tilde{\rho}(X,Y) = L(X,X) + L(Y,Y) = \frac{1}{8} \left( \tilde{K}(X) + \tilde{K}(Y) \right).$$
(2.3)

The equation of (2.3) has been obtained by Iwasaki and Ogitsu, [6].

Let  $\rho(X,Y)$  denote the sectional curvature of *M* determined by orthonormal tangent vectors  $\{X,Y\}$  of *M*. Then the equation of Gauss (2.1) and (2.3) imply

$$\rho(X,Y) = \frac{1}{8} \left( \tilde{K}(X) + \tilde{K}(Y) \right) + \left\langle \sigma(X,X), \sigma(Y,Y) \right\rangle - \left\| \sigma(X,Y) \right\|^2,$$

where  $\sigma$  is the second fundamental form which is related to  $h_{ij}^{\alpha}$  by  $g(\sigma(X,Y),\xi) = h_{jk}^{i^*} X^j Y^k \xi^{i^*}$  for any normal  $\xi = \xi^{i^*} e_{i^*}$ . Let *S* be the Ricci tensor of *M* and *r* the scalar curvature of *M*. Then

$$S(X,Y) = (m-2)L(X,Y) + \frac{1}{8}m\tilde{k}\langle X,Y\rangle - \sum_{\alpha}g(h_{\alpha}X,h_{\alpha}Y),$$
$$r = \frac{1}{4}m(m-1)\tilde{k} - \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}\|^{2}.$$

Let  $\tilde{M}$  is locally symmetric. Let  $\Delta$  denote the Laplacian,  $\bigtriangledown'$  denote the covariant differentiation with respect to connection in (tangent bundle)  $\oplus$  (normal bundle) of M in  $\tilde{M}$ . If M is a minimal submanifold of  $\tilde{M}$  the following holds (see [5] for example). Since  $\tilde{M}$  is assumed to be locally symmetric:

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta \|\sigma\|^{2} = \|\nabla'\sigma\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4}(m+1)\tilde{c}\|\sigma\|^{2} + \sum tr\left(h_{i^{*}}h_{j^{*}} - h_{j^{*}}h_{i^{*}}\right)^{2} - \sum tr\left(h_{i^{*}}h_{j^{*}}\right)^{2},$$
(2.4)

where  $\tilde{c}$  is a function on M defined by  $h_{lk}^{j^*} h_{lk}^{j^*} \tilde{K}_{li} = \frac{1}{2} (m+1) \tilde{c} ||\sigma||^2$ . In order to prove the main theorem, we need the following lemmas. **Lemma 2.1.** Let  $H_i$ ,  $i \ge 2$  be symmetric  $n \times n$  matrices,  $S_i = trH_i^2$ ,  $S = \sum S_i$ . Then

$$\sum_{i,j} tr \left( H_i H_j - H_j H_i \right)^2 - \sum_{i,j} tr \left( H_i H_j \right)^2 \ge -\frac{3}{2} \|\sigma\|^4,$$
(2.5)

and the equality holds if and only if either all  $H_i = 0$  or there exists two of  $H_i$  different from zero. Moreover, if  $H_1 \neq 0, H_2 \neq 0, H_i = 0, i \neq 1, 2$ , then  $S_1 = S_2$  and there exists an orthogonal  $n \times n$  matrices T such that

$$TH_1^t T = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\sqrt{S_1}}{2} & 0 & \dots & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{\sqrt{S_1}}{2} & \dots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ TH_2^t T = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\sqrt{S_1}}{2} & \dots & 0\\ \frac{\sqrt{S_1}}{2} & 0 & \dots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

[**7**, **8**].

**Lemma 2.2.** Let N be a complete Riemannian manifold with Ricci curvature bounded from below and let f be a  $C^2$ -function bounded from above on N, then for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists a point  $x \in N$  at which, i) sup  $f - \varepsilon < f(x)$ , ii)  $\|\nabla f(x)\| < \varepsilon$ ,

iii)  $\Delta f(x) < \varepsilon$ , in [9].

#### 3. Proof of the main theorem

In this section, the method proof used by Ximin in [9] is applied totally real minimal submanifold immersed in a Bochner-Kaehler manifold. From (2.4) and (2.5), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta \|\sigma\|^2 \ge \|\sigma\|^2 \left(\frac{1}{4}(m+1)\tilde{c} - \frac{3}{2}\|\sigma\|^2\right).$$
(3.1)

We know that  $\|\sigma\|^2 = \frac{1}{4}m(m-1)\tilde{k} - r$ . By the condition of the theorem, we conclude that  $\|\sigma\|^2$  is bounded. We define  $f = \|\sigma\|^2$  and  $F = (f+a)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (where a > 0 is any positive constant number). *F* is bounded. We have

$$dF = \frac{1}{2} (f+a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} df,$$
  

$$\Delta F = \frac{1}{2} \left( -\frac{1}{2} (f+a)^{-\frac{3}{2}} \|df\|^2 + (f+a)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Delta f \right)$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( -2 \|dF\|^2 + \Delta f \right) (f+a)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$

i.e.,

$$\Delta F = \frac{1}{2} \left( -2 \left\| dF \right\|^2 + \Delta f \right)$$

Hence,  $F\Delta F = -\|dF\|^2 + \frac{1}{2}\Delta f$  or  $\frac{1}{2}\Delta f = F\Delta F + \|dF\|^2$ . Applying Lemma 2.2 to *F*, we have for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists a point  $x \in M$  such that at *x* 

$$\|dF(x)\| \le \varepsilon,\tag{3.2}$$

$$\Delta F(x) < \varepsilon, \tag{3.3}$$

 $F(x) > \sup F - \varepsilon. \tag{3.4}$ 

From (3.2),(3.3) and (3.4), we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\Delta f < \varepsilon^2 + F\varepsilon = \varepsilon \left(\varepsilon + F\right). \tag{3.5}$$

We take a sequence  $\{e_n\}$  such that  $\varepsilon_n \to 0 \ (n \to \infty)$  and for all *n*, there exists a point  $x_n \in M$  such that (3.2), (3.3) and (3.4) hold. Therefore,  $\varepsilon_n \ (\varepsilon_n + F(x_n)) \to 0 \ (n \to \infty)$  (Because *F* is bounded). From (3.4), we have  $F(x_n) > \sup F - \varepsilon_n$ . Because  $\{F(x_n)\}$  is a bounded sequence. So we get  $F(x_n) \to F_0$  (If necessary, we can choose a subsequence). Hence,  $F_0 \ge \sup F$ . So we have

$$F_0 = \sup F.$$

From the definition of F, we get

$$f(x_n) \to f = \sup f.$$

(3.1) and (3.5) imply that

$$f\left(\frac{1}{4}(m+1)\tilde{c}-\frac{3}{2}f\right)\leq \frac{1}{2}\Delta f\leq \varepsilon(\varepsilon+F),$$

and

$$f(x_n)\left(\frac{1}{4}(m+1)\tilde{c}-\frac{3}{2}f(x_n)\right)<\varepsilon_n^2+\varepsilon_nF(x_n)\leq\varepsilon_n^2+\varepsilon_nF_0,$$

let  $n \to \infty$ , then  $\varepsilon_n \to 0$  and  $f(x_n) \to f_0$ . Hence,

$$f_0\left(\frac{1}{4}\left(m+1\right)\tilde{c}-\frac{3}{2}f_0\right)\leq 0.$$

*i*) If  $f_0 = 0$ , we have  $f = ||\sigma||^2 = 0$ . Hence *M* is a totally geodesic. *ii*) If  $f_0 > 0$ , we have  $\frac{1}{4}(m+1)\tilde{c} - \frac{3}{2}f_0 \le 0$  and

$$f_0 \ge \frac{1}{6} \left( m + 1 \right) \tilde{c},$$

that is,  $\sup \|\sigma\|^2 \ge \frac{1}{6} (m+1) \tilde{c}$ . Therefore,

$$\inf r \le \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} m \left( m - 1 \right) \tilde{k} - \frac{1}{3} \left( m + 1 \right) \tilde{c} \right)$$

This completes the proof.

#### References

- B. Y. Chen, Some topological obstructions to Bochner-Kaehler metrics and their applications, J. Dif. Geom., 13 (1978), 547-558.
   B. Y. Chen, K. Yano, Manifolds with vanishing Weyl or Bochner curvature tensor, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 27(1975), 106-112.
   B. Y. Chen, F. Dilen, Totally real bisectional curvature, Bochner-Kaehler and Einstein-Kaehler manifolds, Differential Geom. Appl., 10(1999), 145-154.
   S. T. Yau, Harmonic functions on complete Riemannian manifolds, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 28 (1975), 201-228.
   C. S. Houh, Totally Real submanifolds in a Bochner-Kaehler Manifold, Tensor, 32 (1978), 293-296.
   K. Iwasaki, N. Ogitsu, On the mean curvature for Anti-holomorphic p-plane in Kaehlerian spaces, Tohoku Math. J., 27 (1975), 313-317.
   M. Bektaş, Totally real submanifolds in a quaternion space form, Czech. Math. J., 54(129) (2004), 341-346.
   W. Totally neal submanifolds of curvative for anti-mark curvative means form, Czech. Math. J., 40 (1099), 100-115.

- [8] H. Sun, Totally real pseudo-umblical submanifolds of quaternion space form, Glasgow Math. J., 40 (1998), 109-115.
  [9] L. Ximin, Totally real submanifolds in a complex projective space, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci., 22(1) (1999), 205-208.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.406335



(1.1)

# Finite Element Method for the Solution of a Time-Dependent Heat-Like Lane-Emden Equation

Mehmet Fatih Uçar<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Faculty of Science and Letters, Istanbul Kültür University, Istanbul, Turkey \*Corresponding author

Keywords: Galerkin method, Heat-type	?
equation, Time-dependent Lane-Emder	ı
equation.	
2010 AMS: 35K05, 65M60, 65N30	
Received: 15 March 2018	
Accepted: 20 July 2018	
Available online: 20 December 2018	

In this study, finite element method (FEM) with Galerkin Formula is applied to find the numerical solution of a time-dependent heat-like Lane-Emden equation. An example is solved to assess the accuracy of the method. The numerical results are obtained for different values (n) of equation. The results indicate that Galerkin method is effectively implemented. It is seen that results are compatible with exact solutions and consistent with other existing numerical methods.

#### 1. Introduction

**Article Info** 

In this paper, we consider heat-type equation for physical problems

$$u_{xx} + \frac{1}{2}u_x + ag(x,t)u + h(x,t) = u_t,$$

for  $0 < x \le L$ , 0 < t < T, r > 0,  $a \in Z$ , subject to the boundary conditions

Abstract

 $u(0,t) = v(t), \quad u_x(0,t) = 0.$ 

where g(x,t)y(u) + h(x,t) is nonlinear heat source, u(x,t) is the temperature, and t is the dimensionless time variable.

Some researchers dealed with this type of models. The analytic solutions to several forms of the above problem were presented by [1], Wazwaz used the Adomian decomposition method [2]. Chowdhury, He and Noorani solved these problems using homotopy-perturbation and variational iteration methods, Momani applied the method to the time fractional heat-like equation with variable coefficient, Ucar applied non-polynomial spline method to this equation [3, 4, 5, 6, 7].

In this study, we construct so-called finite element approximations to solutions to time-dependent heat-like equations. The term "finite element method" has come to be associated with using piecewise polynomials in one, two, and three dimensions together with so-called Rayleigh-Ritz method and its more general counter part, the Galerkin method, to approximate solutions to operator equations. In this study, we concentrate on Galerkin method with splines.

The paper is organized as follows: Galerkin method is described and solution of equation (1.1) is presented in Section 2 briefly. In Section 3 some numerical results that are illustrated using MATLAB programme are given to clarify the method. Concluding remarks are given in Section 4.

#### 2. Galerkin method

A usual scalar product for two real valued functions u(x) and v(x) is defined by  $\langle u, v \rangle = \int_0^T u(x)v(x)dx$ , u(x) and v(x) are orthogonal if  $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$ . And a norm associated with this scalar product is defined by

$$||u|| = \sqrt{\langle u, u \rangle} = (\int_0^T |u(x)|^2 dx)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
. Let

i.  $T_h: 0 = x_0 < x_1 < ... < x_M < x_{M+1} = 1$  be a partition of (0, 1),  $h_j = x_j - x_{j-1}$ ii. $V_h = v: v$ , continuous and piecewise linear function on  $T_h$  with v(0) = v(1) = 0iii. $\{\varphi_j\}, j = 1, ..M$  be a basis function for  $V_h$  where

$$\varphi_j(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{x - x_{j-1}}{h_j}, & x_{j-1} \le x \le x_j \\ \frac{x_{j+1} - x}{h_{j+1}}, & x_j \le x \le x_{j+1} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Firstly, we should modify the equation (1.1) by applying finite difference to the right-hand side of the equality to solve it by using Galerkin method:

$$u_i'' + \frac{r}{x}u_i' + ag(x_i, t)u_i + h(x_i, t) = \frac{u_i - f(x_i)}{k}$$

where  $f(x_i) = u(x_i, 0)$ . From algebraic manipulations we obtain

$$ku_i'' + \frac{rk}{x}u_i' + akg(x_i, t)u_i - u_i + kh(x_i, t) + f(x_i) = 0.$$
(2.1)

Now the Galerkin method for the equation (2.1) is formulated as follows: Find the approximate solution  $U(x) \in V_h$  such that

$$\int_{0}^{1} W\left(kU'' + \frac{rk}{x}U' + akg(x,t)U - U + kh(x,t) + f(x)\right)dx = 0, \quad (\forall W(x) \in V_h)$$

so we get

$$\int_0^1 \left( kWU'' + \frac{rk}{x}WU' + (akg(x,t) - 1)WU \right) dx = -\int_0^1 (Wkh(x,t) + Wf(x)) dx.$$
$$\int_0^1 WU'' dx = \left[ [U'W] \right]_0^1 - \int_0^1 W'U' dx$$

and since W(0) = W(1) = 0 for  $W(x) \in V_h$  we get

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left( -kW'U' + \frac{rk}{x}WU' + (akg(x,t) - 1)WU \right) dx = -\int_{0}^{1} (Wkh(x,t) + Wf(x)) dx.$$
(2.2)

We may find the approximate solution  $U(x) \in V_h$  by using basis functions  $\varphi_j(x)$  as

$$U(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{M} c_j \varphi_j(x), \quad U'(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{M} c_j \varphi'_j(x), \quad W(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{M} s_i \varphi_i(x).$$

If we use these identities in equation (2.2), then we get

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \varphi_{i}'(x) \sum_{j=1}^{M} k c_{j} \varphi_{j}'(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \varphi_{i}(x) \sum_{j=1}^{M} \frac{rk}{x} c_{j} \varphi_{j}'(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \varphi_{i}(x) \sum_{j=1}^{M} (akg(x,t) - 1) c_{j} \varphi_{j}(x) \right] dx$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{1} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \varphi_{i}(x) (f(x) + kh(x,t)) \right] dx$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \int_{0}^{1} \sum_{j=1}^{M} c_{j} \left( k \varphi_{i}'(x) \varphi_{j}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{i}(x) \varphi_{j}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1) \varphi_{i}(x) \varphi_{j}(x) \right) dx = -\sum_{i=1}^{M} s_{i} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{i}(x) (f(x) + kh(x,t)) dx.$$

For |i - j| > 1 we have  $\int_0^1 \varphi'_j \varphi_i dx = 0$  and  $\int_0^1 \varphi_j \varphi_i dx = 0$ , since if so then we have that  $\varphi_j$  and  $\varphi_i$  have non-overlapping supports. The method is described in matrix form in the following way: for i = 2, j = 1, ..., M

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{21} &= \int_{h}^{2h} \left( k \varphi_{2}'(x) \varphi_{1}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{2}(x) \varphi_{1}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1)\varphi_{2}(x)\varphi_{1}(x) \right) dx \\ \alpha_{22} &= \int_{h}^{3h} \left( k \varphi_{2}'(x) \varphi_{2}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{2}(x) \varphi_{2}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1)\varphi_{2}(x)\varphi_{2}(x) \right) dx \\ \alpha_{23} &= \int_{2h}^{3h} \left( k \varphi_{2}'(x) \varphi_{3}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{2}(x) \varphi_{3}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1)\varphi_{2}(x) \varphi_{3}(x) \right) dx \end{aligned}$$

for i = n, j = 1, ..., M

$$\alpha_{n(n-1)} = \int_{(n-1)h}^{nh} \left( k \varphi_n'(x) \varphi_{n-1}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_n(x) \varphi_{n-1}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1) \varphi_n(x) \varphi_{n-1}(x) \right) dx$$

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{nn} &= \int_{(n-1)h}^{(n+1)h} \left( k \varphi_n'(x) \varphi_n'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_n(x) \varphi_n'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1) \varphi_n(x) \varphi_n(x) \right) dx \\ \alpha_{n(n+1)} &= \int_{nh}^{(n+1)h} \left( k \varphi_n'(x) \varphi_{n+1}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_n(x) \varphi_{n+1}'(x) + (akg(x,t) - 1) \varphi_n(x) \varphi_{n+1}(x) \right) dx \\ \text{for } i &= M - 1, \ j = 1, ..., M \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{(M-1)(M-2)} &= \int_{(M-2)h}^{(M-1)h} \left( k \varphi_{M-1}'(x) \varphi_{M-2}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M-2}'(x) + (akg(x,t)-1) \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M-2}(x) \right) dx \\ \alpha_{(M-1)(M-1)} &= \int_{(M-2)h}^{(M)h} \left( k \varphi_{M-1}'(x) \varphi_{M-1}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M-1}'(x) + (akg(x,t)-1) \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M-1}(x) \right) dx \\ \alpha_{(M-1)M} &= \int_{(M-1)h}^{Mh} \left( k \varphi_{M-1}'(x) \varphi_{M}'(x) + \frac{rk}{x} \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M}'(x) + (akg(x,t)-1) \varphi_{M-1}(x) \varphi_{M}(x) \right) dx \end{aligned}$$

so we get the matrices

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha_{21} & \alpha_{22} & \alpha_{23} & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha_{32} & \alpha_{33} & \alpha_{34} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \alpha_{(M-1)(M-2)} & \alpha_{(M-1)(M-1)} & \alpha_{(M-1)M} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$B = \begin{bmatrix} u(0,t) = e^{\sin t} \\ \int_{h}^{3h} \varphi_{2}(x) (f(x) + kh(x,t)) \\ \int_{2h}^{4h} \varphi_{3}(x) (f(x) + kh(x,t)) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \int_{(M-1)h}^{(M+1)h} \varphi_{M}(x) (f(x) + kh(x,t)) \\ u(1,t) = e^{1 + \sin t} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$C = [c_{1}, c_{2}, \dots, c_{M}]'.$$

AC = B.

(2.3)

Finally the approximate solution U is obtained by solving C from equation (2.3) using Matlab programme.

#### 3. Numerical example

In this section, we test our scheme on an example. We consider the numerical results obtained by applying the scheme discussed above to the following equation

$$u'' + \frac{2}{x}u' - (6 + 4x^2 - \cos t)u = u_t \quad 0 < x < 1, \quad t > 0$$

with initial condition

 $u(x,0) = e^{x^2}$ 

and boundary conditions

$$u(0,t) = e^{\sin t}, \quad u_x(0,t) = 0.$$

The exact solution of the above problem is  $u(x,t) = e^{x^2 + \sin t}$ . The problem is solved by using the scheme above in this paper. The maximum absolute errors are listed in Table 1. Also, numerical results given by scheme are shown in Figure 1.

Table 1: Maximum absolute errors, k = 0.01

n	Spline method[3]	Galerkin method
11	6.8863e-03	2.3842e-03
21	1.9090e-03	6.7890e-04
41	7.8276e-04	1.8533e-04
61	5.9650e-04	7.6553e-05
121	5.2565e-05	3.8863e-05

#### 4. Conclusion

In this paper, finite element method with Galerkin formula is applied for the numerical solution of the heat-like time-dependent Lane-Emden equation and the maximum absolute errors have shown in Table 1, which shows that this method approximate the exact solution very well. The implementation of the present method is more computational than the existing methods.

#### References

- [1] N. T. Shawagfeh, Nonperturbative approximate solution for Lane-Emden equation, J. Math. Phys., 34(9) (1993), 43–64.
- [2] A. M. Wazwaz Analytical solution for the time-dependent Emden–Fowler type of equations by Adomian decomposition method, Appl. Math. Comput., **166** (2005), 638–651.
- [10] [2005], 050-071.
  [13] B. Batha, M. S. M. Noorani Application of variational iteration method to heat- and wave-like equations, Phys. Lett. A, 369 (2007), 55–61.
  [14] H. Caglar, M. F. Ucar, Non-polynomial spline method for a time dependent heat-like Lane-Emden equation, Acta Phys. Polon. A., 121 1 (2012),
- 262–264.
  [5] J. H. He, Variational iteration method a kind of non-linear analytical technique: some examples, Internat. J. Non-Linear Mech., 34 (1999), 699–708.
  [6] M. S. H. Chowdhury, I. Hashim, Solutions of time-dependent Emden–Fowler type equations by homotopy-perturbation method, Phys. Lett. A, 368 (2007), 305–313.
  [7] S. Momani, Analytical approximate solution for fractional heat-like and wave-like equations with variable coefficients using the decomposition method, Appl. Math. Comput., 165 (2005), 459–472.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.456191



## An Arbitrary Order Differential Equations on Times Scale

S. Harikrishnan<sup>a</sup>, Rabha W. Ibrahim<sup>b\*</sup> and K. Kanagarajan<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, , Sri Ramakrishna Mission Vidyalaya College of Arts and Science, Coimbatore-641020, India <sup>b</sup>Senior IEEE member <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Fractional calculus, Existence, Ulam-Hyers-Rassias stability 2010 AMS: 03C45, 26A33, 32G34, 34C07 Received: 31 August 2018 Accepted: 26 September 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 Here existence and stability results of  $\psi$ -Hilfer fractional differential equations on time scales is obtained. Here sufficient condition for existence and uniqueness of solution by using Schauder's fixed point theorem (FPT) and Banach FPT is produced. In addition, generalized Ulam stability of the proposed problem is also discussed. problem.

#### 1. Introduction

In the past decade, fractional differential equations(FDEs) appeared as rich and beautiful field of research due to their applications to the physical and life sciences and it is witnessed by blossoming literature, for instance see [1]-[6].

Consider the dynamic equation on time scales with  $\psi$ -Hilfer fractional derivative (HFD) of the form

$$\begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha,\beta;\psi}\mathfrak{u}(t) = \mathfrak{g}(\tau,\mathfrak{u}(\tau)), & \tau = [0,b] := J \subseteq \mathbb{T}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{1-\gamma;\psi}\mathfrak{u}(0) = \mathfrak{u}_0, & \gamma = \alpha + \beta - \alpha\beta, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where  $\mathbb{T}\Delta^{\alpha,\beta;\psi}$  is  $\psi$ -HFD defined on  $\mathbb{T}$ ,  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ ,  $\beta \in [0,1]$  and  $\mathfrak{I}^{1-\gamma;\psi}$  is  $\psi$ -fractional interal of order  $1-\gamma(\gamma=\alpha+\beta-\alpha\beta)$ . Let  $\mathbb{T}$  be a time scale, that is nonempty subset of Banach space and  $\mathfrak{g}: J \times \mathbb{T} \to R$  is a right-dense function.

Time scales calculus allows us to study the dynamic equations, which include both difference and differential equations, both of which are very important in implementing applications; for further information about the theoretical and potential applications of time scales, refer [7]-[9]

The dynamical behaviour of FDEs on time scales is currently undergoing active investigations. Several authors deliberate the existence and uniqueness solutions for problems involving classical fractional derivative [10, 11]. Motivated by the above works here we discuss the existence theory and stability criteria of FDEs on times scale. In order to solve the proposed problem  $\psi$ -HFD is utilized. The emergent and properties of  $\psi$ -HFD and the qualitative analysis is briefly studied in [12]-[14]. Further considerable attention paid to Ulam stability results for FDEs. For Ulam-Hyers stability theory of FDEs and its recent development, one can refer to [15]-[17]. Further the solution of generalized Ulam-Hyers-Rassias(UHR) is obtained.

#### 2. Preliminaries

Throughout this study, let C(J) be continuous function with norm

 $\left\|\mathfrak{u}\right\|_{C}=\max\left\{\left|\mathfrak{u}(\tau)\right|:\tau\in J\right\}.$ 

We denote the space  $C_{\gamma}(J)$  as follows

 $C_{\gamma}(J) := \left\{ \mathfrak{g}(\tau) : J \to R | (\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{\gamma} \mathfrak{g}(\tau) \in C(J) \right\}, 0 \le \gamma < 1$ 

the weighted space  $C_{\gamma}(J)$  of the functions g on the interval J. Thus,  $C_{\gamma}(J)$  is the Banach space provided the norm

 $\|\mathfrak{g}\|_{C_{\gamma}} = \left\| (\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{\gamma} \mathfrak{g}(\tau) \right\|_{C}.$ 

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: hkkhari1@gmail.com (S. Harikrishnan), rabhaibrahim@yahoo.com, 0000-0001-9341-025X (R. W. Ibrahim), kanagarajank@gmail.com (K. Kanagarajan)

**Definition 2.1.** Let time scale be  $\mathbb{T}$ . The forward jump operator  $\sigma : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$  is defined by  $\sigma(\tau) := \inf \{s \in \mathbb{T} : s > \tau\}$ , while the backward jump operator  $\rho : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$  is defined by  $\rho(\tau) := \sup \{s \in \mathbb{T} : s < \tau\}$ .

**Proposition 2.2.** Suppose  $\mathbb{T}$  is a time scale and  $[a,b] \subset \mathbb{T}$ ,  $\mathfrak{g}$  is increasing continuous function on [a,b]. If the extension of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is given in the following form:

$$\mathscr{G}(s) = egin{cases} \mathfrak{g}(s); & s \in \mathbb{T} \ \mathfrak{g}( au); & s \in ( au, \sigma( au)) \notin \mathbb{T}. \end{cases}$$

Then we have

$$\int_a^b \mathfrak{g}(t) \Delta t \leq \int_a^b \mathscr{G}(t) dt.$$

**Definition 2.3.** Let  $\mathbb{T}$  be a time scale,  $J \in \mathbb{T}$ . The left-sided R-L fractional integral of order  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+$  of function  $\mathfrak{g}(\tau)$  is defined by

$$\left(^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\alpha}\mathfrak{g}\right)(\tau) = \int_{0}^{\tau} \psi'(s) \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s))^{\alpha - 1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \mathfrak{g}(s) \Delta s.$$

**Definition 2.4.** Suppose  $\mathbb{T}$  is a time scale, [0,b] is an interval of  $\mathbb{T}$ . The *R*-*L* fractional derivative of order  $\alpha \in [n-1,n)$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  of function  $\mathfrak{g}(\tau)$  is defined by

$$\left(\mathbb{T}\Delta^{\alpha}\mathfrak{g}\right)(\tau) = \left(\frac{1}{\psi'(\tau)}\frac{d}{d\tau}\right)^{n}\int_{0}^{\tau}\psi'(s)\frac{(\psi(\tau)-\psi(s))^{n-\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)}\mathfrak{g}(s)\Delta s$$

**Definition 2.5.** [2] The  $\psi$ -HFD of order  $\alpha$  and type  $\beta$  of function  $\mathfrak{g}(\tau)$  is defined by

$$^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha,\beta;\psi}\mathfrak{g}(t) = \left(^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\beta(1-\alpha);\psi} \,^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta(^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{(1-\beta)(1-\alpha);\psi}\mathfrak{g})\right)(\tau),$$

where  $^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta := \frac{d}{d\tau}$ .

**Remark 2.6.** *1.* Here  ${}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha,\beta;\psi}$  is also written as

$${}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha,\beta;\psi} = \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\beta(1-\alpha);\psi} \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{(1-\beta)(1-\alpha);\psi} = \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\beta(1-\alpha);\psi} \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\gamma;\psi}, \, \gamma = \alpha + \beta - \alpha\beta.$$

- 2. Let  $\beta = 0$ , it transfers into *R*-*L* derivative given by  $^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha} := ^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha,0}$ .
- 3. Let  $\beta = 0$ , it turns to be Caputo fractional derivative given by  ${}^{\mathbb{T}}_{c}\Delta^{\alpha} := {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{1-\alpha} {}^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta$ .

Next, we review some lemmas which will be used to extabilish our existence results.

**Lemma 2.7.** If  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$ , there exist

$$\left[{}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\alpha}\left(\psi(s)-\psi(0)\right)^{\beta-1}\right](\tau)=\frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\beta+\alpha)}\left(\psi(\tau)-\psi(0)\right)^{\beta+\alpha-1}$$

**Lemma 2.8.** Let  $\alpha \ge 0$ ,  $\beta \ge 0$  and  $\mathfrak{g} \in L^1(J)$ . Then

$${}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{lpha} \, \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{eta}\mathfrak{g}( au) \stackrel{a.e}{=} \, \, {}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{lpha+eta}\mathfrak{g}( au).$$

**Lemma 2.9.** If  $\mathfrak{g} \in C_{\gamma}(J)$  and  ${}^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{1-\alpha}\mathfrak{g} \in C_{\gamma}^{1}(J)$ , then

$$^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{\alpha} \, ^{\mathbb{T}}\Delta^{\alpha}\mathfrak{g}(\tau) = \mathfrak{g}(\tau) - \frac{\left(^{\mathbb{T}}\mathfrak{I}^{1-\alpha}\mathfrak{g}\right)(0)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0)\right)^{\alpha-1}.$$

**Lemma 2.10.** Suppose  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $a(\tau)$  is a nonnegative function locally integrable on  $0 \le \tau < b$  (some  $b \le \infty$ ), and let  $g(\tau)$  be a nonnegative, nondecreasing continuous function defined on  $0 \le \tau < b$ , such that  $g(\tau) \le K$  for some constant K. Further let  $u(\tau)$  be a nonnegative locally integrable on  $0 \le \tau < b$  function with

$$|\mathfrak{u}(\tau)| \leq a(\tau) + g(\tau) \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} \mathfrak{u}(s) \Delta s,$$

with some  $\alpha > 0$ . Then

$$|\mathfrak{u}(\tau)| \leq a(\tau) + \int_0^\tau \left[\sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{(g(\tau)\Gamma(\alpha))^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha)} \psi'(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{n\alpha-1}\right] \mathfrak{u}(s) \Delta s.$$

**Theorem 2.11.** (Schauder FPT) Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a Banach space and  $\mathscr{Q}$  be a nonempty bounded convex and closed subset of  $\mathscr{E}$  and  $\mathscr{N} : \mathscr{Q} \to \mathscr{Q}$  is compact, and continuous map. Then  $\mathscr{N}$  has at least one fixed point in  $\mathscr{Q}$ .

#### 3. Existence results

Lemma 3.1. Here u is solution of (1.1) if and only if u satisfies the following integral equation

$$\mathfrak{u}(\tau) = \frac{\mathfrak{u}_0}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(0) \right)^{\gamma - 1} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s, \quad t > 0.$$

$$(3.1)$$

For further investigation, we give the following assumptions:

- (H1) The function  $\mathfrak{g}: J \times R \to R$  is a rd-continuous.
- (H2) There exists a positive constants L > 0 such that

$$|\mathfrak{g}(\tau,\mathfrak{u}) - \mathfrak{g}(\tau,\mathfrak{v})| \leq L |\mathfrak{u} - \mathfrak{v}|.$$

(H3) There exists an increasing function  $\varphi \in C_{1-\gamma}(J)$  and there exists  $\lambda_{\varphi} > 0$  such that for any  $\tau \in J$ ,

<sup>T</sup>
$$\mathfrak{I}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\tau) \leq \lambda_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\tau).$$

**Theorem 3.2.** Assume that (H1)-(H2) are fulfilled. Then, equation (1.1) has at least one solution.

*Proof.* Consider the operator  $\mathscr{P}: C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J) \to C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J)$ . The equivalent Volterra integral equation (3.1) which can be written in the operator form

$$(\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u})(\tau) = \mathfrak{u}_0(\tau) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s$$

with

$$\mathfrak{u}_0(\tau) = \frac{\mathfrak{u}_0}{\Gamma(\gamma)} \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(0) \right)^{\gamma-1}.$$

Define  $B_r = \left\{ \mathfrak{u} \in C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J) : \|\mathfrak{u}\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}} \leq r \right\}.$ Set  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(s) = \mathfrak{g}(s,0)$ ,

$$\sigma = \frac{|\mathfrak{u}_0|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{B(\gamma,\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left( \psi(b) - \psi(0) \right)^{\alpha} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{LB(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{\alpha})}{\Gamma(\boldsymbol{\alpha})} \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(b) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0) \right)^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$$

To verify Theorem 2.11, we divide the proof into three steps. **Step 1:** We check that  $\mathscr{P}(B_r) \subset B_r$ .

$$\begin{split} & \left| (\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma} (\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u})(\tau) \right| \\ & \leq \frac{|\mathfrak{u}_0|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s))| \Delta s \\ & \leq \frac{|\mathfrak{u}_0|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s,0)| \Delta s \\ & + \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s,0)| \Delta s \\ & \leq \frac{|\mathfrak{u}_0|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} L |\mathfrak{u}| \Delta s \\ & + \frac{(\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi^{'}(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1} |\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}| \Delta s \\ & \leq \frac{|\mathfrak{u}_0|}{\Gamma(\gamma)} + \frac{B(\gamma,\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(\psi(b) - \psi(0)\right)^{\alpha} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}} + \frac{LB(\gamma,\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(\psi(b) - \psi(0)\right)^{\alpha} \|\mathfrak{u}\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}} \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\|(\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u})\| \leq \sigma + \omega r \leq r.$$

Which yields that  $\mathscr{P}(B_r) \subset B_r$ . Next, the completely continuous of operator  $\mathscr{P}$  is proved. **Step 2:** The operator  $\mathscr{P}$  is continuous. Let  $\mathfrak{u}_n$  be a sequence such that  $\mathfrak{u}_n \to \mathfrak{u}$  in  $C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J)$ .

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} ((\mathscr{P}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{u}}_n)(t) - (\mathscr{P}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{u}})(\tau) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{(\boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{\tau} \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}_n(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s))| \Delta s \\ &\leq \frac{(\boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{\tau} \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \sup_{s \in J} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}_n(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s))| \Delta s \\ &\leq \frac{(\boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{\tau} \boldsymbol{\psi}'(s) \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(\tau) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}_n(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s))| ds, \quad \text{(by Proposition 2.2)} \\ &\leq \frac{B(\gamma, \alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left( \boldsymbol{\psi}(b) - \boldsymbol{\psi}(0) \right)^{\alpha} \| \mathfrak{g}(\cdot, \mathfrak{u}_n(\cdot)) - \mathfrak{g}(\cdot, \mathfrak{u}(\cdot)) \|_{C_{1-\gamma, \psi}}, \end{split}$$

Since  ${\mathfrak g}$  is continuous, Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem implies

$$\|\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}_n - \mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}\|_{C_{1,n}} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

**Step 3:**  $\mathscr{P}(B_r)$  is relatively compact.

Thus  $\mathscr{P}(B_r)$  is uniformly bounded. Let  $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in J, \tau_1 < \tau_2$ , then

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( \mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u} \right)(\tau_{2}) \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} - \left( \mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u} \right)(\tau_{1}) \left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\tau_{2}} \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s \right| \\ &- \frac{\left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} \psi'(s) \left| \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} - \left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} \left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \right| \left| \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s)) \right| \Delta s \\ &+ \frac{\left( \psi(t_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \left| \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s) \right) \right| \Delta s \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\tau_{1}} \psi'(s) \left| \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} - \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} \left( \psi(\tau_{1}) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} \right| \left| \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}(s) \right) \right| ds \\ &+ \frac{\left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left( \psi(\tau_{2}) - \psi(\tau_{1}) \right)^{\alpha+\gamma-1} B(\gamma, \alpha) \left\| \mathfrak{g} \right\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, right-hand part tends to zero. Hence along with the Arz $\ddot{e}$ la-Ascoli theorem and from Step 1-3, it is concluded that  $\mathscr{P}$  is completely continuous. Thus the proposed problem has at least one solution.

Lemma 3.3. Assume that (H1) and (H3) are fulfilled. If

$$\left(\frac{LB(\gamma,\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\left(\psi(b)-\psi(0)\right)^{\alpha}\right) < 1$$
(3.2)

then there exists unique solution for Eq. (1.1).

*Proof.* Define the operator  $\mathscr{P}: C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J) \to C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J)$ .

$$(\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u})(\tau) = \mathfrak{u}_0(\tau) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t \psi'(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s$$

with  $\mathfrak{u}_0(\tau) = \frac{\mathfrak{u}_0}{\Gamma(\gamma)} (\psi(\tau) - \psi(0))^{\gamma-1}$ . Let  $\mathfrak{u}_1, \mathfrak{u}_2 \in C_{1-\gamma,\psi}(J)$  and  $\tau \in J$ , then

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( \Psi(\tau) - \Psi(0) \right)^{1-\gamma} ((\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}_1)(\tau) - (\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}_2)(\tau)) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{(\Psi(\tau) - \Psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \Psi'(s) \left( \Psi(\tau) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}_1(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}_2(s))| \Delta s \\ &\leq \frac{(\Psi(\tau) - \Psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \Psi'(s) \left( \Psi(\tau) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}_1(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{u}_2(s))| ds \\ &\leq \frac{L(\Psi(\tau) - \Psi(0))^{1-\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \Psi'(s) \left( \Psi(\tau) - \Psi(s) \right)^{\alpha-1} |\mathfrak{u}_1(s) - \mathfrak{u}_2(s)| ds \\ &\leq \frac{LB(\gamma, \alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left( \Psi(b) - \Psi(0) \right)^{\alpha} \|\mathfrak{u}_1 - \mathfrak{u}_2\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\Psi}}. \end{split}$$

Then,

$$\left\|\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}_{1}-\mathscr{P}\mathfrak{u}_{2}\right\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}}\leq\frac{LB(\gamma,\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\left(\psi(b)-\psi(0)\right)^{\alpha}\left\|\mathfrak{u}_{1}-\mathfrak{u}_{2}\right\|_{C_{1-\gamma,\psi}}$$

From (3.2), it follows that  $\mathscr{P}$  has a unique fixed point which is solution of problem (1.1).

#### 4. Stability analysis

Next, we shall give the definitions and the criteria generalized UHR stability.

**Definition 4.1.** Equation (1.1) is generalized UHR stable with respect to  $\varphi \in C_{1-\gamma}(J)$  if there exists a real number  $c_{\mathfrak{q},\varphi} > 0$  such that for each solution  $\mathfrak{v} \in C_{1-\gamma}(J)$  of the inequality

$$\left| {}^{\mathbb{T}} \Delta^{\alpha,\beta} \mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{g}(\tau,\mathfrak{v}(\tau)) \right| \le \varphi(t), \tag{4.1}$$

there exists a solution  $\mathfrak{u} \in C_{1-\gamma}^{\gamma}(J)$  of equation (1.1) with

$$|\mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{u}(\tau)| \leq c_{\mathfrak{g},\varphi}\varphi(\tau)$$

**Theorem 4.2.** Assume that (H1), (H3), (H4) and (3.2) are satisfied. Then, the problem (1.1) is generalized UHR stable.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathfrak{v} \in C_{1-\gamma}(J)$  be solution of the following inequality (4.1) and let  $\mathfrak{u} \in C_{1-\gamma}(J)$  be the unique solution of the  $\psi$ -Hilfer type dynamics equation (1.1). By Lemma 3.1,

$$\mathfrak{u}(\tau) = \mathfrak{u}_0(\tau) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left(\psi(\tau) - \psi(s)\right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s)) \Delta s$$

By integration of (4.1) we obtain

$$\left|\mathfrak{v}(\tau)-\mathfrak{v}_{0}(\tau)-\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{0}^{\tau}\psi'(s)\left(\psi(\tau)-\psi(s)\right)^{\alpha-1}\mathfrak{g}(s,\mathfrak{v}(s))\Delta s\right|\leq\lambda_{\varphi}\varphi(\tau)$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{u}(\tau)| &\leq \left| \mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{v}_0(\tau) - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) \Delta s \right| \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) - \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{u}(s))| \Delta s \\ &\leq \left| \mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{v}_0(\tau) - \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^\tau \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} \mathfrak{g}(s, \mathfrak{v}(s)) \Delta s \right| \\ &+ \frac{L}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{v}(s) - \mathfrak{u}(s)| ds \\ &\leq \lambda_\varphi \varphi(\tau) + \frac{L}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^t \psi'(s) \left( \psi(\tau) - \psi(s) \right)^{\alpha - 1} |\mathfrak{v}(s) - \mathfrak{u}(s)| ds. \end{aligned}$$

By applying Lemma 2.10, we obtain

$$|\mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{u}(\tau)| \leq \left[ (1 + v_1 L \lambda_{\varphi}) \lambda_{\varphi} \right] \varphi(\tau),$$

where  $v_1 = v_1(\alpha)$  is a constant, then for any  $\tau \in J$ :

$$|\mathfrak{v}(\tau) - \mathfrak{u}(\tau)| \leq c_{\mathfrak{g}} \varepsilon \varphi(\tau)$$

Thus, the proof is complete.

#### References

- [1] K. M. Furati, M. D. Kassim, N.e.. Tatar, Existence and uniqueness for a problem involving Hilfer fractional derivative, Comput. Math. Appl., 64 (2012), [1] K. M. Fulat, M. D. Rassin, P.C. Hau, Existence and annualized synchronous production of the synchronous produ

- [5] S. G. Samko, A. A. Kilbas, O. I. Marichev, Fractional integrals and derivatives, theory and applications, Gordon and Breach Sci. Publishers, Yverdon,
- 1993. [6] D. Vivek, K. Kanagarajan, E. M. Elsayed, Some existence and stability results for Hilfer-fractional implicit differential equations with nonlocal conditions, Mediterr. J. Math., 15 (2018), 1-15.
- R. P. Agarwal, M. Bohner, Basic calculus on time scales and some of its applications, Results Math., 35 (1999), 3-22.
- [8] M. Bohner, A. Peterson, Advances in dynamic equations on time scales, Birkhauser, Boston, 2003.
- M. Bohner, A. Peterson, Dtnamica equations on times scale, Birkhauser, Boston, Boston, MA.
- [10] A. Ahmadkhanlu, M. Jahanshahi, On the existence and uniqueness of solution of initial value problem for fractional order differential equations on time *scales*, Bull. Iranian Math. Soc., **38** (2012), 241-252. [11] N. Benkhettou, A. Hammoudi, D. F. M. Torres, *Existence and uniqueness of solution for a fractional Riemann-lioville initial value problem on time*
- scales, J. King Saud Univ. Sci., 28 (2016), 87-92.
- [12] S. Harikrishnan, K. Shah, D. Baleanu, K. Kanagarajan, Note on the solution of random differential equations via  $\psi$ -Hilfer fractional derivative, Adv. Difference Equ., 2018(224) (2018).
   [13] J. Vanterler da C. Sousa, E. Capelas de Oliveira, On the *ψ*-Hilfer fractional derivative, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul., (in press).
- [14] J. Vanterler da C. Sousa, E. Capelas de Oliveira, Ulam-Hyers stability of a nonlinear fractional Volterra integro-differential equation, Appl. Math. Lett., (in press).
- [15] R. W. Ibrahim, Generalized Ulam-Hyers stability for fractional differential equations, Int. J. Math., 23 (2012).
- [16] P. Muniyappan, S. Rajan, Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of fractional differential equation, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math., 102 (2015), 631-642.
   [17] J. Wang, L. Lv, Y. Zhou, Ulam stability and data dependence for fractional differential equations with Caputo derivative, Electron J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ., 63 (2011), 1-10.

**UJMA** 

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.399587



## Some New Cauchy Sequence Spaces

Harun Polat<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Muş Alparslan University, Art and Science Faculty, Department of Mathematics, 49100 Muş, Turkey <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

#### Article Info

#### Abstract

Keywords: Cauchy sequence spaces,  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ - duals, Schauder basis, Matrix mappings 2010 AMS: 46A35, 46A45, 46B45 Received: 28 February 2018 Accepted: 6 April 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018 In this paper, our goal is to introduce some new Cauchy sequence spaces. These spaces are defined by Cauchy transforms. We shall use notations  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  for these new sequence spaces. We prove that these new sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  are the *BK*-spaces and isomorphic to the spaces  $l_{\infty}$ , *c* and  $c_0$ , respectively. Besides the bases of these spaces,  $\alpha -$ ,  $\beta -$  and  $\gamma -$  duals of these spaces will be given. Finally, the matrix classes  $(C(s,t):l_p)$  and (C(s,t):c) have been characterized.

#### 1. Preliminaries, background and notation

By w, we shall denote the space of all real or complex valued sequences. Any vector subspace of w is called as a sequence space. We shall write  $l_{\infty}$ , c,  $c_0$  and  $l_p$  for the spaces of all bounded, convergent, null and absolutely p-summable sequences which are given by

$$l_{\infty} = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sup_{k \to \infty} |x_k| < \infty \right\},$$
$$c = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{k \to \infty} x_k \text{ exists} \right\},$$
$$c_0 = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{k \to \infty} x_k = 0 \right\}$$

and

$$l_p = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |x_k|^p < \infty, 1 \le p < \infty \right\}.$$

Also by bs, cs and  $l_1$ , we denote the spaces of all bounded, convergent and absolutely convergent series, respectively.

A sequence space  $\lambda$  with a linear topology is called an K- space provided of the maps  $p_i : \lambda \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $p_i(x) = x_i$  is continuous for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ ; where  $\mathbb{C}$  denotes the set of complex number and  $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ . Let  $\lambda$  be an K- space. Then  $\lambda$  is called an FK- space provided  $\lambda$  is a complete linear metric space. An FK- space provided whose topology is normable is called a BK- space [1].

Let *X*, *Y* be any two sequence spaces and  $A = (a_{nk})$  be an infinite matrix of real numbers, where  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, we write  $Ax = ((Ax)_n)$ , the *A*-transform of *x*, if  $A_n(x) = \sum_k a_{nk}x_k$  converges for each  $n \in N$ . If for every sequence  $x = (x_k) \in X$ , *A*-transform of *x* sequence *Ax* is in *Y*. Then we say that *A* defines a matrix transformation from *X* into *Y* and denote it by  $A : X \to Y$ . By (X : Y) we mean the class of all infinite matrices such that  $A : X \to Y$ .

Let *F* denote the collection of all finite subsets on  $\mathbb{N}$  and *K*,  $\mathbb{N} \subset F$ . The matrix domain  $X_A$  of an infinite matrix *A* in a sequence space *X* is defined by

$$X_A = \{x = (x_k) \in w : Ax \in X\}$$
(1.1)

which is a sequence space.

The approach constructing a new sequence space by means of the matrix domain of a particular limitation method has been employed by many authors recently. They introduced the sequence spaces  $(c_0)_{T'} = t_0^r$  and  $(c)_{T'} = t_c^r$  in [2],  $(c_0)_{E'} = e_0^r$  and  $(c)_{E'} = e_c^r$  in [3],  $(c_0)_C = \overline{c_0}$  and  $c_C = \overline{c}$  in [3],  $(l_p)_{E'} = e_p^r$  in [4],  $(l_{\infty})_{R'} = r_{\infty}^t$ ,  $c_{R'} = r_c^t$  and  $(c_0)_{R'} = r_0^r$  in [5],  $(l_p)_C = X_p$  in [6] and  $(l_p)_{N_q}$  in [7] where  $T^r$ ,  $E^r$ , C,  $R^t$ and Nq denote the Taylor, Euler, Cesaro, Riesz and Nörlund means, respectively. In recent years, constructing a new sequence space by means of the domain of an infinite matrix was used by Candan [8, 9], Altay [10], Altay and Başar [11], Aydın and Başar [12], Başar [13, 14], Başar, Altay and Mursaleen [15], Polat and Başar [16].

Following [2]-[7], [17] by the same way, to introduce the new Cauchy sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  is the purpose of this paper.

#### 2. The Cauchy matrix of inverse formula and Cauchy sequence spaces

Given two vectors s and t such that  $s_i \neq -t_j$  for all i and j, the  $n \times n$  matrix C = C(s,t) is a Cauchy (generalized Hilbert) matrix [18] where  $C(s,t) = c_{ij} = \left[\frac{1}{s_i+t_i}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1}$ . The inverse of Cauchy's Matrix [19] is given by

$$C^{-1}(s,t) = c_{ij}^{-1} = \frac{\prod_{1 \le k \le n} (s_j + t_k) (s_k + t_i)}{\left(s_j + t_i\right) \left[\prod_{\substack{1 \le k \le n \\ j \ne k}} (s_j - s_k)\right] \left[\prod_{\substack{1 \le k \le n \\ i \ne k}} (t_i - t_k)\right]}.$$
(2.1)

C(s,t) denotes the Cauchy mean defined by the matrix  $C(s,t) = (c_{ij}), c_{ij} = [\frac{1}{s_i+t_j}]_{i,j=1}^n$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We introduce the Cauchy sequence spaces,

$$C_{\infty}(s,t) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sup_n \left| \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} x_k \right| < \infty \right\},\$$
$$C(s,t) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} x_k \text{ exists} \right\}$$

and

$$C_0(s,t) = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} x_k = 0 \right\}.$$

By means of the notation (1.1), we may redefine the spaces  $C_0(s,t)$  and C(s,t) as follows:

$$C_0(s,t) = (c_0)_{C(s,t)}$$
 and  $C(s,t) = (c)_{C(s,t)}$ . (2.2)

If  $\lambda$  is any arbitrary normed or paranormed sequence space, then we call the matrix domain  $\lambda_{C(s,t)}$  as the Cauchy sequence space. We define the sequence  $y = (y_k)$  which will be frequently used, as the C(s,t) – transform of a sequence  $x = (x_k)$  i.e.,

$$y_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} x_k.$$
(2.3)

It can be shown easily that  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_{0}(s,t)$  are linear and normed spaces by the following norm:

$$\|x\|_{C_0(s,t)} = \|C(s,t)\|_{C_{\infty}(s,t)} = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} x_k \right|.$$
(2.4)

**Theorem 2.1.** The sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  are Banach spaces with the norm (2.4).

*Proof.* Let  $(x^p) = (x_0^{(p)}, x_1^{(p)}, x_2^{(p)}, ...)$  be a Cauchy sequence in  $C_{\infty}(s, t)$  for all  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, there exists  $n_0 = n_0(\varepsilon)$  for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  such

that  $||x^p - x^r||_{\infty} < \varepsilon$  for all  $p, r > n_0$ . Hence,  $|C(s,t)(x^p - x^r)| < \varepsilon$  for all  $p, r > n_0$  and for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore,  $(C(s,t)x_k^p) = ((C(s,t)x^0)_k, (C(s,t)x^1)_k, (C(s,t)x^2)_k,...)$  is a Cauchy sequence in the set of complex numbers  $\mathbb{C}$ . Since  $\mathbb{C}$  is complete, it is convergent we write  $\lim_{p\to\infty} (C(s,t)x^p)_k = (C(s,t)x)_k$  and  $\lim_{m\to\infty} (C(s,t)x^m)_k = (C(s,t)x)_k$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, we have  $\lim_{m \to \infty} |C(s,t)x_k^p - x_k^m| = |C(s,t)(x_k^p - x_k) - C(s,t)(x_k^m - x_k)| \le \varepsilon \text{ for all } n \ge n_0. \text{ This implies that } ||x^p - x^m|| \to \infty \text{ for } p, m \to \infty. \text{ Now, we}$ should show that  $x \in C_{\infty}(s,t)$ . We have

$$||x||_{\infty} = ||C(s,t)x||_{\infty} = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{s_{n} + t_{k}} x_{k} \right| = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{s_{n} + t_{k}} (x_{k} - x_{k}^{p} + x_{k}^{p} \right|$$

$$\leq \sup_{n} \left| C(s,t) \left( x_{k}^{p} - x_{k} \right) \right| + \sup_{n} \left| C(s,t) x_{k}^{p} \right| \leq \| x^{p} - x \|_{\infty} + \left| C(s,t) x_{k}^{p} \right| < \infty$$

for  $p, k \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies that  $x = (x_k) \in C_{\infty}(s,t)$ . Thus,  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$  the space is a Banach space with the norm (2.4).

It can be shown that  $C_0(s,t)$  and C(s,t) are closed subspaces of  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$  which leads us to the consequence that the spaces are also the Banach spaces with the norm (2.4). Furthermore, since  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$  is a Banach space with continuous coordinates, i.e.,  $||C(s,t)(x_k^p - x)||_{\infty} \to 0$  imples  $|C(s,t)(x_k^p - x_k)| \to 0$  for all  $k \in N$ , it is also a BK- space.

**Theorem 2.2.** The sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  are linearly isomorphic to the spaces  $l_{\infty}$ , c and  $c_0$  respectively, i.e.,  $C_{\infty}(s,t) \cong l_{\infty}$ ,  $C(s,t) \cong c$  and  $C_0(s,t) \cong c_0$ .

*Proof.* To prove the fact  $C_0(s,t) \cong c_0$ , we should show the existence of a linear bijection between the spaces  $C_0(s,t)$  and  $c_0$ . Consider the transformation *F* defined, with the notation (2.3), from  $C_0(s,t)$  to  $c_0$ . The linearity of *F* is clear. Further, it is trivial that x = 0 whenever Fx = 0 and hence *F* is injective.

Let  $y \in c_0$  and define the sequence  $x = (x_k)$  by  $x_k = \sum_{j=1}^k c_{kj}^{-1} y_j$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Wherein  $c_{kj}^{-1}$  is as defined in (2.1). Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (C(s,t)x)_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n c_{nk} x_k = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} \sum_{j=1}^k c_{kj}^{-1} y_j = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = 0.$$

Thus, we have that  $x \in C_0(s,t)$ . In addition, note that

$$\|x\|_{C_0(s,t)} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{s_n + t_k} \sum_{j=1}^k c_{kj}^{-1} y_j \right| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |y_n| = \|y\|_{c_0} < \infty.$$

Consequently, *F* is surjective and is norm preserving. Hence, *F* is a linear bijection therefore we say that the spaces  $C_0(s,t)$  to  $c_0$  are linearly isomorphic. In the same way, it can be shown that C(s,t) and  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$  are linearly isomorphic to *c* and  $l_{\infty}$ , respectively, and so we omit the detail.

**Theorem 2.3.** The sequence space  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  includes the sequence spaces  $l_{\infty}$ , c and  $c_0$  respectively i.e.  $l_{\infty} \subset C_{\infty}(s,t)$ ,  $c \subset C(s,t)$  and  $c_0 \subset C_0(s,t)$ .

*Proof.* We only prove the conclusion  $l_{\infty} \subset C_{\infty}(s,t)$  and the rest follows in a similar way. Let  $x \in l_{\infty}$ . Then, using (2.3) and (2.4), we obtain that

$$||x|| = ||C(s,t)x||_{\infty} = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{s_{n} + t_{k}} x_{k} \right|$$
  
$$\leq \sup_{n} |x_{k}| \sup_{n} |C(s,t)| = ||x||_{C_{\infty}(s,t)}$$

it means that  $x \in C_{\infty}(s,t)$ .

#### **3.** The basis for the spaces C(s,t) and $C_0(s,t)$

Firstly, let us define the Schauder basis. A sequence  $(b_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in a normed sequence space  $\lambda$  is called a Schauder basis (or briefly basis) [20], if for every  $x \in \lambda$  there is a unique sequence  $(\alpha_n)$  of scalars such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|x - (\alpha_0 x_0 + \alpha_1 x_1 + \ldots + \alpha_n x_n)\| = 0.$$

In this section, we shall give the Schauder basis for the spaces C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$ .

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  be a fixed natural number and  $b^{(k)} = \left\{b_n^{(k)}\right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  where  $b_n^{(k)} = \left[c_{nk}^{-1}\right]_{k=1}^n$ ,  $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ . Wherein  $c_{nk}^{-1}$  is as defined in (2.1). Then the following assertions are true:

*i.* The sequence  $\{b_n^{(k)}\}\$  is a basis for the space  $C_0(s,t)$  and every  $x \in C_0(s,t)$  has a unique representation of the form  $x = \sum_k \lambda_k b^{(k)}$  where  $\lambda_k = (C(s,t)x)_k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . For simplicity, here and thereafter an unlimited sum symbol runs from zero to infinity.

*ii.* The set  $\{e, b^{(0)}, b^{(1)}, \dots, b^{(k)}, \dots\}$  is a basis for the space C(s,t) and every  $x \in C(s,t)$  has a unique representation of the form  $x = le + \sum_k (\lambda_k - l) b^{(k)}$  where  $l = \lim_{k \to \infty} (C(s,t)x)_k$  and  $\lambda_k = (C(s,t)x)_k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

#### **4.** The $\alpha$ -, $\beta$ - and $\gamma$ - Duals of the Spaces $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and $C_0(s,t)$

In this section, we state and prove the theorems determining the  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ - duals of the sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$ . For the sequence spaces  $\lambda$  and  $\mu$ , we define the set  $S(\lambda,\mu)$  by

$$S(\lambda, \mu) = \{z = (z_k) \in w : xz = (x_k z_k) \in \mu \text{ for all } x \in \lambda\}.$$

The  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ - duals of the sequence spaces  $\lambda$ , which are respectively denoted by  $\lambda^{\alpha}$ ,  $\lambda^{\beta}$  and  $\lambda^{\gamma}$  are defined by Garling [21], by  $\lambda^{\alpha} = S(\lambda, l_1)$ ,  $\lambda^{\beta} = S(\lambda, cs)$  and  $\lambda^{\gamma} = S(\lambda, bs)$ . We shall begin with the lemmas due to Stieglitz and Tietz [22], which are needed in the proof of the Theorems 4.4-4.6.

**Lemma 4.1.**  $A \in (c_0 : l_1) = (c : l_1)$  *if and only if, for*  $(\alpha_k) \subset \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\sup_{K\in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k\in K} a_{nk} \right| < \infty$$
(4.1)

**Lemma 4.2.**  $A \in (c_0 : c)$  if and only if

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk}| < \infty \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}a_{nk}=\alpha_k,\ (k\in\mathbb{N}).$$

**Lemma 4.3.**  $A \in (c_0 : l_\infty)$  if and only if (4.2) holds.

In the following theorems, we denote by K and F finite subsets of  $\mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $a = (a_k) \in w$  and define the matrix  $B = (c_{nk}^{-1}a_n)$  for all  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . The  $\alpha$ - dual of the sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  is the set  $D = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_{K \in F} \sum_n \left| \sum_{k \in K} c_{nk}^{-1} a_n \right| < \infty \right\}$ . Wherein  $c_{nk}^{-1}$  is as defined in (2.1) for each  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $a = (a_n) \in w$  and consider the matrix *B* whose rows are the products of the rows of the matrix  $C^{-1}(s,t)$  and sequence  $a = (a_n)$ . Bearing in mind the relation (2.3), we immediately derive that

$$a_n x_n = \sum_{k=1}^n c_{nk}^{-1} a_n y_k = (By)_n, \ (n \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(4.3)

We therefore observe by (4.3) that  $ax = (a_n x_n) \in l_1$  whenever  $x \in C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  if and only if  $By \in l_1$  whenever  $y \in l_{\infty}$ , c, and  $c_0$ . Then, by means of Lemma 4.1, we get  $\sup_{K \in F} \sum_n \left| \sum_{k \in K} c_{nk}^{-1} a_n \right| < \infty$  which yields the consequences that  $\{C_{\infty}(s,t)\}^{\alpha} = \{C(s,t)\}^{\alpha} = \{C_0(s,t)\}^{\alpha} = D.$ 

**Theorem 4.5.** Let us consider the sets  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ ,  $B_3$  and  $B_4$  defined as follows:

$$B_{1} = \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in w : \sup_{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left| \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{jk}^{-1} a_{j} \right| < \infty \right\},$$

$$B_{2} = \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in w : \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} c_{jk}^{-1} a_{j} \text{ exists for each } k \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$

$$B_{3} = \left\{ a = (a_{k}) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left| \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{jk}^{-1} a_{j} \right| = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left| \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{jk}^{-1} a_{j} \right|$$

and

$$B_4 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \sum_{j=k}^n c_{jk}^{-1} a_j \text{ exists} \right\}.$$

Wherein  $c_{jk}^{-1}$  is as defined in (2.1) for each  $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\{C_0(s,t)\}^{\beta} = B_1 \cap B_2, \{C(s,t)\}^{\beta} = B_1 \cap B_2 \cap B_4$  and  $\{C_{\infty}(s,t)\}^{\beta} = B_2 \cap B_3$ .

*Proof.* We only give the proof for the space  $C_0(s,t)$ . Since the proof may give by a similar way for the spaces C(s,t) and  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , we omit others. Consider the equation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k x_k = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{k} c_{kj}^{-1} y_j \right] a_k = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left[ \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{kj}^{-1} a_j \right] y_k = (By)_n,$$

where  $B = (b_{nk})$  is defined by  $b_{nk} = \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{nj}^{-1} a_j$ ,  $(n, k \in \mathbb{N})$ . Thus, we deduce from Lemma 4.2 with (4.2) that  $ax = (a_k x_k) \in cs$  whenever  $x = (x_k \in) C_0(s,t)$  if and only if  $By \in c$  whenever  $y = (y_k) \in c_0$ . Therefore, we observe using relations (4.1) and (4.2), we conclude that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} c_{nk}^{-1}$  exists for each  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{nk}^{-1} \right| < \infty$ . Thus, we obtain  $\{C_0(s,t)\}^{\beta} = B_1 \cap B_2$ .

**Theorem 4.6.** The  $\gamma$ - dual of the sequence spaces  $C_{\infty}(s,t)$ , C(s,t) and  $C_0(s,t)$  is the set  $B_1$ .

*Proof.* This theorem can be proved using the same technique as in the proof of Theorem 4.4 with Lemma 4.3 instead of Lemma 4.2. So, we omit the details.  $\Box$ 

#### 5. Some matrix mappings related to Cauchy sequence spaces

**Lemma 5.1.** [22, p. 57] The matrix mappings between BK- spaces are continuous.

**Lemma 5.2.** [22, p. 128]  $A \in (c : l_p)$  if and only if

$$\sup_{K \in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} a_{nk} \right|^{p} < \infty, \ (1 \le p < \infty)$$
(5.1)

**Theorem 5.3.**  $A \in (C(s,t): l_p)$  if and only if the following conditions are satisfied

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{k=0}^{n}|g_{nk}|<\infty\,,\tag{5.2}$$

 $\lim_{k \to \infty} g_{nk} \text{ exists for all } k \in \mathbb{N},$ (5.3)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} g_{nk} \text{ converges for all } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5.4)

$$\sup_{K \in F} \sum_{n} \left| \sum_{k \in K} g_{nk} \right|^{p} < \infty, (1 \le p < \infty)$$
(5.5)

and

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{k=0}^{n}|g_{nk}|^{p}<\infty,\ (p=\infty)$$
(5.6)

where  $g_{nk} = \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{kj}^{-1} a_{nj}$  and  $c_{kj}^{-1}$  is defined by (2.1).

*Proof.* Let  $1 \le p < +\infty$ . Assume that conditions (5.2)-(5.6) are satisfied and take any  $x \in C(s,t)$ . Then  $(a_{nk}) \in (C(s,t))^{\beta}$  for all  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , which implies that Ax exists. We define the matrix  $G = (g_{nk})$  for all  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, since condition (5.1) is satisfied for the matrix G, we have  $G \in (c : l_p)$ . Now consider the following equality obtained from the s th partial sum of the series  $\sum_k a_{nk} x_k$ :

$$\sum_{k=1}^{s} a_{nk} x_k = \sum_{k=1}^{s} \sum_{j=k}^{s} c_{jk}^{-1} a_{nj} y_k$$

 $(s, n \in \mathbb{N})$ . Therefore, we derive from that as  $s \to \infty$  that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{nk} x_k = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_{nk} y_k \tag{5.7}$$

 $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ . Whence taking  $l_p$  – norm we get

$$||Ax||_{l_p} = ||Gy||_{l_p} < \infty.$$

This means that  $A \in (C(s,t): l_p)$ . Now let  $p = \infty$ . Assume that conditions (5.2)-(5.6) are satisfied and take any  $x \in C(s,t)$ . Then  $(a_{nk}) \in (C(s,t))^{\beta}$  for all  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , which implies that Ax exists. Whence taking  $l_{\infty}$  – norm (5.7)

$$\|Ax\|_{l_{\infty}} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \sum_{k} g_{nk} \right| \le \|y\|_{l_{\infty}} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k} |g_{nk}| < \infty.$$

Then, we have  $A \in (C(s,t): l_{\infty})$ .

Conversely, assume that  $A \in (C(s,t) : l_p)$ . Then, since C(s,t) and  $l_p$  are BK- spaces, it follows from Lemma 5.1 that there exists a real constant K > 0 such that

$$||Ax||_{l_p} = K ||x||_{C(s,t)}$$

for all  $x \in C(s,t)$ . Since inequality **??** also holds for the sequence  $x = (x_k) = \sum_{k \in F} b^{(k)} \in C(s,t)$  where  $b_n^{(k)} = \left[c_{nk}^{-1}\right]_{k=1}^n$ ,  $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ . Wherein  $c_{nk}^{-1}$  is as defined in 2.1. We have  $||Ax||_{l_p} = \left[\sum_n |\sum_{k \in F} g_{nk}|^p\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \le K ||x||_{C(s,t)} = K$  which shows the necessity of 5.5.

(5.8)

(5.10)

**Theorem 5.4.**  $A \in (C(s,t):c)$  if and only if conditions are satisfied

 $g_{nk}$  exists for all  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} |g_{nk}| < \infty \text{ for all } n, k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5.9)

$$\lim_{n} g_{nk} = \alpha_k \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}$$

and

$$\lim_{n} \sum_{k} g_{nk} = \alpha \tag{5.11}$$

where  $g_{nk} = \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{kj}^{-1} a_{nj}$  and  $c_{kj}^{-1}$  is defined by (2.1).

*Proof.* Assume that A satisfies conditions (5.8)-(5.11). Let us take an arbitrary an  $x = (x_k)$  in C(s,t) such that  $x_k \to l$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Then Axexists and it is trivial that the sequence  $y = (y_k)$  associated with the sequence  $x = (x_k)$  by relation (2.3) belongs to c and is such that  $y_k \rightarrow l$ as  $k \to \infty$ . At this stage, it follows from (5.4) and (5.6) that

$$\sum_{i=0}^k |\alpha_i| \le \sup_n \sum_i |g_{ni}| < \infty$$

for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . This yield  $\alpha_k \in l_1$ . Considering  $\sum_k a_{nk} x_k = \sum_k g_{nk} y_k$  we write

$$\sum_{k} a_{nk} x_{k} = \sum_{k} g_{nk} (y_{k} - l) + l \sum_{k} g_{nk} y_{k}$$
(5.12)

In this situation, letting  $n \to \infty$  in (5.6), we establish that the first term on the right-hand side tends to  $\sum_k \alpha_k (y_k - l)$  by (5.3) and (5.4) and the second term tends to  $l\alpha$  by (5.12). Taking these facts into account, we deduce from (5.12) as  $n \to \infty$  that  $(Ax)_n = \sum_k \alpha_k (y_k - l) + l\alpha$ which shows that  $A \in (C(s,t):c)$ .

Conversely, assume that  $A \in (C(s,t):c)$ . Then, since the inclusion  $c \subset l_{\infty}$  holds the necessity of (5.10), (5.12) is immediately obtained from  $\sup_{n}\sum_{k}|b_{nk}| < \infty$ . To prove the necessity of (5.11) consider the sequence  $x = b^{(k)} = \left\{b_{n}^{(k)}\right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in C(s,t) which defined above for every fixed  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since Ax exists and belongs to c for every  $x \in C(s,t)$ , one can easily see that  $Ab^{(k)} = \left\{b_n^{(k)}\right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , which yields the necessity of (5.11). Similarly, by setting x = e in (5.7), we obtain  $Ax = \{\sum_{k} g_{nk}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ , which belongs to the space *c*, and this shows the necessity of (5.12). Where  $g_{nk} = \sum_{j=k}^{n} c_{kj}^{-1} a_{nj}$  and  $c_{kj}^{-1}$  is defined by (2.1). This step concludes the proof. 

#### References

- [1] B. Choudhary, S. Nanda, Functional analysis with applications, Wiley, New Delhi, 1989.
- [2] M. Kirişçi, On the Taylor sequence spaces of non-absolute type which include the spaces c<sub>0</sub> and c, J. Math. Anal., 6(2) (2015) 22-35.
- [3] B. Altay, F. Başar, Some Euler sequence spaces of non-absolute type, Ukrain. Math. J., 57(1) (2005), 1-17.
- [4] B. Altay, F. Başar, M. Mursaleen, On the Euler sequence spaces which include in the spaces  $l_p$  and  $l_{\infty}$ , Inform. Sci., 176(10) (2006), 1450–1462.
- [5] E. Malkowsky, Recent results in the theory of matrix transformations in sequences spaces, Mat. Vesnik, 49 (1997), 187–196.
- [6] P. N. Ng, P. Y. Lee, Cesaro sequences spaces of non-absolute type, Comment. Math. Prace Mat., 20(2) (1978), 429-433.
- [7] C. S. Wang, On Nörlund sequence spaces, Tamkang J. Math., 9 (1978), 269-274.
- [8] M. Candan, Domain of the double sequential band matrix in the spaces of convergent and null sequences, Adv. Dif. Equ., 1 (2014), 163-281.
- [9] M. Candan, Almost convergence and double sequential band matrix, Acta. Math. Sci., 34B(2) (2014), 354-366.
- [10] B. Altay, On the space of p-summable difference sequences of order  $m (1 \le p < \infty)$ , Studia Sci. Math. Hungar., **43**(4) (2006), 387–402.
- [11] B. Altay, F. Başar, Certain topological properties and duals of the matrix domain of a triangle matrix in a sequence space, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 336(1) (2007), 632-645.
- C. Aydın, F. Başar, On the new sequence spaces which include the spaces  $c_0$  and c, Hokkaido Math. J., **33**(2) (2004), 383–398. [12]
- [13] F. Başar, Strongly-conservative sequence-to-series matrix transformations, Erc. Uni. Fen Bil. Derg., 5(12) (1989), 888–893.
- [14] F. Başar, f-conservative matrix sequences, Tamkang J. Math., 22(2) (1991), 205-212.
- [15] F. Başar, E. Malkowsky, B. Altay, Matrix transformations on the matrix domains of triangles in the spaces of strongly C1-summable and bounded sequences, Publ. Math., 73(1-2) (2008), 193–213.
- [16] H. Polat, F. Başar, Some Euler spaces of difference sequences of order m, Acta Math. Sci., 27B(2) (2007), 254–266.
- M. Şengönül, F. Başar, Some new Cesaro sequence spaces of non-absolute type which include the spaces c<sub>0</sub> and c, Soochow J. Math., **31**(1) (2005), Ì171 107–119. [18] P. V. Krishna Raja and at all, A cryptosystem based on Hilbert matrix using Cipher block chaining mode, Int. J. Math. Trends Tech., July to Aug Issue
- 2011. [19] M. Mohammad Tabanjeh, New approach for the inversion of structured matrices via Newton's iteration, Adv. Linear Algebra Matrix Theory, **5** (2015),
- [20] I. J. Maddox, *Elements of functional analysis*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988.
- [21] D. J. H. Garling, The  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  duality of sequence spaces, Proc. Comb. Phil. Soc., **63** (1967), 963-981.
- [22] M. Stieglitz, H. Tietz, Matrixtransformationen von folgenraumen eine ergebnisübersict, Math. Z., 154 (1977), 1-16.
- [23] M. Candan, A new sequence space isomorphic to the space l(p) and compact operators, J. Math. Comput. Sci., 4(2) (2014), 306-334.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.399596



(2.1)

# Multiple Soliton Solutions of Some Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations

#### İbrahim Enam İnan<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Faculty of Education, Fırat University, Elazığ 23119, Turkey \*Corresponding author

**Article Info** 

#### Abstract

Keywords: New coupled Konno-Oono equation, extended (3+1)-dimensional KdV-type equation, Improvedtanh function method, Multiple soliton solutions. 2010 AMS: 00000 Received: 28 February 2018 Accepted: 7 May 2018 Available online: 20 December 2018

In this paper, we implemented an improved tanh function method for multiple soliton solutions of new coupled Konno-Oono equation and extended (3+1)-dimensional KdV-type equation.

#### 1. Introduction

Nonlinear partial differential equations (NPDEs) have an important place in applied mathematics and physics [1], [2]. Many analytical methods have been found in literature [3]-[11]. Besides these methods, there are many methods which reach to solution by using an auxiliary equation. Using these methods, partial differential equations are transformed into ordinary differential equations. These nonlinear partial differential equations are solved with the help of ordinary differential equations. These methods are given in [12]-[39]. We used the improved tanh function method to find the multiple soliton solutions of new coupled Konno-Oono equation and extended (3+1)-dimensional KdV-type equationin this study. This method is presented by Chen and Zhang [15].

#### 2. Analysis of method

Let's introduce the method briefly. Consider a general partial differential equation of two variables,

 $\boldsymbol{\varphi}\left(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}_{t},\boldsymbol{v}_{x},\boldsymbol{v}_{xx},\ldots\right)=0.$ 

and transform equation (2.1) with

 $v(x,t) = v(\emptyset), \ \emptyset = k(x - wt)$ 

where k, w are constants. With this conversion, we obtain a nonlinear ordinary differential equation for  $v(\emptyset)$ 

$$\varphi'(v',v'',v''',\ldots) = 0.$$
 (2.2)

We can express the solution of equation (2.2) as below,

 $v(\varnothing) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_i F^i(\varnothing),$ 

here *n* is a positive integer and is found as the result of balancing the highest order linear term and the highest order nonlinear term found in the equation.

If we write these solutions in equation (2.2), we obtain a system of algebraic equations for  $F(\emptyset)$ ,  $F^2(\emptyset)$ ,..., $F^i(\emptyset)$ , after, if the coefficients of  $F(\emptyset)$ ,  $F^2(\emptyset)$ ,..., $F^i(\emptyset)$  are equal to zero, we can find the  $k, w, a_0, a_1, ..., a_n$  constants. The basic step of the method is to make full use of the Riccati equation satisfying the tanh function and to use  $F(\emptyset)$ , solutions. The Riccati equation required in this method is given below

$$F'(\varnothing) = A + BF(\varnothing) + CF^2(\varnothing)$$

where,  $F'(\emptyset) = \frac{dF(\emptyset)}{d\emptyset}$  and A, B and C are constants. The authors expressed the solutions [15].

Example 2.1. Example 1. We consider the new coupled Konno-Oono equation,

$$v_t + 2uu_x = 0$$

$$u_{xt} - 2uv = 0.$$
 (2.3)

Using the wave variable  $v(x,t) = v(\emptyset)$  and  $u(x,t) = u(\emptyset)$ ,  $\emptyset = k(x - wt)$ , the equation (2.3) turns into an ordinary differential equation,

$$-kwv' + 2kuu' = 0$$

$$-k^2wu'' - 2uv = 0. (2.4)$$

When balancing v' with uu' and u'' with uv then  $n_1 = 1$  and  $n_2 = 2$  gives. The solution is as follows:

$$u = a_0 + a_1 F\left(\varnothing\right)$$

$$v = b_0 + b_1 F(\emptyset) + b_2 F^2(\emptyset)$$
(2.5)

(2.5) are substituted in equations (2.4), a system of algebraic equations for  $k, w, a_0, a_1, b_0, b_1, b_2$  are obtained. The obtained systems of algebraic equations are as follows

$$\begin{split} & 2Aka_0a_1 - Akwb_1 = 0, \\ & 2Bka_0a_1 + 2Aka_1^2 - Bkwb_1 - 2Akwb_2 = 0, \\ & 2Cka_0a_1 + 2Bka_1^2 - Ckwb_1 - 2Bkwb_2 = 0, \\ & 2Cka_1^2 - 2Ckwb_2 = 0 - ABk^2wa_1 - 2a_0b_0 = 0, \\ & -B^2k^2wa_1 - 2ACk^2wa_1 - 2a_1b_0 - 2a_0b_1 = 0, \\ & -3BCk^2wa_1 - 2a_1b_1 - 2a_0b_2 = 0, \end{split}$$

$$-2C^2k^2wa_1 - 2a_1b_2 = 0$$

Solving the above system with the help of Mathematica, the coefficients are found as two cases: Case 1:

$$a_0 = 0, B = 0, b_1 = 0, A \neq 0, b_2 = \frac{Cb_0}{A}, k = \frac{ib_0}{Aa_1}, w = \frac{a_1^2}{b_2}, a_1 \neq 0, b_2 \neq 0.$$

Case 2:

$$a_0 = 0, \ B = 0, \ b_1 = 0, \ A = 0, \ b_2 \neq 0, \ k = \frac{ib_2}{Ca_1}, \ w = \frac{a_1^2}{b_2}, \ b_0 = 0, \ Ca_1 \neq 0.$$

After these procedures, the solutions: **Solution 1:** 

$$u_{1}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Coth\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \pm Cosech\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \right]$$
$$v_{1}(x,t) = b_{0} - b_{0} \left[ Coth\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \pm Cosech\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \right]^{2}$$
$$u_{2}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Tanh\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \pm iSech\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \right]$$

$$v_{2}(x,t) = b_{0} - b_{0} \left[ Tanh\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \pm iSech\left(\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + 2ia_{1}t\right) \right]^{2}$$

Solution 2:

$$u_{3}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Sec \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Tan \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]$$

$$v_{3}(x,t) = b_{0} + b_{0} \left[ Sec \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Tan \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]^{2}$$

$$u_{4}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Cosec \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Cot \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]$$

$$v_{4}(x,t) = b_{0} + b_{0} \left[ Cosec \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Cot \left( \frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x - 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]^{2}$$

$$u_{5}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Sec \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Tan \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]$$

$$v_{5}(x,t) = b_{0} + b_{0} \left[ Sec \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Tan \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]^{2}$$

$$u_{6}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Cosec \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \pm Cot \left( -\frac{2ib_{0}}{a_{1}} x + 2ia_{1}t \right) \right]$$

Solution 3:

$$u_{7}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Tanh\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + ia_{1}t\right) \right]$$
$$v_{7}(x,t) = b_{0} - b_{0} \left[ Tanh\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + ia_{1}t\right) \right]^{2}$$
$$u_{8}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Coth\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + ia_{1}t\right) \right]$$
$$v_{8}(x,t) = b_{0} - b_{0} \left[ Coth\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x + ia_{1}t\right) \right]^{2}$$

Solution 4:

$$u_{9}(x,t) = a_{1} \left[ Tan\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x - ia_{1}t\right) \right]$$
$$v_{9}(x,t) = b_{0} + b_{0} \left[ Tan\left(\frac{ib_{0}}{a_{1}}x - ia_{1}t\right) \right]^{2}$$

Solution 5:

$$u_{10}(x,t) = a_1 \left[ Cot \left( -\frac{ib_0}{a_1} x + ia_1 t \right) \right]$$

$$v_{10}(x,t) = b_0 + b_0 \left[ Cot \left( -\frac{ib_0}{a_1} x + ia_1 t \right) \right]^2$$

Solution 6:

$$u_{11}(x,t) = -\frac{a_1}{\left(\frac{ib_2}{a_1}x - ia_1t\right) + c_0}$$

$$v_{11}(x,t) = b_2 \left( -\frac{1}{\left(\frac{ib_2}{a_1}x - ia_1t\right) + c_0} \right)^2$$

Example 2.2. Now let's get the extended (3+1)-dimensional KdV-type equation,

 $u_t + 6u_x u_y + u_{xxy} + u_{xxxxz} + 60u_x^2 u_z + 10u_{xxx} u_z + 20u_x u_{xxz} + 6u_x u_z + u_{xxz} = 0,$ (2.6)

Using the wave variable  $u(x, y, z, t) = u(\emptyset)$  and,  $\emptyset = k(x + \alpha y + \beta z - wt)$ , the equation (2.6) turns into an ordinary differential equation,

$$-wu' + 6k\alpha(u')^{2} + k^{2}\alpha u''' + k^{4}\beta u^{(5)} + 60k^{2}\beta(u')^{3} + 30k^{3}\beta u'u''' + 6k\beta(u')^{2} + k^{2}\beta u''' = 0,$$
(2.7)

When balancing  $u^{(5)}$  with u'u''' then n = 1 gives. The solution is as follows:

$$u = a_0 + a_1 F(\emptyset) \tag{2.8}$$

If (2.8) is substituted in equation (2.7), a system of algebraic equations for  $k, w, \alpha, \beta, a_0, a_1$  can be obtained. The obtained systems of algebraic equations are as follows

$$-Awa_1 + AB^2k^2\alpha a_1 + 2A^2Ck^2\alpha a_1 + AB^2k^2\beta a_1 + 2A^2Ck^2\beta a_1 + AB^4k^4\beta a_1 + 22A^2B^2Ck^4\beta a_1 + 16A^3C^2k^4\beta a_1 + 6A^2k\alpha a_1^2 + 6A^2k\beta a_1^2 + 30A^2B^2k^3\beta a_1^2 + 60A^3Ck^3\beta a_1^2 + 60A^3k^2\beta a_1^3 = 0,$$

 $-Bwa_1 + B^3k^2\alpha a_1 + 8ABCk^2\alpha a_1 + B^3k^2\beta a_1 + 8ABCk^2\beta a_1 + B^5k^4\beta a_1 + 52AB^3Ck^4\beta a_1 + 136A^2BC^2k^4\beta a_1 + 12ABk\alpha a_1^2 + 12ABk\beta a_1^2 + 60AB^3k^3\beta a_1^2 + 300A^2BCk^3\beta a_1^2 + 180A^2Bk^2\beta a_1^3 = 0,$ 

$$\begin{split} -Cwa_1 + 7B^2Ck^2\alpha a_1 + 8AC^2k^2\alpha a_1 + 7B^2Ck^2\beta a_1 + 8AC^2k^2\beta a_1 + 31B^4Ck^4\beta a_1 + \\ 292AB^2C^2k^4\beta a_1 + 136A^2C^3k^4\beta a_1 + 6B^2k\alpha a_1^2 + 12ACk\alpha a_1^2 + 6B^2k\beta a_1^2 + 12ACk\beta a_1^2 + \\ 30B^4k^3\beta a_1^2 + 480AB^2Ck^3\beta a_1^2 + 300A^2C^2k^3\beta a_1^2 + 180AB^2k^2\beta a_1^3 + 180A^2Ck^2\beta a_1^3 = 0, \end{split}$$

If the system is solved, the coefficients are found as

$$B = 0, \ a_1 = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{C}{A}}, \ a_1 \neq 0, \ A \neq 0, \ k = -\frac{1}{4Aa_1}, \ \alpha = -w, \ \beta \neq 0.$$

with the help of the Mathematica program. After these operations, the solutions of equation (2.6) as follow: *Solution 1:* 

$$u_1(x,t) = \frac{i}{2} \left[ Coth \left( ix - iwy + i\beta z - iwt \right) \pm Cosech \left( ix - iwy + i\beta z - iwt \right) \right]$$

$$u_{2}(x,t) = \frac{i}{2} \left[ Tanh \left( ix - iwy + i\beta z - iwt \right) \pm iSech \left( ix - iwy + i\beta z - iwt \right) \right]$$

Solution 2:

$$u_{3}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Sec \left( -x + wy - \beta z + wt \right) + Tan \left( -x + wy - \beta z + wt \right) \right]$$
(2.9)

$$u_4(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Cosec \left( -x + wy - \beta z + wt \right) - Cot \left( -x + wy - \beta z + wt \right) \right]$$

$$u_{5}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Sec \left( x - wy + \beta z - wt \right) - Tan \left( x - wy + \beta z - wt \right) \right]$$
(2.10)

$$u_{6}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Cosec \left( x - wy + \beta z - wt \right) + Cot \left( x - wy + \beta z - wt \right) \right]$$
(2.11)

Solution 3:

$$u_7(x,t) = \frac{i}{2} \left[ Tanh\left(\frac{i}{2}x - \frac{i}{2}wy + \frac{i}{2}\beta z - \frac{i}{2}wt\right) \right]$$
(2.12)

$$u_8(x,t) = \frac{i}{2} \left[ Coth\left(\frac{i}{2}x - \frac{i}{2}wy + \frac{i}{2}\beta z - \frac{i}{2}wt\right) \right]$$
(2.13)

Solution 4:

$$u_{9}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Tan \left( -\frac{1}{2}x + \frac{1}{2}wy - \frac{1}{2}\beta z + \frac{1}{2}wt \right) \right]$$
(2.14)

Solution 5:

$$u_{10}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ Cot \left( \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{2}wy + \frac{1}{2}\beta z - \frac{1}{2}wt \right) \right]$$
(2.15)

#### 3. Explanations and graphical presentments of some of the solutions obtained

The graphical demonstrations of some obtained solutions are shown in Figures 1-3.



**Figure 3.1:** a)The 3D surfaces of Eq.(2.9)for the values y = 1, z = 0 and w = 5 within the interval  $-5 \le x \le 5$ ,  $-1 \le t \le 1$ . b) The 2D surfaces of Eq.(2.9)for the values y = 1, z = 0, w = 5 and t = 1 within the interval  $-5 \le x \le 5$ .



Figure 3.2: a) The 3D surfaces of Eq.(2.14) for the values y = 1, z = 0 and w = 5 within the interval  $-5 \le x \le 5$ ,  $-1 \le t \le 1$ . b) The 2D surfaces of Eq.(2.14) for the values y = 1, z = 0, w = 5 and t = 1 within the interval $-5 \le x \le 5$ .



Figure 3.3: a)The 3D surfaces of Eq.(2.15) for the values and within the interval b) The 2D surfaces of Eq.(2.15) for the values and within the interval

#### 4. Conclusion

We used the improved tanh function method to find the multiple soliton solutions of new coupled Konno-Oono equation and extended (3+1)-dimensional KdV-type equation. This method has been successfully applied to solve some nonlinear wave equations and can be used to many other nonlinear equations or coupled ones.

#### References

- [1] L. Debtnath, Nonlinear partial differential equations for scientist and engineers, Birkhauser, Boston, MA, 1997.
- [2]
- A. M. Wazwaz, Partial differential equations: methods and applications, Balkema, Rotterdam, 2002.
   Y. Shang, Backlund transformation, Lax pairs and explicit exact solutions for the shallow water wave sequation, Appl. Math. Comput., 187 (2007), [3]
- 1286-1297. T. L. Bock, M. D. Kruskal, A two-parameter Miura transformation of the Benjamin-Onoequation, Phys. Lett. A, **74** (1979), 173-176. [4]
- [5] V. B. Matveev, M. A. Salle, Darboux transformations and solitons, Springer, Berlin, 1991.

- [6] A.M. Abourabia, M. M. El Horbaty, On solitary wave solutions for the two-dimensional nonlinear modified Kortweg-de Vries-Burger equation, Chaos Solitons Fractals, 29 (2006), 354-364.
- W. Malfliet, Solitary wave solutions of nonlinear wave equations, Am. J. Phys., 60 (1992), 650-654.
- Y. Chuntao, A simple transformation for nonlinear waves, Phys. Lett. A, 224 (1996), 77-84 [8]
- [9] F. Cariello, M. Tabor, Painlev eexpansions for nonintegrable evolution equations, Phys. D, 39(1989), 77-94. [10] E. Fan, Two new application of the homogeneous balance method, Phys. Lett. A, 265 (2000), 353-357.
- [11] P. A. Clarkson, New similarity solutions for the modified boussinesq equation, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 22 (1989), 2355-2367.
- W. Malfliet, Solitary wave solutions of nonlinear wave equations, Am. J. Phys., 60 (1992), 650-654. [12]
- [13] E. Fan, Extended tanh-function method and its applications to nonlinear equations, Phys. Lett. A, 277 (2000), 212-218.
- [14] S. A. Elwakil, S. K. El-labany, M. A. Zahran, R. Sabry, Modified extended tanh- function method for solving nonlinear partial differential equations, Phys. Lett. A, 299 (2002), 179-188.
- [15] H. Chen, H. Zhang, New multiple soliton solutions to the general Burgers-Fisher equation and the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation, Chaos Solitons Fractals, 19 (2004), 71-76.
- [16] Z. Fu, S. Liu, Q. Zhao, New Jacobi elliptic function expansion and new periodic solutions of nonlinear wave equations, Phys. Lett. A, 290 (2001), 72-76.
- S. Shen, Z. Pan, A note on the Jacobi elliptic function expansion method, Phys. Let. A, 308 (2003), 143-148 [17]
- [18] H. T. Chen, Z. Hong-Qing, New double periodic and multiple soliton solutions of the generalized (2+1)-dimensional Boussinesq equation, Chaos Solitons Fractals, **20** (2004), 765-769.
- [19] Y. Chen, Q. Wang, B. Li, Jacobi elliptic function rational expansion method with symbolic computation to construct new doubly periodic solutions of nonlinear evolution equations, Z. Naturforsch. A, 59 (2004), 529-536.
- [20] Y. Chen, Z. Yan, The Weierstrass elliptic function expansion method and its applications in nonlinear wave equations, Chaos Solitons Fractals, 29 (2006), 948-964
- [21] M. Wang, X. Li, J. Zhang, The  $\left(\frac{G}{G}\right)$ -expansion method and travelling wave solutions of nonlinear evolutions equations in mathematical physics, Phys. Lett. A, 372 (2008), 417-423.
- [22] S. Guo, Y. Zhou, The extended  $\left(\frac{G'}{G}\right)$ -expansion method and its applications to the Whitham-Broer-Kaup-like equations and coupled Hirota-Satsuma KdV equations, Appl. Math. Comput., 215 (2010), 3214-3221.
- [23] H. L. Lu, X. Q. Liu, L. Niu, A generalized  $\left(\frac{G'}{G}\right)$ -expansion method and its applications to nonlinear evolution equations, Appl. Math. Comput., 215 (2010), 3811-3816.
- [24] L. Li, E. Li, M. Wang, The  $\left(\frac{G'}{G}, \frac{1}{G}\right)$ -expansion method and its application to travelling wave solutions of the Zakharov equations, Appl. Math-A J. Chin. U., 25 (2010), 454-462.
- [25] J. Manafian, Optical soliton solutions for Schrodinger type nonlinear evolution equations by the tan  $\left(\frac{\phi(\varphi)}{2}\right)$  expansion Method, Optik, 127 (2016), 4222-4245
- [26] E. Don, Schaum's outline of Theoryand problems of mathematica, McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [27]
- E. Yasar, New travelling wave solutions to the Ostrovsky equation, Appl. Math. Comput., **216**(11) (2010), 3191-3194. Y. Yildirim, E. Yasar, An extended Korteweg-de Vries equation: multi-soliton solutions and conservation laws, Nonlinear Dynam., **90**(3) (2017), [28] 1571-1579
- [29] E. Yasar, S. San, Y. S. Ozkan, Nonlinear self adjointness, conservation laws and exact solutions of ill-posed Boussinesq equation, Open Phys., 14(1) 2016), 37-43
- [30] W. X. Ma, Y. Zhou, Lump solutions to nonlinear partial differential equations via Hirota bilinear forms, J. Differential Equations, 264(4) (2018),
- 2633-2659. W. X. Ma, T. Huang, Y. Zhang, A multiple exp-function method for nonlinear differential equations and its application, Physica Scr., 82(6) (2010), [31] 065003. M. S. Osman, H. I. Abdel-Gawad, M. A. El Mahdy, *Two-layer-atmospheric blocking in a medium with high nonlinearity and lateral dispersion*, Results
- [32] Phys., 8 (2018), 1054-1060.
- Hamdy I. Abdel-Gawad, M. S. Osman, On the variational approach for analyzing the stability of solutions of evolution equations, Kyungpook Math., [33] 53 (2013), 661-680.
- M. S. Osman, On complex wave solutions governed by the 2D Ginzburg-Landau equation with variable coefficients, Optik, 156 (2018), 169-174.
- [35] M. S. Osman, J. A. T. Machado, D. Baleanu, On nonautonomous complex wave solutions described by the coupled Schrodinger-Boussinesq equation with variable-coefficients, Opt. Quant. Electron, **50** (2018), 73. [36] M. Nasir Ali, M. S. Osman, S. Muhammad Husnine, On the analytical solutions of conformable time-fractional extended Zakharov-Kuznetsov equation
- through  $\left(\frac{G}{G^2}\right)$ -expansion method and the modified Kudryashov method, SeMA Journal, (in Press).
- [37] M. S. Osman, Multiwave solutions of time-fractional (2 + 1)-dimensional Nizhnik-Novikov-Veselov equations, Pramana J. Phys., 88 (2017), 67.
- [38] M. S. Osman, A. Majid Wazwaz, An efficient algorithm to construct multi-soliton rational solutions of the (2+1)-dimensional KdV equation with variable coefficients, Appl. Math. Comput., 321 (2018), 282-289.
- [39] M. S. Osman, On multi-soliton solutions for the (2 + 1)-dimensional breaking soliton equation with variable coefficients in a graded-index waveguide, Comput. Math. Appl., 75 (2018), 1-6.